AT

GULFMARK
OFFSHORE

\WINIDWAIRID

GulfMark 2008 Annual Report




NEY PRES T

=
&
O
5




.k\\s\v\:\ PRy

RERNTS

| Jodow iy 4007 YURIS SIIBI0HIO0 1S 305 01




07

15748 ¥DOLIS ¥O# GILsafdy

2007 SO0T $O0Z  £00Z  7O0Z 1002 0002

JueisigE

A

s

RO

BRIGG

; Y

Yougs pasey

patisgy 2EEOAY

Toaii e

39513 paseg oS o

1 ©

#0072

IR AR TS,

m,i,w‘\,u,,umwvé,%%@a
< 1asj4 paseg vlsy 1svatnos
agEd peseneas o

posiom Aep dad swavy

SPUIHA LA B QI SIREEEA
[Ty
Alinbasispiogam s eio]
399 Wim-BucT

: S1FseieI0)

sy ualidinbs pue

e R e e g

{05633 P FRORY R

Bwodul 35N

R e g s e

3 Bugprrsing s

SR
e

SR
vLg L

B R

S s L e R
{uoisiacad } 1BUSG X1 BUIOL]

s esndas) Siieour B0

ssusdxa 150191

ek e TR

) v_\emunm Buneisdo
L)

£E50E GonEzpiowe pue ucedsdsg

SosuaGNE SAnEnEupE ple jpisian
SUTAXD 131IRYD 1CQBIEY

SstiadxE H0pAIG

35UBKND BURKLEO 331G

GEEOTTE Shiisiay

(Geu3 Pivg Buitnavdo

W02

Soozi i 9002

20025 LTR00E e s qWaRA PIpUHRIA

iy pmiay s00; WIS SEHSIHDIE SVISNURLL




semmeeseeia e
-

s
s

[ BB ol “oss
oz oots
051S

0%
008

S0
087§

08
FO0ES
* 0565
oL Govs
o8 05pS

HBOLS WO

§00Z £007 9002 5007 ¥0OT $00T 00T :00Z 0G0Z 6661 $66! 2007 S00Z §60Z ¥OOT €0DZ I60C 00T 000T 2007 9007 S607  ¥0OOZ €007 7007 (00T 0007 6661

05 S — - o
-5
* : o1
St
o018

008

ool

008 et 0 el
e % £
= = A
RN S VR OREd voilw = wvmwf

= heen S e Sllta
- -

S o

Uy 2007 JAWHIING SHAVED BVIX AL




SR
-

1¥oN/340va1




e

4
o
8
o
I
5
27
&
o

AMERICAS GulfMark




JOEON PG SO0 YAPRIND YISy ISYAH INOs




Gosire

v

STASSIACISVE VISV LSYIHIN0S

2iads pi

BAGED PO,

i papn PR e

s
S aios
: S S
RSO LRI gmm.r,.,m:z,.,@,at@.
S 355
23S K
¥y :
€S N
e
3%
B U Rt
X FRE PR,

$T3SSIN AISVE VIS HLIUON

YOO
i 007,
VS 2
Vi i QR RN AR VA
vas
viE

ROV 0T BN OA

33dAL NOILYDOT ONINEOM




=

&

=

e

L

-

!
pe e
i

s

S
-

=

=

=

1

.v
.

-

-

LSA

TYPE®

THE GULFMARK OFPSHORE FLEET GUlfMark 2008 Arnunl K
WORKING LOCATION

5 - Smalf anchor b

T

SLEGEND:




iy,

P

£
tn‘mé«t‘m

GULFMARK

C

T
H

SHORE, 11

S

OF]

rengnsive avervew of i

.
£
;‘J
:
i
*




8o
Mail Prosessing
Section

AFR 2 3 2008

Washingmn, oc
105

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
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& ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 for the fiscal year ended December 31. 2008
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission fle number 000-22853
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Pt AP RS, Employer Kentification No.}
10111 Richmond Avenus, Suite 340 7042
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Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (713) 963-9522
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b} of the Act:
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to tem 405 of Regulation in S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein. and will not be contained, to the best of the
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‘ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act), Yes O No B
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PART 1
ITEMS 1. and 2. Business and Properties
GENERAL BUSINESS

CulfMark Offshore, Inc. is a Delaware corporation incorporatect in 1996 that, through itself and
its subsldlarles, provides offshore marine services primarily to companles Involved In offshore
exploration and production of oil and natural gas, Unless otherwise indicated, references to

‘we”, *us, “our” and the *Company” refer to GulfMark Offshore, $nc. and its subsidiaries. Our
vessels transport materlals, supplles and personnel to offshore facllitles, 25 well as move and
posttion drilling structures. The majority of our operations are conducted in the North Sea,
offshore Southeast Asia and the Americas, We also contract vessels Into other regions to meet
our customers' fequirements.

We have the following operating segments: the North Sea, Southeast Asia and the Americas.

ur P declslon maker regularly revie i bout each of these

operating segments in deciding how to allocate resources and evaluate our performance.
The business within each of these geographic regions has simsfar economic characteristics,
services, distribution methods and regulatory concerns. All of the operating segments are
considered reportable segments under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ('SFAS™
No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”. For finan-
clal information about our operating segments and geographic areas, see “Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —Segrent Results”
included in Part I, ftem 7, and Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements ncluded in
Part I, item 8.

Our principal executive offices are located at 10111 Richmond Avenue, Suite 340, Houston,
Texas 77042, and our telephone number at that address is (713) 963-9522. We file annwal,

quarterly, and current reports, proxy ] it ion with ities and

Exchange Commission, or SEC. This annual report an Form 10-K for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008 includes as exhibits all required Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 centifications by
our CEO and CFO regarding the quality of our public disclosure, In addition, our CEO certifies

annually to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) that he is not aware of any violation by the

pany of the NYSE {isting standards. Our SEC filings are available

free of charge to the public over the internet on our website at http: ! m

and at the SEC’ website at htep://www.sec.gov. Filings are avallable on our website as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish them to the SEC. You may also
veadt and copy any document we fle a1 the SEC Public Reference Room at the following loca«
tion: 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C, 20549, You may obtaln Information on the operation
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330,

THE COMPANY

Offshore Marine Services Industry Overview

Our customers employ our vessels to provide services supporting the consteuction, posi-
tioning and ongoing operatian of offshore oil and natural gas drilling rigs and platforms and
velated infrastructure, and substantially all of our revenue Is derived from providing these
services. This industry employs varlous types of vessels, referred to broadly as offshore
support vessels, or OSVs, that are used to transport materials, supplies and personnel, and
to move and position drilling structures, Offshore marine service providers are employed by
ol and natural gas companies that are engaged in the offshore exploration and production
of oil and atural gas and related services. Services provided by companics In this industry
are performed in numerous lacations worldwide, The North Sea. offshore Southeast Asia,
offshore West Africa, offshore Middie East, offshore Brazil and the Gulf of Mexico are each
major markets that employ a large number of vessels. Vessel usage is also significant in
other international markets, including offshore India. offshore Australia. offshore Trinidad.
the Persian Gulf and the Mediterranean Sea. The industry is refatively fragmented, with more
than 20 major participants and numerous small regional competitors. We currently operate
a fleet of 95 offshore support vessels in the following regions; 43 vessels in the North Sea,
13 vessels offshore Southeast Asia, and 39 vessels in the Americas, Our fleet is one of the
worlds youngest, largest and most geographically balanced, high specification offshore sup-
port vessal fleets and our owned vessels (excluding speclalty vessels) have an average age
of approximately elght years.

Our business is directly impacted by the level of activity In worldwide offshore ofl and natural
gas exploration, development and production, which in tusn Is influenced by trends In oltand
natural gas prices. Additionally, oll and watural gas prices are affected by a host of geopoiticat

and economic forces, including the fundamental principles of supoly and demand, Although

y prices have remained high by historical standards over the last several years,
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the forecasted near-term worldwide demand for energy decreased during the last several
months of 2008, As a result of this decrease, energy related commodity prices decreased
sharply. Although we did not experlence any significant adverse impact during 2008 that
<an be directly attributable to these conditions. we are evaluating the potential impact of
this anticipated decline in activity to our operations and to our financial condition. Nothing
we have encountered thus far in our ongoing evaluation of current and anticipated near-tem
market conditions has caused us to change our existing capital expenditure plans or change
our assessment of our financlal condition, but we continue to evaluate market conditions.
and those plans and assessments are subject to change.

Each of the major geographic offshore oil and natural gas production regions has urique

thatinfluence thy lcs of expls and production and, consequently,
the market demand for vessels in support of these activities. While there is some vessel
interchangeability between geographic regions, barriers such as mobilization costs, vessel
suitability and cabotage restrict migration of some vessels between reglons, This is most
notably the case in the North Sea, where vessel design requirements dictated by the harsh
operating environment restrict relocation of vessels Into that market. Conversely, these same
design characteristics make North Sea capable vessels unsuitable for other areas where draft
restrictions and, to a lesser degree, higher operating costs, restrict migration, These restric-

tions on vessel movement In effect separate various regions into distinct markets.

WORLDWIDE FLEET

The size of our fleet has increased by 34 since December 31, 2007 to 95 vessels, principally
a5 a result of the addition of 22 vessels from the acquisition of Rigdon Marine Corporation
and Rigdon Marine Holdings, L.L.C. (collectively, “Rigdon™ on july 1. 2008 (the “Rigdon Ac-
Quisition"), but also due to the addition of 10 managed vessels and our fleet upgrade and
modernization initiative, That initiative resulted in the addition of seven new build vessels
to the fleet, enhancing our capability 1o service customers in more demanding eavironments
around the world. We also sold five of our older, smaller vessels whose age averaged over
25 years to buyers generally outside of our normal market.

We also manage a number of vessels for third-party owners, providing support services
ranging from chartering assistance to full operational management. Although these managed
vessels provide limited direct financiat contribution, the added market presence can provide

a competitive advantage for the manager. The following table summarizes the overall fleet

Culfstork 2008 Annual Report 1/ 2

changes since December 31, 2007:

December 31, 2007 14 &1
New Bulld Program - 6

Vessel Additions: 22 10 32:
Vessel Sales 5 = ®
December 31, 2008 20 2 N
New Build Program 1 = 1
Fabruary 26, 2009, n 24 £

Vesse] Classifications

Offshore support vessels generally fall into seven functional classifications derived from

their primary o perating istics or ilities. However, these clas-
sifications are ot rigid, and it is not unusual for a vessel to fit into more than one of the

categories. These functional classifications are:

= Anchor Handiing, Towing and Support Vessels (AHTSs) are used to set anchors for drilling
rigs and to tow mobile drilling rigs and equipment from one location to another. In ad-
dition, these vessels typically can be used In supply roles when they are not performing
anchor handling and towing services. They are characterized by shorter after decks and
special equipment such as towing winches, Vessels of this type with less than 10,000
‘brake horsepower, or BHP, are referred to as small AHTSs (SmAHTS) while AHTSs in excess
of 10,000 BHP are referred to as large AHTSs, (LGAHTSS). The most powesful North Sea
class AHTSs have upwards of 25,000 BHP. All our AHTSs can also function as PSVs.

Platform Support Vessels (PSVs) serve drilling and production facilities and support off-

shore and work. They are from other offshore

support vessels by their cargo handling capabilities, particularly their large capacity and

ize space on deck and below deck and are used to transport supplies
such as fuel, water, drilling fluids, equipment and provisions. PSVs range in size from
150 to 200", Large PSVs (LgPSVs) range up to 300" in length, with a few vessets some-
what farger, and are particularly sulted for supporting large concentrations of offshore
production locations because of their large, clear after deck and below deck capacities.
The majority of the LgPSVs we operate function primarily in this classification but are

also capable of servicing construction support.

Fast Supply or Crew Vessels (FSVs/Crewboat), transport personnel and cargo to and from production platforms and rigs. Older crewboats (early 1980s build) are typically 100 to 120" in length,
and are designed for speed and 10 transport personnel, Newer crewboat designs are generally larger, 130" to 185" in length, and can be longer with greater cargo carrying capacities. Vessels in

the larger category are also called fast support vessels, (FSVs). They are used primarlly to transport cargo on a time-sensitive ba sis.

Swecialty Vessefs (SpVs) generally have special features to meet the requirements of specific jobs. The special features can inclucle large deck spaces, high electrical generating capacities, slow
controlled speed and varied propulsion thruster configurations, extra berthing facilities and long-range capabilities. These vessells are primarily used to support floating production storing and
offloading (FPSOs); diving operations; remotely operated vehlcles (ROVs); survey operatlons and seismic data gathering; as well as oll recovery, oll splll response and weli stimulation. Some of
our owned vessels frequently provide specialty functions.

Standby Rescue Vessels (Stby) perform a safety patrol function for an area and are required for alf manned locations in the Northy Sea and in some other locations where olf exploltatlon occurs.
These vessels typically remain on station to provide a safety backup to offshore rigs and production facilities and carry special equipment to rescue personnel, They are equipped to provide

first aid. shelter and, in some cases, function as support vessels,

Constructton Support Vessels are vessels such as plpe-aying barges, diving support vessels or specially designed vessels, such s pipe carrlers, used to transpart the large cargos of material

and supplies required to support the construction and installation of offshore platforms and pipelines. A large number of our Lg PSVs also function as pipe carriers.

Utility Vessels are typically 90 to 150" in length and are used to provide limited crew transportation, some transportation of ofl field support equipment and, in some locations, standby func-

tions. We do not curreruly operate any vessels in this category.

The following table sets forth our owned vessel fleet by classification and by region:

Owned Vessels by Classification

AHTS PSV FSV/Crewboat
Reglon - ANTS L SmAMTS ‘Lgpsv sV sv " Crew - _SpV . Standby " Total
North Sea (N. Sea) 3 bl 20 - —_ _— 1 2 26
Southeast Asla (SEA) : 4 4 2 1 - - - - T
Americas 4 — 3 20 4 2 1 o 34
11 4 25 21 2 4 2 2 71
New Vessel Construction, A isition and D Prog , and Drydocki s

The fallowing table illustrates the expected delivery timeline of our current commitments for the 11 new build vessels currently Lander construction:

“urrently Under Construction

Expected Cost

Vessel Region Type Expected Delivery Length (feet) BHP owTw
(millions)
Aker 726 N. Sea PSV Q4 2009 284 10,600 4,850 345.4
Aker 727 LN Sea psV Q237010 284 10,600 - 4850" Ll sesa
Sea Cherokee SEA AHTS Q) 2009 250 10.700 2,700 $24.5
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Vessels Currently Under Construction

Expected Cost

el Additions Since December 31, 2007

‘Month
Vessel Region Type Year Bullt Length (feet) BHP DWT
Delivered

‘Sea Apache SEA 3 AHTS 2008 250" 10,700, C 2,700 Jan-08
Sea Kiowa SEA AHTS 2008 250 10,700 2,700 Mar-08
Sea Choctaw Tsea AR 2008 .. 250 10,700 2,700 1l-08
Knockout Americas PSV 2008 190 3.894 1,860 Aug-08
Mbacore - Americas; Crew 2008 165 7,200 31 Aug-08
Mako Americas FSV 2008 181 7,200 543 Oct-08
Swordfish Americas- . | Crew 2009 176, '7.200 314 Feb-09

Vessel Region Type Expected Delivery Length (feet) BHP DWT®
(milllons)
Sea Comanche: SEA AHTS, @ ZW?‘ 250 10,700 2,700 ’ $24.4
Blacktip Americas FSV Q2 2009 181 7,200 543 $9.2¢
nger " Americas v Q32009 181 2,200 543 $o.200
Bender | America PV Q1 2010 245 5.380 3.000 $25.5
Bendir 2. U Americas psv . Q22010 245 5,380 3,000 s25.
Bender 3 Americas PSV Q3 2010 245 5,380 3,000 $25.5
Remontown 20 TED AHTS Q2000 230 10,600 2150 $26.9
Remontowa 21 TeD AHTS Q3 2010 230 10,000 2,150 $26.9

(1} The estimated cost does not represent the actual construction costs, but incluges our purchase price altocation plus alf construction costs payable after
the closing of the Rigdon Acquisition,
) Deadweight tons

Vessel Construction and Acquisitions
During the perlod 2000-2006, we added 15 new vessels to the fleet as part of our long-range growth strategy — nine in the North Sea, three in the Americas and three in Southeast Asla. In con-

tinuatien of our growth strategy. we committed in 2005 to build six new 10,600 BHP AHTS vessels for a total cost of approximately $140 million. The vesse!s are of a new design we developed in

conjuncion with the builder that i Dynamic Positioning 2 (OP-2) and Fire Fighting Class 1 (Fifi-1), and a refatively large carrying capacity of approximately 2,700 tons. Kep-
pel Singmarine Pte, Ltd, is building these vessels primarily to meet the growing demand of our customer base offshore Southeast Asia, Four of these vessels have been delivered to date beginning
with the Sea Cheyenne in October 2007, the Sea Apache in January 2008, the Sea Kiowa in March 2008, and the Sea Choctaw in July 2008. The final two vessels in this group are scheduled
for delivery in the first half of 2009. As a complement to these six new vessels, during 2006 we took delivery of two new construction vessels, the Sea Guardian and the Sea Sovereign. Also
during 2006, we exercised a right of first refusal granted under the Sea Sovereign purchase contract for an additional vessel, the Sea Supporter . which was delivered in October 2007,

We also agreed to participate in a joint venture with Aker Yards ASA for the consteuction of two large PSVs, one of which, the Highiand Prestige , was delivered carly in the second quarter of
2007 and immediately went to work in the North Sea region on a term contract, The second vessel. the North Promise , was delivered at the end of the third quarter 2007, At the end of 2005,
we purchased 100% of the Highland Prestige from the joint venture, and during the second quarter of 2007 we purchased 100% of the North Promise . Additionally. during the first quarter of
2007, we committed to build two new PSVs, similar to the design of the North Promise and Hightand Prestige but with a double hull and various environmental enhancements. Aker Yards ASA
will build these vessels at a combined cost of approximately S3) million. with estimated defivery dates in late 2009 and the first half of 2010,

In the third quarter of 2007, we entered into agreements with two shipyards to construct five additional vessels. Bender Shipbuilding & Repair Co.. Inc.. a Mobile, Alabama based company, was
contracted to build three PSVs and Gdansk Shiprepair Yard "Remontowa" SA, a Polish company, was contracted to build two AHTS vessels. The estimated total cost of the five vessels is $130 mil-
lion, These vessels are scheduled to be delivered throughout 2010,

in connectlon with the Rigdon Acqulsltion In 2008, we acquired construction contracts for six vessels: one PSV; three FSVs; and two crew boats, The Knockout PSV, Albacore crew hoat and
Mako F5V defivered in 2008 and the Swordfish crew boat delivered in early 2009, The last 2 FSVs are scheduled for delivery in the second quarter of 2009, The total of the remaining construction
payments on the vessels in the Rigdon new build program that have vet to be defivered is approximately $5.0 million.

Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction of vessels. During 2008 and 2007, $8.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively, was capitafized,

idork 2008 Arnugl Report 71 4

Foreign Currency Contracts Related to Construction Contracts

When applicable, we enter into forward currency contracts to minimize our foreign currency exchange fisk related to the construction of new vessels. In 2005, we entered into a forward contract
related 10 the construction of the Highland Prestige . The contract expired on March |4, 2007 and upon settlement, the positive foreign currency change of $0.9 million resulting from the change in
the fair value of the hedge was reflected as a reduction to the overall construction cost of the vessel. During 2007, we entered into a series of forward currency contracts relative to future milestone
payments for the constructlon of the six Keppel vessels and the two Aker Yards vessels, As of December 31. 2008, the positive foreign currency change on the remalning forward contracts was

$7.8 million. The forward contracts are designated as fair value hedges and deemed highly effective with the foreign currency change reflected in the overall construction cost of the vessels.

Yessel Divestitures

Our strategy is to sell older vessels in our fleat when the appropriate opportunity arises. Consistent with this strategy, in January 2007, we sold the Narth Prince , one of our oldest North Sea
based vessels, The proceeds from this sale were §5.7 million, and we recognized a gain on the sale of 5.0 million. During the course of 2007, we also completed the sale of three small 1981-built
AHTS vessels based in Southeast Asia for net proceeds totafing $10.1 million, recognizing a gain of $7.2 million, In the second quarter of 2008, we completed the sale of two pre-1985 AHTS ves-
sels, the Sea Diligent and North Crusader , generating sales proceeds of $21.0 million and a gain of $16.4 million. Additionally. in the third quarter of 2008, we sold the Sem Valiant and the
Sea Eagle, each older Southeast Asia based AHTS vessels, for proceeds of $2.9 million recognizing a gain of 52,3 million. In the fourth quarter of 2008 the North Fortune, a PSV built in 1983,

was sold for 19,0 million, generating a gain of $16.1 million.

December 31. 20

Vessel Reglon Type Year Bullt Length (feet) BHP Month Sold
‘Sea Dilljent SEA” ' $mAHTS T e 4610 Jun08
North Crusader N. Sea AHTS 1984 236 12.000 Jun-08
Sem Valignt SEAL 0 SMAHTS 1981 Vo1 3900 Jul-08
Sea Eagle SEA SMAHTS 1976 185 3,850 Sep-08
‘North Fortuni N.Sea, Lgpsv. 1983 " Z6a 6120, Oct:08
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Owned

essel

of Our Vessels and ing Obligation:
In addition o vepairs, we are required to make tures for the centification and mai of our vessels, and th tures typically increase with age. Our vessel . Reglon Type @) Year Sull Length (feet e owT @ flag
Highidnd Guide SEA Lgbsv 1989 By 113 B 2,800 Panama
for 2008 were $11 million. We anticipate approximately $19 million in drydocking expenditures in 2009, .,
Highland Legend SEA PSV 1986 194 3.600 1,442 Panama
Hightard Drmimer 3 SEA T 1997 221 5.450. 3.5 Panama
Vessel Listing Sea Apache SEA AMTS 2008 250 10700 2,700 panama
Currently, we operate a fleet of 95 vessels. Of these vessels, 71 are owned by us (see table below) and 24 are under management for other owners, Seas Cheyenne.. L eea AMTS 2007 g 250 10,700 2,700 Panama
Sea Guardian SEA SmAHTS 2006 191 5,150 1,500 fanama
Our sel 1lont Sea tatvepld SEA : SMANTS, " 2008 191 5,150 1,500 Panama
Vessel Reglon DWT (© Flag Sea Searcher SEA SMAHTS 1976 185 3,850 1215 Panama
Hightand Bugler N, Sea 3115 UK Sea Sovereign SEA". SMAHTS, 2008 230 5,500 1,800 Panama
Hightand Champion N, Sea 1979 268 ; 4,800 T3910 UK Sea Supporter SEA AHTS. 2007 225 7,954 2,360 Panama
Highland Citadel N. Sea 2003 236 5,450 3,200 UK Sea Choctaw SEA AHTS 2008 250 10700 2,500 Panama
‘Hightand Edigie N.Sea 2003 . Tamen U sasen 3,200 UK
Highland Fortress N.Sea 2001 236 5,450 3,200 UK Austral Abrothos(d) Americas; i ANTS 2004 B 215 7,100 . Brazll -
Hightand Monarch: N.Sed 2003 - v T e 318 UK Highland Scout Americas LgPsV 1999 218 4,640 Panama
Highland Navigator N. Sea 2002 275 9,600 4,250 Panama Highland Piper Amerlcas LgPsV = o 1996 21 5.450 Panama -
Hightand Pioneer. . Nisea 1983 ) 28 SSA00 2,506 UK Highland Warrior Americas LgPSV 1981 265 5.300 Panama
Highland Prestige N. Sea 2007 284 10,000 4.350 uk Sea Kiow, Americas SR AT 2008 250 10,760 Panama
Hightand Pride N. Sea 1992 285 = 6,600 3,080 UK: Seapower Americas Spv 1974 222 7,040 Panama
Highland Rover(d) N.Sea 1998 236 5,450 3,200 Panama Coloso Amerlcal ATS 2005 199 5.916 Mexico
Hightand star L NS Yoof L ggg R 3075 s Titan Americas AHTS 2005 199 5916 Mexico
North Chalenger N.Sea 1997 221 5.450 3115 Norway Orlsansif) Amercas.. Pevis 2008 210 N USA
Novth Mariner L i G 2008 Ui e 5660 4400" Norway Bourbon(f) Americas Psv 2004 210 6.342 UsA
North Promise N, Sea 2007 284 10.000 4,850 Norway Royalf) Americas, sV 2004 210 6.342 UsA
North Stream. : N.sea 1098 a7 98007 i iAsss Norway: Chartres(f) Americas psv 2004 210 6.342 usA
North Traveller N, Sea 1998 221 5.450 3015 Norway thervitie) . Amerigas v 2004 210 6342 UsA
Novth Truck LR S Jo88 266 6120 3570 : Noway Blenville(f) Americas Py 2005 210 6.342 UsA
North Vanguard N.Sea 1990 265 6.600 4,000 Norway oM 0 L Aereas, : psv 2005 2107 6,342 usA
Hightand Traderte) " Nisen 1696 21 5450 L3018 UK St Louist Americas psv 2005 20 6.342 USA
Highland Courage N. Sea 2002 260 16320 2,750 UK Toulouself: A N T A0S 20 : 6,342 UsA
Hightind Valour NSea 2003 260 16326 2750 0K 1 Esplanade(f) Americas v 2005 210 6342 USA
Highland Endurance N, Sea 2003 260 16.320 2750 " Firgt and Tent) ; Ameticas o5V 2607 190 3,894 UsA
Cluyd Supporter - N, séa 984 L ek 10,760, 1,350 UK Double Eagle(f) Americas Psv 2007 190 3.804 UsA
Hightand Spirit N. Sea 1908 202 6000 1,800 UK Triple play(f) : T Americas psv. L2007 190 3 3894 usA
Hightand Sprite o sea 1986 el “3s90 g 1442 " i Grand Stam(p) Amerlcas SV 2007 190 3,894 usa
. . . : ‘Stam Dink(f):. Americas SV 2008 190 03,894 ‘usA
Touchdown(p) Americas psv 2008 190 3,894 UsA
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essel Fleet

Vessel Reglon Type (a) Year Bullt Length (feet) BHP (b) DWT ()

Hat THekf) SR Amerdeas SV 2008 190 3,804 . 1:860°

Slap Shot(f) Americas PSV 2008 190 3,894 1,860

Homerun() Americas PSY 2008 190 3894 1,860

Knockout(g) Americas PSv 2008 190 3894 1,860

“Salifishep) . - S Americas Crew 2008 176 7200 314

Hammerhead(f) Americas 2% 2008 181 7,200 543

Bliafintp’ ‘Americas Crew 2008 165 7,200 314

Albacore(g) Americas Crew 2008 165 7.200 314

Makolg) Anericas BV 2008 1 7,200 543

Swordfish(g) Americas Crew 2009 176 7,200 314

@ Legend:

LgPSV — Large platform supply vessel

PSY — Platfarm supply vessel

AHTS — Anchor handling, towing and supply vessel

SMAHTS — Small anchor handling, towing and supply vessel
SpV — Specialty vessel, including towing and ol spill response
FSV — Fast Supply Vessel

Crew ~ Crewboats

) Broke horsepower.

0 Deadwelght tons.

@ The Austral Abrolhos is subject to an annual right of its charterer 1o purchase the vessel during the term of the charter, which commenced May 2. 2003 and.
subject to the charterer’s right to extend, terminates May 2, 2016, at a purchase price in the first year of approximately $26.8 million declining to an adjusted
purchase price of approximately $12.9 million in the thirteenth year.

The Highland Rover is sublect 1o a purchase option on the part of the charterer. pursuant to terms of an amendment to the original charter which was executed
in late 2007 and amended in 2008, The charterer may purchase the vessel based on a stipulated formula on each of April 1, 2010; October 1, 2012; April 1,
2015; and October 1. 2016 provided 120 days notice has been given by the charterer,

(&) The Highland Trader was formerly named Safe Truck,

0 Denotes the 22 completed vessels acquired as part of the Rigdon Acquisition

(@) Denotes the four vessels from the Rigdon new build program that have been delivered subsequent to the closing of the Rigdon Acquisition.

The table above does not include the 24 managed vessels.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

The North Sea Operating Segment

Managed Total Fleet

Docamber 31,2007 [ e RN 225 14 43
New Build Program - - -
Vessel Additions - 3 3
Vessel Sales @ - @
Intersegrnent Transfers : ay = ik}

December 31, 2008 26 17 43

Market and Segment Overview

We define the North Sea market as offshore Norway, Denmark, the Netherlands, Germany, Great Sritain and Ireland, the Norwegian Sea and the area West of Shetlands. Historically. this has been the
most demanding of alt exploration frontiers due to harsh weather, erratic sea conditions, significant water depth and long sailing distances. Exploration and production operators in the North Sea
market have typically been large and weli-capitalized entities (such as major oil and natural gas companies and state-owned ofl and natural gas companies) in large part because of the sigalficant
financial commitment requeired in this market. A number of independent operators have established operating bases in the region in the last several years, thus diversifying the customer base.
Projects in the North Sea tend to be fewer in number but larger in scope, with longer planning horizons than projects in regions with less demanding envirosments. Duc to these factors, vesset
demand in the North Sea has historically been more stable and less susceptible to abrupt swings than vessel demand in other regions.

The North Sea market can be broadly divided into three service segments: exploration support: production platform support; and field development and construction iwhich includes subsea
services), The exploration support services market represents the primary demand for AHTSs and has historically been the most volatile segment of the North Sea market, While PSVs support the
exploration segment, they also support the production and field construction segments, which generally are not affected as much by the volatility in demand for the AHTSs. Our North Sea-based
flect is oriented toward support vessels that work in the more stable segments of the market: production platform support and field development and construction.

Unfess deployed to one of our operating segments under longrterm contract, vessefs based in the North Sea but operating temporarily out of the region are included in our North Sea operating
segment statistics, and all vessels based out of the region are supported through our onshore bases in Aberdeen, Scotland and Sandnes, Norway. The region typically has weaker periods of de-
mand for vessels in the winter months of December through February primarity due to lower construction activity and harsh weather conditions affecting the movement of drilling figs. In 2008,

we transferted the Highland Piper o the Americas reglon to work in Brazl.

Market Development

Future visibility with regard to vessel demand is directly related to drifing and development activities in the region. construction work required in support of these activities, as well as demands
outside of the region that draw vessels to other international markets. Geopoliticat events, the demand for oll and natural gas In both mature and emerging countries and a host of other factars
willinfluence the expenditures of both independent and major oil and gas companies.

The North Sea market was a very stable market from the early 1990s through late 2001 and during that time the market was dominated by major oil companies. Beginning in late 2000, as com-

modity prices and Increased drilling activity resulted in improved vessel utilizatlon and day rates, the Industry began a capital expansion cycle that resulted in a significant increase to the number
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of new vessels scheduled to enter the market, However, and activity in the regic it a reduction beginning in 2001 and. because the supply of vessels increased
as a result of the expansion cycle, day rates and utilization decreased significantly in 2003 and most of 2004,

There was also a transformation In the customer base in the reglon that began in 2003 as the major ofl and natural gas companies disposed of prospects and mature producing properties in
the North Sea to independent oil and natural gas companies, The Independent companies typically had smaller capital expenditure budgets and shorter horizons that resulted in a decline in the
number of long-term contracts and a corresponding increase in the number of vessels working in the spot market.

Starting in late 2004 and continuing through early 2008, there was an increase in the number of large projects and long-term charters resulting from new reserve discoveries, an opening of
portions of the Barents Sea to exploration activities by the Norwegian government, and a significant improvement in industry fundamentals. Since mid 2008, the outlook for the global economy
has become negative and worldwide encrgy demand forecasts have been reduced. These factors did not result in a noticeable decrease In activity during 2008 but could have a negative Impact

on future demand for vessel services.

The Asia O

imed Ve:

New Bulld Program 3 -
Vassal Additions = S : 2
Vessel Sales ® -
Intersegment Transters : w - E

L]
&

Dacember 31, 2008

I
I

Market and Segment Overview
The Southeast Asia market is defined as offshore Asia bounded roughly on the west by the Indian subcontinent and on the north by China. This market includes offshore Brunei, Cambodia,
indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam. The design requirements for vessels in this market are generally similar to the requirements of the shallow water
Gulf of Mexico, However, advanced exploration technology and rapid growth in energy demand among many Pacific Rim countries have fed to more remore drilling locations, which has increased
both the overall demand and the technical requirements for vessels. All vessels based out of the region are supported through our onshore base in Singapore.
Southeast Asia’s Is broadly by a large number of small companies, In contrast to many of the other major offshore exploration and production areas of the

world, where a few large operators dominate the market. Affiliations with local companies are generally necessary to maintain a viable marketing presence, Our management has been involved
in the region since the mid-1970s and we currently maintain long-standing business relationships with a number of local companies.

The expansion of our operations in Southeast Asia, along with evolving tax laws, have caused us to reevaluate our corporate structure in the region. in 2008 we implemented a strategic reorga-
nization of our Southeast Asia operations in order to maximize our benefits, including those available under the various tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate. During the third quaster

of 2008, the Sea Kiowa was transferred to the Americas region to work in Brazil,
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Market Development

Vessels in this market are often smaller than those operating in areas such as the North Sea. However, the varying weather conditions, annua monsoons and long distances between supply cens
ters in Southeast Asia have allowed for a varlety of vessel designs to compete in this market, each suited for a particular set of operating parameters. Vessels deslgned for the Gulf of Mexico and
other areas where effectively moderate weather conditions prevail have historically made up the bulk of the vessels in the Southeast Asia market, Demand for larger. newer and higher specifica-
tion vessels has developed in the region where deepwater projects occur or where oil and natural gas companies employ larger fleets of vessels. This development led us to mobilize a North Sea
vessel into this reglon during 2002, another one during 2004 and a third during 2007 to meet the changing market in the reglon, as these North Sea vessels are farger than the typical vessels of
the region. During the last five years we sold |0 of our older vessels serving Southeast Asia and have taken delivery of eight new vessels. We have two additlonal vessels being built in this region
that are scheduled to be delivered in 2009,

Changes in supply and demand dynamics have led, at times, to an excess number of vessels in other geographic markets, It is possible that vessels currently located in the Arabian/Persian Gulf
area, Africa or the Gulf of Mexico could refocate to the Southeast Asia market: however. not all vessels currently located in those regions would be able to operate in Southeast Asia and oil and

natural gas operators In this region are continuing to demand newer, higher specification vessets,

The Americas Operating Segment

December 31, 2007 5
Neéw Billd Prograrn - - 3.
Vessel Additions 5 27

K
3
22
Vessef Safes” o
Intersegment Transfers 2
December 31,2008 : B

£

34

New Build Program

February 26, 2008

Market and Segment Overview

We define the Americas market as offshore North, Central and South America, specifically Including the United States, Mexico, Trinidad and Brazil. Our Americas based fleet now includes 39 vessels.
The increase in vessels in this market since December 31, 2007, Is due in large part to the Rigdon Acquisition, in which we acquired 22 U.S. flagged vessels and one managed vessel, a substantial
majority of which operate in the decpwater Gulf of Mexico. In addition to the Rigdon Acquisition, we transferred to Brazil one vessel from the North Sea and one vessel from Southeast Asia and
entered Into a vessel management agreement in the second quarter of 2008 to manage four vessels in the Gulf of Mexico. These additional vessels have allowed us to establish and organize a
significant position in the Gulf of Mexico market with a focus on the growing deepwater segment. All vessels based in the Americas are supported from our onshore bases in Covington, St. Rose
and Youngsville, Loulstana, Macaé, Brazil and Paraiso, Mexico.

Drilling in the Gulf of Mexico can be divided inte two sectors: the shallow waters of the continental shelf and the deepwater areas of the Gulf of Mexico. Deepwater drilling is generally considered
to be in water depths in excess of 1,000 feet. The continental shelf has been explored since the late 19405 and the existing infrastructure and knowledge of this sector allows for incremental

drifling costs to be on the lower end of the range of worldwide offshore drilling costs. A resurgence of deepwater drilling began in the 19905 as advances in technology made this type of drilling

1Y /7 GuifMark 2008 Annuai Report



economically feasible. Deepwater drilling is on the higher end of the cost range, and the
substantial costs and long lead times required in this type of drilling make it less susceptible
ta short-term fluctuations In the price of crude oil and natural gas. Although the activity
tevel of deepwater drilling is increasing and has traditionally been less velatile than those of
the continental shelf, the majority of drilling in the Gulf of Mexico is stifl on the continental
shelf making the Gulf of Mexico, as a whole, relatively volatile, The Gulf of Mexico is a highly
‘competitive environment, and variations in the prices of crude oil and natural gas have fed
to substantial shifts In demand and vessel pricing. We presently expect our activity in the
Gulf of Mexico 1o shift towards deepwater drilling and other aspects of the Gulf of Mexico
market where modern DP-2 vessels are required.

The jones Act generally requires that alf vessels engaged in coastwise trade in the U.S,
(which includes vessels servicing rigs and platforms in U.S. waters within the Exclusive
Economlc Zone), must be owned and managed by U.S. cltizens, and be bullt in and regis-

tered under the laws of the United States. For more information see “Other—Covernment

and Regulati ions” in our “Business and Properties”
tncluded In this Part { ltems 1 and 2.

The Brazilian government presently permits private investment in the petroleum business.

and the carly bid rounds for certain offshore tesulted In extensi
by major international oil companies and consortia of independents, many of whom have
explored and are likely to continue to explore the offshore blocks awarded in the lease sales.

This has created, to some extent, a demand for deepwater AHTSs and #SVs In support of the

drilling and exploration activities that has been met primarily from mobilization of vessels
from other regions. In 2008, we transferred the Highland Piper from the North Sea. and the

Sea Kiowa from Southeast Asia to the Americas region to work in Brazil under term contracts.

1n addition, Petrobras, the Brazilian national oil company, continues to expand operations
and has recently announced the discovery of several very farge reservoirs. This expansion
has created, and could continite to create, additional demand for offshore support vessels.

‘We have been active in bidding Brazil's new offshore support vessel opportunitics.

Market Development

Currently, we operate six vessels In 8razil, Including the Brazilian built vessel Austral
Abrothos. We have three PSVs. two AHTSs and an SPV operating in the region under contracts
of varying lengths, the earliest of which began in 1990 and the most recent on a multi-year

contract in the third quarter of 2008,
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Since 2005, we have operated two AHTS vessels offshore Mexico on five-year primary-
term contracts with Pemex, which contracts expire in February 2010, Mexico could be a
potentially large market for expanded deepwater activity, provided the government can
develop a methodology for operations with non-Mexican international oil companies that
works within its constitutional constraints,

In Trinidad, we are supporting a significant drifling campaign for an international operator

with three PSVs, Given licensis d ion activity in nearby ns, including
Suriname and Guyana, we could see vessel support requirements operating from a Trinidad

base for the foreseeable future,

Seasonality

Operations In the North Sea are generally at theis highest levels during the months from
Aprit to August and at their lowest levels during December to February primarily due to
lower construction activity and harsh weather conditions affecting the movement of drilling
1igs. Vessels operating offshore Southeast Asia are generally at their lowest utllizatlon rates
during the monsoon season, which moves across the Asian continent between September
and carly March, The monsoon scason for a specific Southeast Asian focation is generally
about two months, Activity in the U.S, GuIf of Mexico, like the North Sea, is often siower
during the winter months when construction projects and other specialized jobs are most
difficult. and during the hurticane season between June and November, although fallowing
a2 hurricane. activity may increase as there may be a greater demand for vessel services as
repair and remediation activities take place. Operations in any market may, however, be
affected by seasonality often related to unusually long or short construction seasons due
to. among other things, abnormal weather conditions, as well as market demand associated

with increased drilling and development activities,

Fleet Availability

A portion of our available fleet is committed under contracts of various terms. The following table outlines the percentage of our forward days under contract as of February 23. 2008 and Febru-

ary 20, 2009;

), 2009

2010
Vessel Days Vessel Days Vessel Days
North Sea-Based Fleet 71.0% 37.1% 44.9%
$Southeast’ Asl:-!asad Fleet 67.3% 40,5% 50.0%
Americas-Based Fleet 60.2% 28.3% 845X
Overall Fiest 65.3% 335% S27%

International vessel contracts are typically longer in duration and are generally only cancelable for non-performance. Damestic vessel contracts are typically shorter in duration and gererally
provide for other additional cancellation provisions, including termination for convenience. The decrease in overall contract cover is the result of more relatively short-duration contracts in the
North Sea compared to the prior year and the significant increase in vessels in the U.S. Culf of Mexico market resulting from the Rigdon Acquisition. The U.S. Culf of Mexico market typically has

contracts of shorter duration than those in the North Sea or Southeast Asia.
Other Markets

We have contracted our vessels outside of our operating segment regions principally on short-term charters in offshore Africa, India and the Mediterranean region. We cursently have two of our
owned vessels supporting operations offshore India, and two owned and three managed vessels operating offshore West Africa. We also recently completed a multi-vessel, term contract in the

Mediterranean, We look to our core markets for the bulk of our term contracts; however, when the economics of a contract are attractive, or we believe it is strategically advantageous, we will

operate our vessels in markets outside of our core regions. The operations of these vessels are generally managed through offices in the North Sea region.
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Customers, Contract Terms and Competition

Our principal customers are major integrated oil and natural gas companies, large inde-

pendent oil and natural gas exploration and production companies working in

Bareboat chasters are contracts for vessels, generally for a term in excess of one year.
whereby the owner transfers all market exposure for the vessel to the charterer in exchange
for an arranged fee. The charterer has the right to market the vessel without direction from
the owner, Currently, we have no third party bareboat chartered vessefs in our fleet.

Managed vessels add to the market presence of the manager but provide limited direct
financial contri

markets. and foreign government-owned or controlled oil and natural gas companies. Ad-
ditionally, our customers also Include companles that provide logtstic, construction and
other services to such oll and natural gas companies and foreign government organiza-
tions, Generally our contracts are industry standard time charters for periods ranging from
a few days or months up to ten years, Contract terms vary and often are simllar within
geographic regions with certain contracts cantaining cancellation provisions and others
contalning non-cancelable provislons except for unsatisfactory performance by the vassel.
During 2006, under multipte contracts in the ordinary course of business, one customer,
Royal Dutch Shell, accounted for 10.4% of total consolidated revenue. No single customer
accounted for 10% or more of our total consolidated revenue for 2007 or 2008.

Contract of charter durations vary from single-day to multi-vear in length. based upon
many different factors that vary by market, Additionally, there are “evergreen™ charters (also.
known as “life of field" or “forever” charters), and at the other end of the spectrum, there
are *spot” charters and “short duration™ charters, which can vary from a single voyage to
charters of less than six months, Longer duratlon charters are more common where equip-
ment is not as readily available or specific equipment is required. In the North Sea region,
multi-year charters have been more common and constitute a significant portion of that
market. Term charters in the Southeast Asia region have historically been less common than
in the North Sea and geaerally less than two years in length. Recently, however, consistent
with the change in the demand in the region, Southeast Asia contract perlods are extending
out further in time. In addition, charters for vessels in support of floating production are
typically “fife of field” or "full production horizon charters”. In the Americas, particularly
in the Gulf of Mexico, charters vary in length from short term to multi-year periods, many
with thirty day cancellation clauses. In Brazil, Mexico and Trinidad contracts are generally
mult-year term contracts with cancellation provisions. We also have other contracts contaln-
ing non-cancefable provisions except for unsatisfactory vessel performance. As a result of
options and frequent renewals, the stated duration of charters may have little correlation

with the leagth of time the vesse! is actually contracted to a particular customer.
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fees are typically based on a per diem rate and are not
subject to fluctuations in the charter hire rates. The manager is typically responsible for
disbursement of funds for operating the vessel on behalf of the owner, Currently, we have
24 vessels under management.

Substantially 2l of our charters are fixed in British Pounds, or GBP; Norwegian Kroner, or
NOK: Euros; U.S. Oolfars, or USS: or Brazillan Reals. We attempt to reduce currency risk by
matching each vessels contract revenue to the currency in which its operating expenses
are incurred.

We compete with approximately 15 competitors in the Nosth Sea market and numesous
small and large competitors in the Southeast Asia and Americas markets. We compete prin-
cipally on the basls of suitability of equipment, price and service. Also, In certain forelgn
countries. preferences given to vessels owned by local companies may be mandated by
local Jaw or by national oil companics. We have attempted to mitigate some of the impact
of such preferences through affiliations with local companies. In addition, some of our

competitors have significantly greater financial resources than we do.

and

We must comply with extensive government regulation in the form of international con-
ventions. federal. state and local laws and regulations in jurisdictions where our vessels
operate and/or are reglstered. These conventions, laws and regulations govern matters
of environmental protection, worker health and safety, vessel and port security, and the
manning, construction, ownership and operation of vessals. Our operations are subject to
extensive governmental regulation by the United States Coast Guard, the National Transporta-
tion Safety Board and the United States Customs Service, and their foreign equivatents, and
to regulation by private Industry organizations such as the Amerlcan Bureau of Shipping,
The Coast Guard and the National Transportation Safety Board set safety standards and
are authorized to investigate vessel accidents and recommend improved safety standards,

while the Customs Service is authorized to inspect vessels at will, We belleve that we are

in material compliance with all applicable laws and regutations.

Government Regulations

We are subject to the Merchant Marine Act of 1936, which provides that, upon proclamation
hy the President of a national emergency or a threat to the security of the national defense,
the Secretary of Transportation may requisition or purchase any vessel or other watercraft
owned by United States citizens (which includes United States corporations), including ves-
sels under construction In the United States. If one of the vessels in our fleet were purchased
or requisitioned by the federal government under this law, we would be entitled to be paid
the fair market value of the vesse! in the case of a purchase or, in the case of a requisition,
the falr market value of charter hire, However, we would not be entitled to be compensated
for any consequential damages we suffer as a result of the requisition or purchase of any
of our vessels.

Under Section 27 of the Merchant Marine Act of 1920, also known as the Jones Act, the
privilege of transporting merchandise or passengers for hire in the coastwise trade in U.S.
territorial waters Is restricted 1o only those vessels that are owned and managed by U.S.
citizens and are built in and registered under the faws of the United States. A corporation

is not considered a U.$, citizen unless;

the corporation is organized under the laws of the U5, or of 2 state, territory or pos-

session thereof,

each of the president or other chief executive officer and the chairman of the board of

directors s 2 U.S, citizen,

no more than a minority of the number of directors of such corporation necessary to

constitute a quorum for the transaction of business are non-U.s. citizens, and

at least 75% of the Interest In such corporatlon Is owned by U.S. citizens,

tf we should fail to comply with such requirements, our vessels would fose their eligibility
to engage in coastwise trade within U.S, territorial waters during the period of such non-
compliance. Currently, we meet the requirements to engage in coastwise trade, and are
reviewing and evaluating what additional actlons, if any, may be Implemented to Insure

compliance with the Jones Act.

Environmental Regulations

Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state, local and international laws and
regulations regarding the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwisc relat-
ing to environmental protection. As some environmental Jaws impose strict liability for
remediation of spills and releases of oil and hazardous substances, we could be subject to
liabifity even if we were not negligent or at fault. These laws and regulations may expose us
to liability for the conduct of, or conditions caused by, others, including charterers. Failure

to comply with applicable faws and regulations may result in the imposition of administra-

tive, civil and criminal penalties, f permits. i f corrective action ords

and or ination of our tie laws and regulations may

change In ways that substantially Increase costs. or Impose addittonal requirements or
restrictions which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We believe that we are in substantial compllance with currently applicable environmental
faws and regulations,

The International Maritime Organization, or IMO, has made the regulations of the inter-
national Safety Management Code, or ISM Code, mandatory. The ISM Code provides an
international standard for the safe management and operation of ships. pollution preven-
tion and certain crew and vessl certifications which became effective on July 1. 2002. MO
has also adopted the International Ship & Port Facility Secucity Code, or ISPS Code. which
became effective on July 1, 2004. The ISPS Code provides that owners or operators of certain
vessels and facilitles must provide security and security plans for thelr vessels and facilities
and obtain appropriate certification of compliance. We believe all of our vessels presently
are centificated in accordance with I5PS Code, The risks of incurring substantial compliance
costs, liabilities and penalties for non-compliance are inherent in offshore marine opera-
tions.

The Clean Water Act Imposes strict controls on the discharge of pollutants into the navi-

gable waters of the United States. The Clean Water Act also provides for civil, criminal and

penalties for any i f il or other hazardous substances
in reportable quantities and imposes liability for the costs of removal and remediation of an
unauthorized discharge. Many states have laws that are analogous to the Clean Water Act
and also require remediation of accidental releases of petroleum in reportable quantities.
Our vessels routinely transport diesel fuel to offshore rigs and platforms and also carry
diesel fuel for their own use. We maintain response plans as required by the Clean Water

Act to address potential oil and fuel spills on either our vessels or our shore-base facility.
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The C: i Response, C

and Liability Act of 1980,
also known as “CERCLA or “Superfund,” and similar laws, impose liability for releases of
hazardous substances into the environment. CERCLA currently exempts crude off from the
definition of hazardous substances for purposes of the statute, but our operations may in-
volve the use or handling of other materials that may be classified as hazardous substances.
CERCLA assigns strict lability to each responsible party for ail response costs, as well as
natural resource damages and thus we could be held liable for releases of hazardous sub-
stances that resulted from operatlons by third parties not under our controt or for refeases
associated with practices performed by us or others that were standard in the industry at
the time,

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act regulates the generation, transportation.
storage, treatment and disposal of onshore hazardous and non-hazardous wastes and
requires states to develop programs to ensure the safe disposal of wastes. We generate
non-hazardous wastes and small quantities of hazardous wastes in connection with routine
operatlons. We believe that al of the wastes that we generate are handled in all material
respects (n compliance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and analogous
state statutes,

We believe that we are th compliance with the laws and regulations to which we are subject.
We are not a party to any material pending regulatory fitigation or other proceeding and
we are unaware of any threatened litigation or proceeding. which, if adversely determined,
would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition o results of operations.
However, the risks of incurring substantial compliance costs, liabifities and penalties for
noncompliance are inherent in offshore marine services operations. Compliance with Jones
Act, as well as with environmental, health, safety and vesse] and port security laws increases
our costs of doing business. Additionally, these laws change frequently. Therefore, we are
unable to predict the future costs or other future impact of Jones Act. environmental, health,
safety and vessel and port security laws on our operations. There can be no assurance that
we can avoid significant costs, liabilitics and penalties imposed on us as a result of govern-
ment regulation in the future,
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Employees

At December 31, 2008, we had approximately 1,800 employees located principally in
the United States, the United

dom, Norway, Southeast Asia. and Brazil. Through our
contract with a crewing agency, we participate in the negotiation of collective bargaining
agreements for approximately 930 contract crew members who are members of two North

Sea unions, under evergreen Wages are i annually in

the second half of each year for the North Sea union, We have no other collective bargaining
agreements: however, we do employ crew members who are members of national unions
but we do not participate in the negotiation of those colfective bargaining agreements.
Relations with our employees are considered satisfactory. To date. our operations have not

been interrupted by strikes or work stoppages.

Prope

Our principal executive offices are located in Houston, Texas. For local operations. we

have offices and warehouse facil

: Singapore; Aberdeen, Scotland; Sandnes, Norway:
Macae, 8razil; Paraiso, Mexico; and St. Rose, and Youngsville, Louisiana. In March 2008, we
relocated our offices in Aberdeen, Scotland from an owned office facility to a leased facil-

ity. The previously owned f:

ity is in the process of being leased or sold. All of our other
facilities are leased. Our operations generally do not require highly speclalized facilities,

and suitable facilities are generally available on a lease basis as required.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

We rely on the olf and natural gas industry, and volatlie olf and natural gas
prices impact demand for our services.

Demand for our services depends on activity in offshore oil and natural gas exploration,
development and production. The level of exploration, development and production activity
s affected by factors such a

» prevailing oil and natural gas prices:

= expectations about future prices and price volatility:

cost of exploring for, producing and defivering oil and natural gas;

sale and expiration dates of available offshore leases;

demand for petroleum products:

current availability of oil and natural gas resources;

rate of discovery of new oil and natural gas reserves in offshore areas:

local and political, and economic

technological advances: and

ability of oil and natural gas companics to gencrate or otherwise obtain funds for capital.

The level of offshore exploration, development and production activity has historically
been characterized by volatlity, Prior to mid-2008, there was a period of high prices for oil
and natural gas, and oil and gas companies increased their exploration and development
activities. A decline in the worldwide demand for oft and natural gas or prolonged low oil
or natural gas prices in the future, such as has occurred since fate 2008, however, would
likely result in reduced exploration and development of offshore areas and a decline in the
demand for our offshore marine services. Any such decrease in activity is likely to reduce
our day rates and our utilization rates and, therefore, coufd have a material adverse effect

on our financial condition and results of operations.

An increase in the supply of offshore support vessels would itkely have
a negative effect on charter rates for our vessels, which could reduce our

earnings.

Charter rates for marine support vessels depend in part on the supply of the vessels, We
could experience a reduction in demand as a result of an increased supply of vessels, Excess
vessel capacity In the Industry may result from:

= constructing new vessels;
= moving vessels from one offshore market area to another; or

= converting vessels formerly dedicated to services other than offshore marine services.

In the last ten years, construction of vessels of the types we operate has significantly
increased. The addition of new capacity of various types to the worldwide offshore marine

fleet s likely to increase competition in those markets where we presently operate which, in

turn, could reduce day rates. utilization rate i rgi dversel

affect our financial condition and results of operations.

ion and envis risks can reduce our business

opportunities, Increase our costs, and adversely affect the manner or feasibitity
of doing business.

We must comply with extensive government regulation In the form of international con-

ventions, federal, state and Jocal laws and regulations in jurisdictions where our vessels

operate and are registered. These. la d i hip 2nd

operation of vessels: oll spills and other matters of environmental protection; worker health,
safety and training; construction and operation of vessels; and vessel and port security.
Our operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation by the United States Coast
Guard, the National Transportation Safety Board and the United States Customs Service, and

foreign equi and lation by v ions such as the

International Maritime Organlization or the American Sureau of Shipping. The Coast Guard
and the National Transportation Safety Board set safety standards and are authorized to
investigate vessel accldents and recommend improved safety standards, whilc the Customs

Service is authorized to inspect vessels at will.

Envirenmental Regulations

Our operations are also subject to federal, state, local and international laws and regu-
lations that control the discharge of pollutants into the environment or otherwise relate
to environmental protection, Compliance with such laws. regulations and standards may
require installation of costly equipment, increased manning, or operational changes. Viola-
tlon of these laws may result in civil and criminal penalties, fines. Injunctions, imposition of
remedial obligations, the suspension or termination of our operations, or other sanctions,

As some environmental laws impose strict liability for remediation of spills and releases
of oil and hazardous substances, we could be subject to liability even if we were not neg-
ligent or at fault. These laws and regulations may expose us to liabiity for the conduct of,

or conditlons caused by, others. including charterers, Environmental laws and regulations.

may change in ways that substantially increase costs, impose additional requirements or

restrictions which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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Merchant Marine Actof 1936

We are subject to the Merchant Marine Act of 1936, which provides that. upon proclama-
tion by the President of a natlonal emergency or a threat to the securlty of the national
defense, the Secretary of Transportation may requisition or purchase any vessel or other
watercraft owned by United States citizens (which includes United States corporations),
including vessels under construction in the United States. If one of the vessels in our fleet
were purchased or requisitioned by the federal government under this law. we would be
entitled to be paid the fair market value of the vessel In the case of a purchase or, In the

case of a requisition, the fair market value of charter hire.

However, we would ot be entitled to b forany i we
suffer as a result of the requisition or purchase of any of our vessels. The purchase or the
vequisition for an extended period of time of one or more of our vessels could adversely

affect our resufts of operations and financial condition.

Jdongs Act

We are subject to the Merchant Marine Act of 1920, as amended ithe “Jones Act™). which
requires that vessels carrying passengers or cargo between U.S. ports, which is known as
coastwise trade, be owned and managed by U.S. citizens, and be bujlt in and registered
under the laws of the United States. Violations of the Jones Act would result in our becoming
ineligible to engage in coastwise trade in U.S. territorial waters during the period in which
we were not in compliance, which would adversely affect our operating results, Currently,
we meet the requirements to engage in coastwise trade, but there can be no assurance
that we will always be in compliance with the Jones Act. In December 2008, our Board of

Directors passed a resolution authorizing management to include as a proposal at the 2009

Annual Meeting of o our Certificate of ion that should
assist and complement our Jones Act cltizenship comphiance.

“The Jones Act’s provisions restricting coastwise trade to vessels controlfed by U.S. citizens.
may have recently been circumvented by forcign interests that seek to engage in trade re-
served for vessels controfled by 11,5, citizens and otherwise qualifying for coastwise trade.
Legal challenges against such actions are difficult, costly to pursue and are of uncertain
outcome. There have also been attempts to repeal or amend the Jones Act, and these attempts
are expected to continue. in addition, the Secretary of Homeland Security may suspend the

citizenship requirements of the Jones Act in the interest of national defense. To the extent
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foreign competition is permitted from vessels built in lower-cost shipyards and crewed
by non-U.S. citizens with favorable tax regimes and with lower wages and benefits, such
competition could have a material adverse effect on domestic companies in the offshore

service vessel industry subject to the fones Act and on our financial condition and resufts

of operations.
E el Cost of Complian:
We bell weare { the laws and regulations to which we are subject.

We are not a party to any material pending regulatory fitigation or other proceeding and

we are f any litigati ling, which, if adh ly
would have a material adverse effect on our financlal condition or resuits of operations,

However. the risks of incurring substantial compliance costs, liabilities and penalties for

inherent in offs services operations. Compliance with jones
Act, as well as with environmental, health, safety and vessel and port security laws increases

our costs of doing business. Additionally, these laws change frequently. Therefore. we are

other future impact of Jones Act, environmental, health.
safety and vessel and port security laws on our operations. There can be no assurance that
we can avoid significant costs, liabilitics and penalties imposed on us as a result of govern-
ment regulation in the future,

We ore subject to hazards customary for the operation of vessels that could
adversely affect our financial performance if we are not adequately insured or

Indemnified.

Our operations are subject to various operating hazards and risks, including:

catastrophic marine disaster;

adverse sea and weather conditions;

= mechanical failur

= navigation errors:

= collision;

and hazardous substance s;

Is, containment and clean up;

= labor shortages and strikes;

= damage to and loss of drilling rigs and production facllitie:

= war, sabotage and terrorism risks.

These risks present a threat to the safety of personnel and to our vessels, cargo. equip-
ment under tow and other property, as well as the environment. We could be required to
suspend our operations of request that others suspend their operations as a result of these
hazards. In such event, we would experience loss of revenue and possibly property damage.
and additionally, third parties may have significant claims against us for damages due to
personal injury, death, property damage, pollution and loss of business.

We maintain insurance coverage against substantially all of the casualty and liability risks
listed above, subject to deductibles and certain exclusions. We have renewed our primary
insurance pragram for the insurance year 2009-2010, and have negatiated terms for renewal
in 2010-2011 for our primary coverage. We can provide no assurance, however. that our
insurance coverage wil be avaifable beyond the renewal perlods, and witl be adequate to

cover future caims that may arise,

A substantial portion of our s derived fron our i

and those are subject to and operating risks.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from foreign sources. We therefore face

risks inherent In conducting business internationally, such as:

foreign currency exchange fluctuations;

legal and government regufatory requirements;

difficulties and costs of staffing and managing international operations;

fanguage and cultural differences;

potential vessel seizure or nationalization of assets:

import-export quotas or other trade barriers;

difficulties in collecting accounts receivable and fonger collection periods;

political and economic instability;

changes to shipping tax regimes;

imposition of currency exchange controls; and

potentially adverse tax consequences.

We cannot predict whether any such conditions or events might develop in the future or
whether they might have a material effect on our operations. Also, our subsidiary structure
and our operatlons are in part based on certain assumptions about various foreign and
domestic tax laws, currency exchange requirements and capital repatriation laws. While
we believe our assumptions are correct, there can be no assurance that taxing or other
authorities will reach the same conclusions. If our assumptions are incorrect or if the rei-
evant countries change or modify such laws or the current interpretation of such laws, we

may suffer adverse tax and financial consequences. including the reduction of cash flow

available to meet required debt service and other obligations.

Changes In tax leglslation In countrles in which we operate could result in, and

Increased in the United State kel e

or a higher effective tax rate on our woridwide earnings.

Qur worldwide operations are conducted through our various subsidiaries, We are subject
t0 income taxes In the Unlted States and foreign jurisdictions. Any materlal changes In

tax law and related i tax treaties or the i ions thereof where we have

significant operations could result in a higher effective tax rate on our worldwide carnings
and a materiafly higher tax expense,

for example, our North Sea operations based In the UK. and Norway have special tax
Incentives for qualified shipping operations, commonly referred to as tonnage tax, which
provides for a tax based on the net tonnage capacity of a qualified vessels, resulting in
significantly lower taxes than those that would apply if we were not a qualified shipplag
company in those jurisdictions, Norway enacted a new tonnage tax system put in place
from January 2007 forward, subjecting us to ordinary corporate tax on accumulated untaxed
shipping profits as of December 31, 2006. There Is no guarantee that current tonnage tax
regimes will not be changed or modified which could, along with any of the above men-
tioned factors, materially adversely affect our international operations and, consequently,

our business, operating results and financial condition.

Qur operations in the United States increased with the Rigdon Acquisition in July 2008, and
we have an Increase in our d effe rate, Ily, our
tax retus are subject to and review by the tax authorities in the

in which we operate.

18 7/ CuifMark 2008 Anruai Report



Our i ions and new vessel

programs are vuiner-

able to currency exchange rate fluctuations and exchange rate risks.

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate flictuations and exchange rate risks as
a result of our foreign operations and when we construct vessels abroad. To minimize the
financial impact of these risks, we attempt to match the currency of our debt and operating
costs with the currency of the revenue streams. We accasionally enter into forward foreign
exchange contracts to hedge specific exposures, which include exposures refated to firm
contractual commitments in the form of future vessel payments, but we do not speculate
in foreign currencies. Because we conduct a large portion of our operations in foreign cur-
rencles, any increase In the value of the U.5, Dollar, such as has occurred since late 2008,
in relation to the value of applicable foreign currencies could potentially adversely affect

‘our operating revenue or constsuction costs when translated into U.S. Dollars,

Vessel construction and repalr projects are subject 1o risks, Including delays,
cost overruns, and ship yard insolvencies which could have an adverse Impact on

our results of operations.

Our vessel construction and repair projects are subject to risks, including delay and cost

overruns. inherent in any large construction project, including:

shortages of equipment;

unforeseen engineering problems;

work stoppages:

fack of shipyard avaifability:

weather interference;

unanticipated cost increases;

shortages of materials or skilled fabor; and

Insolvency of the ship repairer or ship builder,

Significant cost overruns or delays in connection with our vessel construction and repalr
projects would adversely affect our financial condition results of operations. Significant
delays could also result in penalties under, or the termination of, most of the long-term

contracts under which we operate our vessels, The demand for vessels currently under
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constriiction may diminish from anticipated fevels, or we may expesience difficulty in ac-

auiring new vessels or obtaining equipment to fix our older vessels due to high demand,

both circumstances which may have a materlal adverse effect on our revenues and profit-
ability. Recent globat economic issues may increase the risk of insolvency of ship builders
and ship repairers, which could adversely affect our new construction and the repair of our
vessels.

Our current our current fleet size
and configuration, and acquiring vessels requived for additional future growth
require significant caphal.

Expenditures requised for the repair, certification and maintenance of a vessel typically
Increase with vessel age. These expenditures may Increase to a level at which they are not
economically justifiable and, therefore, to maintain our current fleet size we may seek to
construct or acquire additional vessels. The cost of adding a new vesset 1o our fleet ranges
from under $10

llon to $100 million and potenttally higher, We can give no assurance
that we will have sufficient capital resources to build or acquire the vessels required to
expand o to malntain our current fleet size and vessel configuration.

While we expect our cash on hand, cash flow from operations and available borsowings
under our credit facilities 1o be adequate to fund our existing commitments, our ability to
pay these amounts Is dependent upon the success of our operations. Additionally. the in-

ability to obtain sufficient amount of financing or the inability of one or more of the bank

funding could y our ability ok
our new vessel construction program, To-date, we have been able to obtain adequate bank
group financing to fund all of our commitments. See “Long Term Debt” on page 37 and

“Liquldity and Capital Resources" on page 36.

Our industry Is highly competitive, which could depress vessel prices and utiliza-
tion and adversely affect our financial performance.

‘We operate Ina Industry. The principal factors in the marine sup-

port and transportation services industry include:

price, service and reputation of vessel operations and crews:

national flag preference:

operating conditions;

suitability of vessel types;

vessel availability;

technical capabilites of equipment and personnel;

safety and efficiency:

complexity of maintaining logistical support: and

cost of moving equipment from one market to another,

Many of our competitors have substantially greater resources than we have. Competitive
bidding and downward pressures on profits and pricing margins could adversely affect our

husiness, financial condition and results of operations.

The operations of our fleet may be subject 1o seasonal factors,

Operations in the North Sea are generally at their bighest levels during the months from
Agril to August and at their lowest levels during December to February primarily duc to
lower construction activity and harsh weather conditions affecting the mavement of drilling
rigs. Vessels operating offshore Southeast Asia are generally at their lowest utilization rates
during the monsoon season, which moves across the Asian continent between September
and early March, The monsoon season for a specific Southeast Asian location is generatly
about two months, Activity in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, like the North Sea, is often slower
during the winter months when construction projects and other specialized jobs are most
difficult, and during the hurricane season batween june and November, although following
a hurricane, activity may increase as there may be a greater demand for vessel services as
repair and remediation activities take place. Operations tn any market may, however, be
affected by scasonality often related to unusually long or short construction seasons due
to, among other things, abnormal weather conditions, as well as market demand associated

with increased drilling and development activities.

We are subject to wav, sabotnge and terrorism risk.

War, sabotage, and terrorist attacks or any similar risk may affect our operations in un-

predictable ways, including changes in the insurance markets, disruptions of fuel supplies
and markets, particufarly oil, and the possibility that infrastructure facilities. including
pipelines, production facilitles. refineries, electric generation, transmission and distribution
facilities, offshore rigs and vessels. could be direct targets of. or indirect casualties of, an
act of terror. War o fisk of war may also have an adverse effect on the economy. Insurance
coverage has been difficult to obtain In areas of terrorist attacks resulting in increased costs
that could continue to increase. We continually evaluate the need to maintain this coverage
as it applies to our fleet. Instability in the financlal markets as a result of war, sabotage or
terrorism could also affect our ability to raise capital and could also adversely affect the

oil. gas and power i

dustries and restrict their future growth.

We depend on key personne.

We depend to a significant extent upon the efforts and abillties of our executive officers
and other key management personnel. There is no assurance that these individuals will
continue In such capacity for any particular pesiod of time, The loss of the services of one
or more of our executive officers or key management personnel could adversely affect our
operaticns.

The recent volatitity In olf and gas prices and disruptions in the credit markets

and general economy may adversely impact our business.

As a result of recent volatility in oll and natural gas prices and substantial uncentainty in
the capital markets due to the deteriorating global economic environment, we are unable
to determine whether customers will reduce spending on exploration and development
drilling or whether customers and/or vendors and suppliers will be able to access financ-
ing necessary to sustain their current level of operations, fulfill their commitments and/or

fund future operations and obfi Th I ic envi may

impact industry fundamentals and impact our customers’ abilities to pay for the services of
our vessels. The potential resulting decrease in demand for offshore services could cause

the industry to cycle Into a downturn, could ha terial ad ffe

on our business.
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ITEM B. Unresolved Staff Comments
NONE

ETEM 3. Legal Proceedings

General

Various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business may be
instituted or asserted against us. Although the outcome of litigation cannot be predicted
with certalnty, we believe, based on discussions with legal counsel and I consideration
of reserves recorded, that an unfavorable outcome of these Jegal actions would not have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position and results of our operations.

We cannot predict whether any such clalms may be made in the future.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
NONE

PART It

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock Js traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol
“GLF". The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices for our common
stock for the perlods indicated:

High  low
Quarter ended March 31, : $56.38 " $33.30 $44.84.7. 7153180
Quarter ended june 30, $70.98  $53.06 354.65 $43.51
Quarter ended Sepiember 30, $58.90". 1 SAT.71 $56.54 5 540.00
Quarter ended December 31, 344,69  520.51 $53.13 $40.92

For the period from january 1, 2009 through February 26, 2009, the range of low and
high sales prices of our common stock was $19.89 to $28.68, respectively. On February

26. 2009. the closing sale price of our common stock as reported by the NYSE was $21.03
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per share and there were 612 stockholders of record,
We have not declased or paid cash dividends during the past five years, Pursuant to the

terms of the indenture under which the senicr notes, as further described in Part Y, Item 7,

"Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

=~ Long-Tesm Debt” and Note 5 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements™ in
Part I, ftem 8 herein are issued, we may be restricted from declaring or paying dividends;
however, we currently anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, any earnings will be re-
talned for the growth and development of our business. The declaration of dividends is at
the discretion of our Board of Directors, Our dividend policy will be reviewed by the Board
of Directors at such time as may be appropriate in light of future operating conditions,
dividend restrictions of subsidfaries and investors, financial requirements, general business
conditions and other factors.

Equity compensation plan information required by this item may be found In Note § of
the "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part fl, ltem 8 herein,

On December 4, 2006, we raised approximately $76.8 million, net of offering costs of $0.2
million, through the sale of 2.000.000 shares of common stock pursusant to our reglstration
statement on Form $-3, Reg. No. 333-133563. and prospectus supplement. The sale was
underwritten by Jefferies & Company, Inc. The proceeds were used to repay the outstand-
ing partion of the credit facility, for corporate working capital needs, and to partly fund
future progress payments for the delivery of new build vessels included in our consteuction

program,

Performance Graph

The following performance graph and table compare the cumalative return on the Com-
pany’s Common Stock to the Dow Jones Total Market index and the Dow Jones Oilfield
Equipment and Services Index (which consists of Atwood Oceanics Inc,, Baker Hughes Inc.,
B} Services Co., Bristow Group Inc., Cameron International Corp., Chart Industries Inc..
Complete Production Services Inc., Core Labioratories N.V., Diamond OFfshose Drilling Inc.,
Dresser-Rand Group Inc., Dril-Quip Inc., ENSCO International inc,, Exterran Holdings Inc,,
FMC Technalogies Inc., Clobal Industries Ltd,, Hallibuston Co.. Helix Energy Solutions Group.
Inc., Helmerich & Payne Inc.. Hercules Offshore Inc.. ION Geophysical Corp., Key Energy
Services Inc.. Nabors Industries Ltd.. National Oilwell Varco Inc.. Newpark Resources Inc.,

Noble Corp., O Inc., Oil States

inc,, Parker Drilling

Inc., Rowan Cos. inc., Schlumbersger Ltd.,

Co., Energy Inc,. Pride

SEACOR Holding Irc., Smith Internationat Inc,, Superior Energy Services Inc., Tetra Technologies Inc., Tidewater Inc,, Transocean Ltd., Unit Corp.. and Weatherford International Ltd.) for the periods

indicated. The graph assumes (i the reinvestment of dividends, if any, and (ii) the value of the investment of the Company’s Common Stock and each index to have been $100 at December 31,

2003,
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ITEM 6, Sel d Co d Fil ial Data

The data that folows should be read in with our C¢ Financial and the notes thereto included in Part [, Item 8 and "Management’s Discussion and Analysls of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, included in Part Y. ltem 7.

1 December 31
2008 2007 2006 2005 2904
{Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating Dat: o ; .
Revenue s 411,740 s 306,026 $ 250,921 S 204,042 s 139,312
Diréct operating ekpenses’ | . : 143,925 0T 08.386 LIRS : 82,803 71,239
Drydock expense (a) 1,319 12,606 9,049 9,192 8,966
Bareboat charter expense : | SR R T : 3,864 40
General and administrative expenses 40,244 32,311 24,504 19,572 15,666
Degreciation and amontization 44300 130623 T 2870 28,875 26,137
Galn on sale of assets 34811 (12,169} 10.237) - 2.282)
Operating income 3 : 206,763 S 134,269 . 07,261 58736 . 15,176
Interest expense 04,20 2.923) {15,648} 19.017) (17,243
Interest income . 1,446 R L A SRR S 569 - 276,
Debt refinancing costs - — — — (6.524)
Other income. (expanie), fiet 1609 SRee T sy 488 1517
Income tax (provision) bencfit (b) 01.743) (30.220) 3.052) 3.382) 6,476
:‘7‘:':::;: ::r:::uo’::t'l.nt;w p;::l;‘le . : $ LR e ; 89729 s 38390, % 2578
Cumulative cflect on prior years of change _ _ _ _ 7309
in accounting principle — net of $773 related tax effect (a) .
Net income (oss) A% s 183,784 . s 975 s 89,729 " % 38,390 S (4:631)
Amounts per common share (basic):
fncere ﬂ‘:‘;’;:m‘;‘m&:“ of _ . 3 774 s awn s 440 192 s 013
Cumulative effect on prior years of — - -
chang tin ple
Net income fgss) . " NP | 3 7.74 3 3
Weighted average common shares (basic) 23,737
Amounts pér common share (dihited): . T N
'?::2‘05:{":"; ;‘r‘i’r'l'c‘;':,‘e““ effect of change s 7.56 s 4.23 s 4.28 s 1.86 s 013
Cismnistathie:effect on pror years of change’ i = i =
In accounting prinelple .. . : L
Net income (loss) s 1.86
Weighted average common sharés (diluted) (c) 20,666
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2008 2005 2004
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Cash Flows Datat g ; 3

Cash provided by operating activities $ 205,201 s 128,577 s 104,869 s 64,913 s 25,561

Cash used i Ivesting activities | RN : (186,787)" " Ll arsaen 28.300) “3343) 40,404

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 56,754 373 20679 (15.674) 23,005

Effect 6 exchange rate changes o cash CRRTE R i (48261 3703 : 2,679 765 1,031

Other Data:

AdJusted EBTDA () . ¢ $70 0 251,063 s Y6482 " $ 3T $ 88611 s a3

Cash dividends per share - - - - -

Total vssels i fleet (&) : BT 6 : 59 2

Average number of owned or chartered vesscls f) 595 6.8 47.2 456
2008 2007 2008 2004

: : dn'thousands)” . -

Bafance Sheet Data:

Cash'and cash.équivalents E pai : s 100,761 s 40,19 $ 827597 8724190 s 17,529

‘f:‘;f",’gfe"s"sf:;‘"p’"e"‘ including construction 1.169,513 754,000 571,989 510,446 538,978

Total assets . 156,967 934,012 750829 613015 632,718

tong-tenm debt (g) 462,941 159,558 159,490 247685 258,022

“Total siockholders! squity 854843 676,001 s4na28 oo U320,086 L 31657

(a) Effective January 1, 2004, we began expensing the costs assoclated with drydocks, Previously, these costs were capitalized and amortized over 30 months, As a result of this change. in 2004
we recorded a non-cash cumulative effect charge of $7.3 million, net of tax (30,36 per basic and diluted common share).

(b) See Note & to our “Consolidated Financial Statements — Income Taxes”,

(©) Earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding.

@) EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) before interest expense, interest income, income tax (benefit) provision, and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by adjust-
ing EBITDA for certain items that we believe are non-cash o non-operational, consisting of: (i) cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, (i} debt refinancing costs, (i) loss from
unconsolidated ventures, (Iv) minority Interests, and (v) other (income) expense, net. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measurements of financlal porformance under generally accepted
accounting principles, or GAAR, and should not be considered as an alternative to cash flow data, a measure of liquidity or an alternative to operating income or net income as indicators of
our operating performance or any other measures of performance derived in accordance with GAAP.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are presented because they are widely used by security analysts, creditors, investors and other interested parties In the evaluation of companies in our industry,
This information is a material component of cestain financial covenants in debt obligations. Failure to comply with the financial covenants could result in the imposition of restrictions on our
financial flexibility. When viewed with GAAP results and the accompanying reconciliation, we believe the EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA calcutation provides additional information that is useful

to gain an understanding of the factors and trends affecting our ability to service debt and meet our ongoing fiquidity requirements. EBITDA s also a financial metric used by management as
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a supplemental internal measure for planning and forecasting overall expectations and for evaluating actual results against such expectations. However, because EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
are not measurements determined in accordance with GAAP and are thus susceptible to varying calculations, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as presented may not be comparable to other simi-
farly titled measures used by other companies or comparable for other purposes. Also, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, as non-GAAP financial measures, have material limitations as compared

10 cash flow provided by operating activities. EBITDA does not reflect the future payments for capital tures, fi d charges and deferred income taxes that may be required

as normal business operations. Management compensates for these limitations by using our GAAP results to supplement the EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA calculations.

The following table summarizes the calculation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the periods indicated.

nber 31
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
n thousands)

Net income {loss) s 183,784 s 89.729 3 {4,631}
Thterest éxpense 14,29 . 15848 12,243
Interest income. {1,446} @76}
Income tax (benefit) provision S 11,743 (6:476)
Depreciation and amortization 44,300 26,137

252,672 N 31,997
Adjustments:
Cumplative effect of change In accounting principle : = — - 7.309
Debt refinancing costs - - - 6524
Other * ; (1,509) : - 1484) s
Adjusted EBITDA s s $ _88, 3 44313

*  Includes forelgn currency transaction adjustments,

(e) Includes managed vessels In addition to those that are owned and chartered at the end of the applicable period. See “Our Fleet” in Part I, Items 1 and 2
“Business and Properties” for further information concerning our fleet,
(H  Average number of vessels is calculated based on the aggregate number of vessel days available during each period divided by the number of calendar

days in such period. includes owned and bareboat chartered vessels only, and is adjusted for additions and dispositions occurring during cach period.

(g} Excludes current portion of long-term debt,
TTEM 7. s and lysis of Fis ial Condition and Results of Operations
This shoutd be read in with our Consolidated Financial Statements, including the notes thereto, contained in Part l, Item & “Consolidated financial Statements and Supple-

mentary Data”, See alsa Part I, [tem & “Selected Consolidated Financial Data™.

Our Business Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as a premier provider of offshore marine services by achieving higher lizati relatively th rates and returns on investments that are
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superior to those of our it Key elements in our strategy include:

Developing and maintaining a large, modern, diversified and technologically advanced
fleet: Our fleet size, focation and profile allow us to provide a full range of services to our
customers from platform supply work to specialized floating, production, storage and of-
floading, or FPSO support, including anchor handling and remotely operated vehicle, or ROV,
operations. We regularly upgrade our fleet to improve capability, reliability and customer
satisfaction. We also seek to take advantage of attractive opportunities to acquire or build
new vessels to expand our fleet, We took delivery of 12 new bulld vessels between 2001
and 2005, and acquired a vessel in December 2004, During 2005 we committed to build
11 new vessels, ane of which was delivered during the fourth quarter of 2005, two during
2008, and four In 2007. In 2007, we committed to build seven new vessels (five PSVs and
two AHTS vessels) to be delivered in late 2009 and the first seven months of 2010. In 2008,
we acquired 22 vessels and 6 vessels under construction In conjunction with the acquisi-
tion of Rigdon. In addition, we have sold certain older, smaller vessels that no longer meet
our objective of maintaining a modern, diversified and technologically advanced fleet. We
believe our relatively young fleet. which requires less maintenance and refurbishment work
during required drydockings than older fleets, allows for less downtime, resulting in more
dependable operations for us and for our customers,

Enhancing fleet utilization through development of specialty applications for our vessels:We
operate some of the most technologically advanced vessels available. Qur highly efficient,
multiple-use vessels provide our customers flexibility and are constructed with design ele-
ments such as dynamic positioning, firefighting, moon pools, ROV handling and oil spill
fesponse capabilities. In addition, we design and equip new build vessels specifically to
meet our customer needs,

Focusing on attractive markets: Prior to the Rigdon Acquisition, we elected to conduct our
current operations mainly in the North Sea, offshore Southeast Asla and, 1o a lesser extent,
offshore Americas markets. Our focus on these regtons was driven by what we perceive to
be higher barriers to entry, lower volatility of day rates and greater potential for increasing
day rates in these markets than in other markets, With the Rigdon Acquisition we added a
strong presence in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and offshore Trinidad, which are now included
In the Americas operating segment, Conslstent with our approach prior to the Rigdon Ac-
quisition the high barriers to entry in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, particularly in the deepwater
segment, was a key attribute in our acquisition decision, although historically day rates in

that reglon have been relatively more volatile,

Qur operating experience in these markets has enabled us to anticipate and profitably
respond to trends in these markets, such as the increasing demand for multi-function ves-
sels, which we believe will be met through the additions we have made in the past few
years to our North Sea and Southeast Asia fleets. In addition, we have the capacity under
appropriate market conditions to alter the geographic focus of our operations to a limited
degree by shifting vessels between our existing markets and by entering new markets as.
they develop economically and become more profitable.

Mariaging our risk profife through chartering arrangements: We wtilize various contractual
arrangements in our fleet operations, including long-term charters, short-term charters,
sharing arrangements and vessel alliances. Sharing arrangements provide us and our cus-
tomers the opportunity to benefit from rising charter rates by subchartering the contracted
vessels to third parties at prevailing market rates during any downtime in the customers'
operations. We operate and participate In arrangements where vessels of simllas specifica-

tions enter into alliances which include icat ion, We beli the

arrangements help us reduce volatility in both day rates and vessel utilization and are

beneficlal to our customers.

General

We provide marine support and transportation services to companies involved in the
offshore exploration and production of oil and natural gas, Our vessels transport drilling
materials, supplies and personnel to offshore facllities. as weli as move and position drilling
structures. A substantial portion of our operations are international. We have 43 vessels
based in the North Sea, 39 vessels operating in the Americas and 13 vessels operating
offshore Southeast Asia, Our fleet has grown in both size and capability. from an original
11 vessels In 1990 to our present number of 95 vessels, through strategic acqulsitions and
the new construction of technologically advanced vessels, partially offset by dispositions
of cenain older, less profitable vessels. At February 26, 2009, our flact includes 71 owned
vessels and 24 managed vessels,

Our results of operations are affected primarily by day rates, fleet utllization and the
number and type of vessels in our fleet. Utilization and day rates, In turn, are influenced
principally by the demand for vessel services from the exploration and production sectors
of the oil and natural gas industry. The supply of vessels to meet this fluctuating demand

is related directly to the perception of future activity in both the drifling and production
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phases of the ol and natura gas industry as well as the availability of capital to build new
vessels to meet the changing market requirements,

From time to time, we bareboat charter vessels with revenue and operating expenses.
reported in the same income and expense categories as our owned vessels. The chartered
vessels, however, incur bareboat charter fees instead of depreciation expense. Bareboat
charter fees are generally higher than the depreciation expense on owned vessels of similar
age and specification, The operating income realized from these vessels is therefore adversely
affected by the higher costs assoclated with the bareboat charter fees. These vessels are
included in calculating fleet day rates and utilization in the applicable periods.

We also provide management services to other vessel owners for a fee. We do not include
charter revenue and vessel expenses of these vessels In our operating results; however,
management fees are included in operating revenue. These vessels have been excluded
for purposes of calculating fleet rates per day worked and utilization in the applicable
periods,

Our operating costs are primarily a function of fleet configuration. The most significant
direct operating cost Is wages pald to vessel csews, followed by maintenance and repairs and
insurance. Generaily, fluctuations in vessel utilization bave little effect on direct operating
costs in the short term and. as a result, direct operating costs as a percentage of revenue
may vary substantiafly due to changes in day rates and utilization.

In addition to direct operating costs, we incur fixed charges related to the depreciation of
our fleet and costs for routine drydock inspections and modifications deslgned to ensure
compliance with applicable regulations and maintaining certifications for our vessels with
various international classification societies. The number of drydockings and other repalrs
undertaken in 2 given period generally determines maintenance and repair expenses. The
demands of the market. the expiration of existing contracts, the start of new contracts, and
customer preferences influence the timing of drydocks,

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Consoli Financial and Notes to Consofi Financial Statements

contain information that Is pertinent to managements discussion and analysis. The prepara-

tion of financial statements y CAAP requires. to make e

ates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

any assets and liabilities. believes these accounting policies involve
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judgment due to the sensitivity of the methods, assumptions and estimates necessary in

determining the refated asset and iability amounts. We believe we have exercised proper
Jjudgment in determining these estimates based on the facts and clrcumstances available

to management at the time the estimates were made.

Alfowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our customers are primasily major and independent oil and gas companies, national oil
companies and oll service companies. Given our experience where our historical losses have
been insignificant and our belief that our related credit risks are minimal, our major and
independent oil and gas company and oil service company customers are granted credit
on customary business terms, Our exposure to forelgn government-owned and controlted

oil and gas companies. as well as companies that provide logistics. construction or other

may result in longer payment terms; however,

ur nt: ongoing basis and provide an allowance for
doubtful accounts in accordance with our written corporate poficy. This formalized policy
easures there is a critical review of our aged accounts receivable to evaluate the collectability
of our receivables and to establish appropriate allowances for bad debt. This policy states
that a reserve for bad debt is to be cstablished if an account receivable s outstanding a
‘'year or more. The amount of such reserve to be established by management is based on
the facts and circumstances relating to the particufar customer.

Historically, we have coliected appreciably all of our accounts receivable balances. In
2005, we wrote-off approximately $1.2 million deemed to be uncollectible. which primar-
ily represcnted one customer that had been included in the 2004 affowance for doubtful
accounts. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, we provided an allowance for
doubtful accounts of $0.4 million and $0.1 million. Additional allowances for doubtful ac-
counts may be necessary as a result of our ongoing assessment of our customers' abllity
10 pay, particutarly in light of deteriorating economic conditions, Since amounts due from
indi

ual customers can be significant, future adjustments to our allowance for doubtful
accounts could be material if one or more individual customer balances are deemed uncal-
lectible. If an account receivable were deemed uncollectible and alf reasonable coltection
efforts were exhausted. the bafance would be removed from accounts receivable and the

allowance for doubtful accounts.

Deferred Drydocking, Mobilization and Financing Costs

‘The costs associated with the periodic requirements of the various classification societies
requires vessels to be placed In drydock twice in a five-year period. Generally, drydocking
costs include refurbishment of structural components as well as major overhaul of operat-
ing equipment, subject to scrutiny by the relevant classification society. We expense these
costs as Incurred.

In connection with new long-term contracts. incremental costs incurred that directly refate

zation of a vessel from one reglon to another are deferred and recognized over the
primary contract term, Should the contract be terminated by either party prior to the end
of the contract term, the deferred amount would be immediately expensed. In contrast.
costs of refocating vessels from one reglon to another without a contract are expensed as
incurred,

Deferred financing costs are capitalized as incurred and are amortized over the expected
term of the related debt, Should the specific debt terminate by means of payment in full,
tender offer or lender termination. the associated deferred financing costs would be im-

mediately expensed,

Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill and Intangibles

Our long-lived tangible assets consist primarily of vessels and construction-in-progress,
Our goodwill primarily relates to the 2008 Rigdon Acquisition, the 200§ acquisition of Sea
Truck Holding AS and the 1998 acquisition of Brovig Supply AS., Our identifiable Intanglble

assets refates to the valtie assigned to customer relationships as a result of the Rigdon Ac-

guisition. The ination of impai f all long-lived assets, goodswill, and intangibles
is conducted when indicators of impairment are present and at least annwzally, for goodwill,
Impairment testing on tangible long-lived assets is performed on an asset-by-asset basis
and Impairment testing on goodwill is performed on a reporting-unit basis for the reporting
units where the goodwill is recorded.

The implied fair value of any assct or reporting unit is determined by discounting the

projected future operating cash flows or by u

g other fair value approaches based on a

multiple of earnings makes critical estimates and judgments to

determine projected future operating cash flow, particularly In regard to projected revenue
and costs. An impairment indicator is deemed to exist if the impied fair value of the asset
or reporting unit is fess than the book value.

For the years 2008, 2007. and 2006, we performed our impairment testing and determinied

there was no goodwill impai There are many imates undertying
the determination of the implied fair value of the reporting unit, such as future expected
wtilization and the average day rates for the vessels, vessel additions and dispositions,
operating expenses and tax rates. Although we believe our assumptions and estimates are
reasonable. deviations from our estimates by actual performance could result in an adverse

material impact on our results of operations. Examples of events or circumstances that

could give rise to an impai of an asset (includir i role d adverse

industry or economic changes: significant busi

that has the potential to dramatically reduce our earning potential: fegal isstres: or the loss

of key personnel.

Income Taxes
The majority of our non-US based operations are subject to forelgn tax systems that

provide significant incentives to qualified shipping activ

5. Our UK and Norway based
vessels are taxed under “tonnage tax” regimes while our qualified Singapore based vessels
are exempt from Singapore taxation through December 2017 with extensions available in
certain beyond 2017. The for. the

net tonnage weight of a qualified vessel. Ever with our mid-2008 entry into the US offshore

supply vessel market as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition, these forelgn tax beneficial

structures continued to result in a large portion of our earnings i Tawer
taxes than those that would apply If we were not a qualified shipping company in those

Jurisdictions.

In late 2007, v tonnage istati i
system which had been in effect from 1996 to 2006, and created a new tonnage tax system
from January 2007 forward. Excluding the ten year pay-out described below of Norwegian
taxes resulting from the repeat of the pre-2007 tonnage tax law, the tonnage tax reglmes
in the North Sea significantly reduce the cash required for taxes in that region. As a result
of this legislation, we are now required 10 pay the tax on the accumulated untaxed ship-
ping profits as of December 31, 2006 with two-thirds of the liability being payable in equal

installments over ten years, while the remaini hird of the tax liability can be met over
fifteen years through qualified nvessels y
90% or greater owned subsi Any remaining portion of the envi of the

tiability at the end of fifteen years would be payable at that time. However, in January 2009

the Norwegian tax authority announced a change to the environmentat fund regulations
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under which the fifteen year payment period has been abolished with no mandatory time
limit on sepayment of the environmental portion of the liability. As of December 31, 2008,
our total US$ equivalent of the NOK liability for the repealed Norweglan tonnage tax was
$17.8 miflion. The first annual cash payment of $2,0 million was paid in 2008, the second
instaliment due in 2009 is classified on our balance sheet as current income taxes payable,
and the $16,5 million remainder is classified on our balance sheet as Other income taxes
payable, OF this amount, $10.2 milfion is payable over eight years and $6.3 million is the
one-third environmental portion of the total liability, which we expect will be fully expended
in accordance with the regulations and related rules and guidelines. The abolishment of the
payment period time limit eliminates the $6.3 million tax liability, which will be recorded
as a credit to our tax provision in 2009,

Substantially all of our tax provision is for taxes unrefated to our exempt Singapore based
and United Kingdom and Norway tonnage tax gualified shipping activities. Should our
operational structure change or should the Jaws that created these shipping tax regimes
change, we could be required to provide for taxes at rates much higher than those cur-
rently reflected In our financlal statements, Additionally, If our pre-tax earnings in higher
tax jurisdictions increase, there could be a significant increase in cur annual effective tax
rate, Any such increase could cause volatility in the comparisons of our effective tax rate
from period to period,

U.S. foreign tax credits can be carried forward for ten years. We have $3.0 million of such
foreign tax credit carryforwards that begin to expire in 2009, A valuation aflowance has been
established against the full amount of these credits less the tax benefit of the deduction.
We also have certain foreign net oparating foss carryforwards that result in net deferced tax
assets of approximately $2.5 million for which we have established a valuation allowance.
We have considered estimated future taxable income in the relevant tax jurisdictions to
utllize these tax credit and loss carryforwards and have considered what we belleve to be
ongoing prudent and feas|ble tax planning strategles in assessing the need for the valuation
allowance. This information is based on estimates and assumptions including projected
taxable income, If these estimates and refated assumptions change in the futare, or if we
determine that we would not be able to realize other deferred tax assets in the future, an
adjustment to the valuation allowance would be recorded In the perlod such determination
was made.

Effective January 1, 2008, Mexico legislated a new revenue based tax, which in effect

creates an alternative minimum tax payable to the extent that the new revenue based tax
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exceeds the current income tax liability. The newly enacted tax rates are as follows: 16.5%

for 2008, 17% for 2009 and 17.5% for 2010 and beyond.

In 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, "Accounting for Uncertalaty In Income Taxes — an in-
tespretation of FASB Statement No, 109", FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recagnized under SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a more likely than not, or
greater than S0% probability. recognition threshold and criterla for measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. On January 1, 2007, we adopted
FIN 48. Numerous factors contribute to our evaluation and estimation of our tax positions
and related tax liabilities and/or benefits, which may be adjusted periodically and may

ultimately be resolved differently than we anticipate. FIN 48 also provides guidance on

Interest and penalties. accounting in interlm

riods, discl it we continue ize income tax related
penalties and interest in our provision for Income taxes and, to the extent applicable. in the
corresponding batance sheet presentations for accrued income tax assets and liabilities,
including any amounts for uncertain tax positions.

See also Note 1 “Nature of Operations and Summasy of Significant Accounting Policles
— Income Taxes™ and Note 6 “Income Taxes” to our "Consolidated Financial Statements™

included in Part Il. Item 8.

Commitments and Contingencies
We have contingent tiabilities and future claims for which we have made estimates of the
amount of the eventual cost to liquidate these liabilities or claims. These liabilities and

claims may involve actual litigation where d: have not been specifically

quantified but we have made an assessment of our exposure and recarded a provision in
our accounts for the expected loss. Other claims or liabilities. including those related to
taxes In forelgn jurlsdictions, may be estimated based on our experience In these matters
and, where appropriate, the advice of outside counsel or other outside experts. Upon the
ultimate resolution of the uncertainties surrounding our estimates of contingent liabilities
and future claims, our future reported financial results will be impacted by the difference, iF
any, between our estimates and the actual amounts paid to settle the fiabilities. In addition
10 estimates related to litigation and tax liabilities, other examples of liabllities requiring
estimates of future exposure include contingencies arising out of acquisitions and dives-
titures. Our contingent liabilities are based on the most recent information available to us

regarding the nature of the exposure. Such exposures change from period to period based

upon updated relevant facts and circumstances, which can cause the estimate to change.
In the recent past, our estimates for contingent fiabilities have been sufficient to cover the

actual amount of our exposure.

Multi-employer Pension Obligation

Certain of our subsidiaries participate in an industry-wide, multi-emplayer. defined benefit
pension fund based in the U.K.. known as the Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund, or
MNOPF, with a requirement to perform an actuarlat study every three years. In 2005, we were
informed of an estimated £234.0 million. the equivalent of $459.2 million, total fund deficit
calculated by the fund's actuary based on the actuary study of 2003, Under the direction
of a court order, the deficit was to be remedied through future funding contributions from
all participating employers. The resufts of the 2006 actuarial study were communicated in
the third quarter 2007 Indicating a further £151.0 million, or equlvalent of $305.9 million,
tota) deficit, witich will also be required to be funded by the participating employers.

In 2005, we received invoices from the MNOPF for $1.8 miffion. which represents the
amount calculated by the fund as our current share of the deficit, Under the terms of the
invoice, we paid $0.3 million during 2005 with the remaining due in annual installments
over nine years. Accordingly, we recorded the full amount of $1.8 million as a direct oper-
ating expense in 2005 and the $1.5 milfion remaining obligation is recorded as a liability.
During 2006 and the first half of 2007, we paid $0.2 miflion and $0.3 million, respectively,
against this Habllity with the understanding that the amount of our ultimate share of the
deficit could change depending on future actuarial valuations and fund calculations, which
are due to occur every three years,

At the beginning of 2007, we were advised that there was £25 million unpaid on this bat-
ance, and our share of the contribution was approximately $0.3 million to be pald over the
next nine years. This amount was booked as a direct operating expense and a llabllity in the
first quarter of 2007. In the third quarter 2007, we received invoices from the MNOPF for
£0,9 million, or the cquivalent of approximately $1.7 million, for our share of the calculated
deficit based on the 2006 valuation, which we have recorded as a direct operating expense
and corresponding liability in the third quarter of 2007.

in 2008, we paid $0.3 million against the ability, We have not adjusted our ability to
reflect future contributions that might be needed as a result of the fund calculations that will
‘be completed in the first quarter of 2009, Although it is anticipated that an increase may be

necessary based on an anticipated reduction in the return on the fund's assets caused by the

world economic downturn, currently a reasonable amount canaot be estimated, therefore,
no adjustment has been made.
There currently is no provision within the MNOPF to refund excess contributions, which,

if it were to occur in future evaluations. would be anticipated to be adjusted against the

remaining liability. Therefore, as the tesms of the we plan to pay
the liability over eight annual installments. with applicable interest charges. Our share of
the fund’s deficit is dependent on a number of factors including future actuarial valuations,
the number of participating employers, and the final method used In allocating the required

contribution among participating employers,

C i d Results of

Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2008
and December 31, 2007

Our revenue increased from $306.0 million in 2007 o $411.7 million i 2008, or 34.5%,
mainly as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition that occurred in the third quarter of 2008,
coupled with additions to the flect, with four vessels dellvered to the Southeast Asla region,
and the full year effect of the two vessels added in the North Sea, The additions are offset
in part by the sale of five vessels in 2008. two in the North Sea and three in Southeast Asia.
coupled with the full year effect of three vessels sold in late 2007, all In Southeast Asla, For
the year ended December 31, 2008. net Income was $183.8 miltion, or $7.56 per diluted
share, compared to §99.0 million, or $4.29 per diluted share in fiscal year 2007.

On July 1, 2008, we acquired 100% of the equity interest of Rigdon, which is now consid-
ered part of the Americas operating segment. In 2008, primarlly as a result of the Rigdon
Acquisition. the Amerlcas reglon revenue increased by $84.7 million, which accounted for
80% of the overall increase in revenue,

Overall utilization increased from 93.2%in 2007 to 94,25 in 2008, which contributed $3.6
million to the increase in revenue, Offsetting the positive impact to the increase in revenue
was the strengthening of the US$ against the GBP and the decrease in day rates in the North
Sea.
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Direct operating expenses increased $35.5 million in 2008 when compared to 2007, This increase was mainly to the increase in vessels as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition and the defivesy of

P new vessels throughout the year. Drydock expense decreased by $1.3 million from 2007 to 2008. General and administrative expenses increased $7.9 million from 2007 to 2008. and deprecia-
Increase

2008 2007 {Decrease)
(Dollars in thousands)

tlon expense increased by $13.7 million from 2007 to 2008. The increase In general and administrative and depreciation expense was due mainly as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition coupled
with higher salary, bonus and employee benefits, The gain on sale of assets of approximately $34.8 million relates to the sale of five vessels: the North Fortune. North Crusader, Sem Valiant. Sea
Diligent, and Sea Eagle.

Average Rates Per Day Worked (a) (b:

Interest expense increased $6,4 million from 2007 due niainly to the increase in debt incurred and assumed as part of the Rigdon Acquisition, The decrease in interest income of $1.7 million

North Sexchased fieer(c) | A EBNAE R SRAIR0S R 11.289) relates to less interest earned on lower cash batances conpled with lower interest rates in the second half of 2008, Other income of $1.6 million was mainty related to a prior year refund of sales
Southeast Asta-Based Fleet V7723 10276 G taxes offset by the foreign currency movements throughout 2007,
Americas;Based Fleet , 16,567 11,386 581

Income tax expense for 2008 was $11,7 million, compared to $30.2 milfion for 2007, The 2007 effective tax rate of 23.39% was mostly the reslt of the impact of the tax law changes in Norway
Overall Utilization (@) (b):
. I ; . . and Mexico enacted in 2007, Excluding the tax expense refated to the Norway and Mexico fegislative changes, the 2007 effective tax rate would have been 2.0%. For 2008, the effective tax rate
North Sea-Based Fleet () - 94.6%. g2.8% 8%
¢ g was 6.0%. The increase from the prior year period excluding the tax expense related to the Norway and Mexico leglslative changes is primarlly the result of the Rigdon Acquisition along with a

Southeast Asia-Based Fleet 94.5% 93.3% 1.2% . " iabilitie i I
¢ . . . i . . : provision for uncertain tax Yiabilities in a foreign Jurisdiction.

Americas-Based Fleet Lo . - 93.4% 94.9% 1%y

Average Owned or Chartered Vossels (a) (@):
P is i 3 .

North Sea-Based Fleet : X . 272 2838 (1.6} Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006

Southeast Asia-Based Fleet 130 12,0 Lo

Americas-Based Fleet 193 6.0 133 Our cevenue increased from $250.9 miflion in 2006 to $306.0 million in 2007, or 22%, mainly as 3 result of continued increased activity in both the North Sea and Southeast Asla regfons, and
Total 59.5 46.8 12.7 additions to the fleet, with four new buitd vessels delivered during 2007 and the full year effect of two new build vessels delivered during 2008, offset in part by the sale of four older vessels in

the year. For the year ended December 31, 2007, net income was $99.0 million, or $4.29 ger diluted share, compared to $89.7 million. or $4.28 per diluted share in 2006,

fa)  Includes alfl owned or bareboat chartered vessels. Managed vessels are not included. Continued strength in the North Sea and Southeast Asia markets accounted fos the majority of the year over year increase in day rates, The addition of two technically advanced vessels in both

(b)  Average rates per day worked is defined as total charter revenue divided by number of days worked. Gverall utilization rate the North Sea and Southeast Asia in 2007 and two additions in Southeast Asia in 2006 impacted our financial results. The Americas day rates increased even with the impact of the return of the

is defined as the total number of days worked divided by the total number of days of avallability In the period. _ North Stream from Brazil back to the North Sea In the middle of 2006, as that vessel, temporarlly working in the Americas, had been contracted at a higher average day rate than the smailer ves-
(<) Revenue for vessels in our North Sea fleet are primarily earned in GBP, NOK and Euros, and have been converted to U.S. sels which are more cammon In this reglon,
Dollars at the average exchange rate (USS/GBR. US$/NOK and US$/Euro) for the pertods Indicated below. The North Sea Our North Sea and Southeast Asia segions experienced significant increases in revenue year over year, while our Americas region revenue experienced a slight decrease. The overall improvement

based fleet also Includes vessels working offshore India, offshore Africa and the Mediterranean,

in revenue resulted primarlly from a $40.1 million increase in day rates principally attributable to Improved market conditions and stronger exploration and development activities, an increase
in capacity of $5.4 million mainty due to vessel additions, and §17.7 million attributable to the strengthening of the GBP and NOK against the USS, partially offset by a $8.1 million decrease in
utilizatlon, due to Increased drydock days In 2007 :

$1 Us~GBP 0541 0.500
$1.US=NOK O ; 5580 $.844.
$1 US=Euro 0.681 0.730

() Adjusted for vessel additions and dispositions occurring during each period.
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Increase
2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
Average Rates Per Day Worked (a) (b):
North Sea-Based Fiéet (6). s 24,020 s is18e s 4956
Southeast Asia-Based Fleet 10,276 7,062 3.214
“AmericasBased Fleet i ; n.386 11,014 PO U7
Overall Utilization (a) (b):
Noith Sea-Based Fleet () : . 92.8% 94.9% ; %
Southeast Asia-Based Fleet 93.3% 92.3% 1.0%
Amenicas-Based Fleey . RS 94,0% 96,0% 0.1%
Average Owned or Chartered Vessels (a) (c):
North Sea-Based Fléet - e - 288 304 ({E)
Southeast Asia-Based Fleet 12.0 1.7 0.3
Américas-Based Fleet . . - © . 80 S 64 10.4)
Total 46.8 485 .7)

(@ Includes all owned or bareboat chartered vessels. Managed vessels are not included.

{6} Average rates per day worked is defined as total charter revenue divided by number of days worked. Overall utilization rate is defined as the total number
of days worked divided by the total number of days of availability in the period.

Q) Revenue for vessels in our North Sea flect are primarily earned in GBR, NOK and Euros, and have been converted to U.S. Dollars at the average exchange
rate (US$/GBR, USS/NOK and US$/Euro) for the periods indicated below, The North Sea based fleet includes vessels working offshore India, offshore Africa
and the Mediterranean.

2007 2006
$1 Us=GoP 0.500 0.543
Y UseOK ; 5844 6406
$1 US=Euro 0.730 0.796

@ Adjusted for vessel additions and dispositions occurring during each period.

Direct operating expenses increased $16.5 million in 2007 when compared to 2006. This increase was mainly due to vessel additions throughout 2007 coupted with salary and travel costs
related to more vessels operating in locations that are distant from our regional offices and incentives. Drydock expense increased by $3.6 million from 2006 to 2007 as a result of more drydock

days for the fleet. Ceneral and administrative expenses increased $7.8 million from 2006 to 2007, largely related to higher salary, bonus and employee benefits, Depreciation expense increased
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by $2.2 million from 2006 to 2007 due mainly to fleet additions partially offset by the sale of assets, The gain on sale of assets of approximately $12.2 miltion in 2007 relates to the sale of our
four older vessels throughout the year,

Interest expense decreased $7.7 milfion as we pald off our revolving credit facility, coupled with higher capltalized interest recorded in 2007. The increase in Interest income of $1.9 million relates
10 the interest earned on higher cash balances throughout the year resulting from higher sales. Additionally, the other expense of $0.3 million was mainly related to foreign currency movements
throughout 2007,

Income tax expense for 2007 was $30.2 million, compared to $3,1 million for 2006, The 2007 effective tax rate of 23,39% was mostly the result of the impact of the tax law changes in Norway
and Mexico enacted in 2007 and 2007 activities that were not UK and Norway tonnage tax qualified shipping operations. Excluding the tax expense related to the Norway and Mexico legislative

changes, our 2007 cffective tax rate would have been 2,0%. For 2006, the effective tax rate was 3.3%. In addition, our tax provision can fluctuate significantly based on the mix of vessels working

Segment Results

As discussed in “General Business” Included In Part |, Items 1 and 2, we operate three operating segments: the North Sea, Southeast Asla and the Americas, each of which is consldered a report-
able segment under SFAS No, 131, The majority of our revenue is derived from our long-fived assets focated in foreign jurisdictions. In 2008, we had $72.5 million in revenue and $593.0 million
in long-fived assets attributed to the United States, our countyy of domicile.

Management evaluates segment performance primarily based on operating income. Cash and debt are managed centrally, and since the reglons do not manage those items, the gains and losses
on foreign currency remeasurements associated with these items are excluded from operating income. Gain on the sale of assets for prior periods has been reclassified to operating income to
conform with the current year presentation, Management considers segment operating income to be a good indicator of cach segment's operating performance from its continuing operations,

because it represents the results of the ownership interest in operations without regard to financing methods ot capital structures. Each segment's operating income is summarized in the following

table, and further detailed in the following paragraphs.

dment Year nc
2008 2907 2006
(in thousands)
North Sea $ 126.486 $ 110679 S 100,909
SoutheastAsta 1L e B : : : 62,447 35.858 14,998
Americas 38,344 5,136 4,100
‘M!'mpomblt segment operating ificome : SRR 227277 2151,673 120,007
Other 0514 (17,404) 12,746)
Total réportable segment and other dperating income E . 7'$.7206.763 $. 134,269 §.107,261
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Horth Sea Region

car Unded December 31

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue $ 226,124 S 241,664 3 199,368
Direct operating expenses ; E 86,445 88,277 B 71,245
Brydock expense 8.237 10,369 6.446
Géneral and administrative expense 1,414 12,439

Depreciation and amortization expense 22,623 24,914

Gain.on sale of assets - Tl H8.080) {5.014}.

Operating income $ 126,486 s 110,679 s

Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007

Revenue for the North Sea of $226,1 million in 2008 decreased §15.5 million or 6.4% compared to 2007, primarily due to the strengthening of the .5, Dollar against the GBP and NOK which
reduced revenue by $9.9 million. In addition the decrease in the average day rate from $24,120 in 2007 to $22,837 in 2008, also contributed $3.3 million to the decrease in revenue, Capacity for
the region also decreased by $5.5 milfion mainly due to the sale of two ofder vessels, which occurred In 2008, the fulb year effect of the mobilization of the Highland Drummer to the Southeast
Asia region in the second quarter of 2007, and the mobilization of the Highland Piper to the Americas region in the first quarter of 2008. This was partially offset by the full year effect of the
delivery of two new vessels, Mighland Prestige and North Promise into the region in late 2007. Partially offsetting these decreases was an increase in utilization from 92.8% in 2007 to 94.8% in
2008, resulting in a revenue increase of $3.2 million, Operating income increased by $15.8 million, primarily as a result of the gain on sale of two of the regions older vessels the North Fortune
and theNorth Crusader , offset by the decrease in revenue. Direct operating expenses year over year were lower by §1.8 miflion due mainly to lower employees benefits resulting from the 2007
UK. pension adjustment, Drydock expense was also lower by $2.1 million resulting mainly from Jower drydock days. Depreciation expense decreased by §2.3 million resulting mainly from the

sale of the vessels, General and administrative expense decreased by $1.0 million due to lower salaries and fower professional fees.

Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006

Revenue for the North Sea of $241.7 million In 2007 increased $42.3 million or 21% compared to 2006, primarily due to a 26% Increase in the average day rate from $19,164 in 2006 to $24,120
in 2007. and contributed $54.3 million to the increase in revenue, Utilization decreased from 94.9% in 2006 to 92.8% in 2007, resultiag in a revenue decrease of $7.7 million, Capacity for the
region also decreased by $4.3 million mainly due to the sale of two older vessels which occurred in late 2006 and early 2007 and the mobilization of the Highland Drummer from the North Sea
1o the Southeast Asia region in the second quarter of 2007, This was partially offset by the delivery of two new vessels, Highland Prestige and North Promise , into the region. Operating income
increased by $9.8 million, primarily as a resuft of the improvement in revenue, offset by an increase in direct operating expenses year over year of $20.2 million resulting from increased crew
wages, benefits, travel and U.K. penslon adjustment, as well 2s a $3.9 million increase In drydock expense. Depreciation expense also increased by $3.2 million from year to year related principally

to the new vesset additions, The gain on the sale of vessels in 2007 was lower by $5.2 million compared ta 2006.
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Southeast Asta Regron: Year Fnded December 31

2008 2007 2006

(In thousands)

Revenue 3 77.851 s 41,257 s 27,385
Direct opérating expenses : ' el 12,509 6946 6445
Drydock expense 250 1.832 1,775
General aind adininistrative expense o : 2193 s . 1613
Depreciation and amortization expense 6,170 2,657 2,554
Gilin on sale of asséts: . y ©(8,718) (7,154} -
Operating income 3 62,447 $ 35,858 S 14,998

Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008 and Decembey 31, 2007

Southeast Asia region reventte increased by 9% or $36.6 million, to $77.9 millin in 2008, compared to $41,3 million in 2007. Capacity contributed $35.4 million to the revenue increase due to
the three new deliveries in 2008 of the Sea Apache . Sea Kiowa and Sea Choctaw . coupled with the full year effect of the Sea Cheyenne and Sea Supporter delivered in the fourth quarter of
2007 and the positive Impact of the full year effect of the mobilization into the region of the Highland Drummer In 2007 and the North Crusader in 2008, both from the North Sea. Utilization
also contributed $0.8 million to the increase in revenue increasing from 93.3% in 2007 to 94.5% in 2008. The positive contribution to revenue was offset by the sale of three older vessels. the Sem
Valiant . Sea Diligent and Sea Eagle . Day rates contributed $0.4 million to the improvement in sevenue, increasing from an average day rate of $10,276 in 2007 to $17.723 in 2008. Operating
income increased $26.6 million year over year, primarily as a result of the increase in revenue offset by the increase in direct operating expense as a result of the net additions to the fleet, General

and administrative cost increased S1.} million from 2007 as a result of higher salaries and benefits and an increase in bad debt expense.
Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006

Southeast Asia region revenue increased by S1% or $13.9 million, to $41.3 million in 2007, compared to 2006, Capacity contributed $9.8 million to the revenue increase due to the full year effect
of the 2006 delivery of the Sea Guardian and Sea Sovereign . the fourth quarter 2007 delivery of the Sea Supporter and Sea Cheyenne, and mobilization of the Highland Drummer into the
region from the North Sea, partially offset by the sale of the Sem Courageous . Sea Explorer.and Sea Endeavor In the second half of 2007. Day rates contributed $4.F million to the improvement
in revenue, increasing from an average day rate of $7.062 in 2006 to $10,276 in 2007, Operating income increased $20,9 million year over year, primarily as a result of the Increase in revenue

and a gain on the sale of the older vessels in 2007.
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2008 2007 2006
{In thousands)

Revenue s 107,765 s 23,105 s 24,468
Direct operating expenses | 44,972 13,163 14,185
Orydock expense 2,832 828
General and administrative éxpense s 6,769 1,176
Depreciation and amortization expense 14,860 3,879
Gain on sake of assets a2

Operating income

38,344

Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007

Revenue for the Americas region increased year over year by $§4.7 million, from $23.1 millicn in 2007 to $107.8 million in 2008, primarily as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition that occurred
July 1, 2008. The Rigdon Acguisition contributed $72.0 miffion or 85% to the increase in revenue. Afso contributing $10.8 million to the increase was the mobilization into the region of the High-
fand Piper from the North Sea and the Sea Kiowa from Southeast Asla, Excluding the vessels acquired as part of the Rigdon Acquisitlon, day rates increased from $11,386 in 2007 to $15,492
in 2008. contributing $2.3 million to the increase in revenue. Utiization, excluding the acquired vessels. decreased from 94.9% in 2007 to 89.2% in 2008, decreasing revenue by $0.4 miltion.
Operating income increased $33.2 million mainly as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition which contributed $30.2 million of the increase, the difference resulting in the incsease in revenue from the

non-acquired vessels, General and administrative expense increased by $5.3 million from year to year due mainly to the Rigdon Acquisition and higher salaries and benefit expense,

Comparison of Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006

Revenue for the Americas region decreased year over year by $1.1 million, from $24.2 million in 2006 to $23.1 million in 2007, primarily as a result of a $2.4 million in capacity loss from the
mobilization of a vessel out of the region in 2006, Overall utilization decreased from 96.0% in 2006 10 94,9% in 2007, which was offset by an increase in average day rates of $11,014 in 2006 to
$11,386 In 2007 contributing a net increase to revenue of $1.3 million. Even with the decreased revenue, operating income increased by $1.0 million due to lower operating expenses, drydock
expense and depreciation expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our ongolng liquidity requirements are generally associated with our need to service debt. fund working capital, maintain our fleet, finance our new build construction program, acquire o improve
equipment and make other Investments, We continue to be active In the acquisition of additional vessels through both the resale market and new consteuction. Bank financing, equity capital and
internally generated funds have historically provided funding for these activities. Internally generated funds are directly related to fleet activity and vessel day rates, which are generally dependent
upon the demand for our vessels which Is ultimately determined by the supply and demand for crude oil and natural gas.

New build commitments were approximately $92.3 million for 2008, and are approximately $113.0 million for 2009 and $57.3 million for 2030, interest expense at curent rates under our exist-
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ing debt arrangements, assuming no additionat draws, will be approximately $25 mifkion

for 2009, Minimum under our existing deb il b
$19 million for 2009. These amounts are anticipated o be paid by a combination of cash

on hand and cash from operations,

In addition, we are required to make i for the and mai f
our vessels, and those expenditures typically increase with age. We expect our drydocking
expenditures to be approxirately $19 million in 2009.

At December 31, 2008, we had approximately $100.8 million of cash on hand, approxi-
mately $90,7 million of borrowing capacity under our Revolving Loan Facility. and the ability
10 borrow approximately $34.3 milfion under our Sentor Facility upon the delivery of the
remaining crew boats and fast supply vessels currently under constructlon, It is currently
anticipated that excess cash on hand will be used to reduce borrowings in advance of their
stated maturitics.

We anticipate that cash on hand and future cash flow from operations for 2009 and 2010
wilf be adequate to repay our debts due and payable during such period, to fund our new
bulld commitments, to complete scheduled drydockings, to make normat recureing capital
additions and improvements and to meet operating and working capital requirements. This

expectation, however, Is dependent upon the success of our aperations.

Long-Term Debt

Revolvipg Loan Facility

We currently have a $175 million Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facility with a syndie
cate of financia institutions led by Den Norske Bank, or DNB, as agent, The multi-currency
facility is structured as follows: $25 million allocated to GulfMark Offshore, Inc.; $60 mitlion
allocated to Gulf Offshore NS, Limited, a wholly owned U,K. subsldiary: $30 million allocated
to GulfMark Rederi AS, a wholly owned Norwegian subsidiary; and $60 million allocated to
Gulf Marine Far East Pte Ltd., a wholly owned Singapore subsidiary. The facility matures in
June 2013 and the maximum availability begins to reduce in increments of $15,0 million
avery six months beginning in December 201 1. with a final reduction of $115.0 miflion in
June 2013, Security for the facility is provided by first priotity mortgages on certaln ves-
sels. The interest rate ranges from LIBOR plus a margin of 0.7% to 0.9% depending on our
EBITDA coverage ratio, During the second quarter of 2008 we borrowed approximatcly

$140.9 million under this facility to fund the cash portion of the Rigdon Acquisition and as

of December 31, 2008 have approximately $84,2 million borrowed under this facility.

Senior Notes
On July 21, 2004, we issued $160 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75% senior notes
due 2014, The 7.75% senior notes pay interest semi-annually on January 15 and July 15,

commencing January 15, 2005, and contain the following redemption provisions:

Prior to July 15, 2009, we may redeem alt or part of the 7.75% senior notes by paying
a make-whole premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest and. if any, liquidation dam-

ages.

The 7.75% senior notes may be called beginning on july 15 of 2009, 2010, 2011, and
2012 and thereafter at redemption prices of 103.875%, 102.583%, 101.292% and 100%

of the principal amount respectively plus accrued interest.

The 7.75% senior notes are general unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of
payment with all existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness and are senior (o all
future subordinated indebtedness. The 7.75% senior nates are effectively subordinated
1o all future secured obligations to the extent of the assets securing such obligations and

all existing and future and other obligations of our idiaries and trade

payables incurred in the ordinary course of business, Under certain circumstances, our
payment obligations under the 7.75% senlor notes may e jointly and severally guaranteed
on a senior unsecured basis by one or more of our subsidiaries.

The indenture, under which the 7.75% senior notes are issued. imposes operating and
financial restrictions on us, These restrictions affect, and in many cases fimit or prohibit,
among other things, our ability to incur additional indebtedness, make capital expenditures,
create Hens, sell assets and make cash dividends or other payments, We are currently In

compliance with all indenture covenants.

On July 1, 2008, in ion with the Rigdon Acquisition, we
the following:
Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement (“Senior Facility’}

The $224 million Senior Facility is with a syndicate of banks led by DVB Bank NV. as Agent.

The Senior Facllity matures on June 30, 2010. As of December 31, 2008, approximately

$153 mitlion was outstanding under the Senior Facility. The Senior Facility bears interest at
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the rate of LIBOR plus 125 basis points and is due at the rate of 0.833% per month of the ing princips h inni month after delivery of the vessel with a final payment
due on maturity. We have interest rate swap agreements for a portion of the Senior Faility indebtedness that has the effect of fixing the interest rate at 4.725% on approximately $98.3 million of
the Senior Facillty. The interest rate swaps are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

The Senior Facility is subject to financial covenants consistent with those of our Secured Reducing Revolving Credit Loan Facility, contains other customary covenants and events of default, and
is secured by a Preferred Fleet Mortgage on each vessel financed under the Senior Facility. Twenty-three vessels currently secure the Senior Facility. Additional fees will be due to the lenders if the

Senior Facility is not refinanced prior to December 31, 2009, At December 31, 2008 we were in compliance with all covenants,

ecured Credit Facility Agreement Fagifit)

The $85 million Subordinated Facility is solely provided by DVE Bank NV and is fully drawn. The Subordinated Facility bears interest at the rate of LIBOR plus 200 basis points and matures on
June 30, 2010. There are no scheduled principal repayments before the maturity date and no principal payments may be made until the Senior Facility is repaid in full.

The Subordinated Facility Is also subject to the same financial covenants as the Senlor Facifity and contains customary other covenants and events of default. The facility is secured by a Subor-
dinated Second Fleet Mortgage on 20 vessels and a subordination agreement which grants the Senior Facility lenders certain preferences over the Subordinated Facility lenders for payments of
principal and interest and in exercising remedies over the security interests held by them. Additional fees will be due to the lenders if the Subordinated Facility is not refinanced prior to Decem-

ber 31, 2009, At December 31, 2008 we were in compliance with alt covenants.

Current Year Cash Flow

At December 31, 2008, we had cash on hand of $100.8 million. Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $205.2 million compared to $128.6 million in
the previous year, The increase was primarily attributable to higher operating income primatily resulting from the Rigdon Acquisition coupled with improvement in Southeast Asia resulting from
the addition of new vessels.

Cash used In investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $186.8 million and $175.4 milllon, respectively, In 2008 and 2007, we sold assets. for approximately

$43,4 million and $15.8 million, respectively. The proceeds from these sales decreased the reported cash used in investing activities.

tn 2008, we provided $56.8 miltion in financing activities, compared to using $0.4 million in 2007, In 2008, we rcpaid $107.3 million debt that was borrowed and received proceeds from the ex-
ercise of stock options of $0.2 million, During 2007, we borrowed $20.3 million and repaid $21.1 million in debt, and received proceeds from the issuance of stock of approximately $0.9 million,

Debt and Other Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2008 and the effect these obligations are expected to have on liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in millions):

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter

Repayment of Long-Term Debt, Excludiny
Debt Discount of $0,6 million ¢ s 190 320 s - s - - s 1600
Purchase Obfigations for New:Build Program 1ino P - = e
Non-Cancelable Operating Leases 17 11 23
Long-Tem income Takes Payable 13 R ¥
Other 05 )
“Totat $ 7S s’ e 1664
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Dute to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of future cash payments, if any, associated with our unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2008, we are unable to make reasonably refiable
estimates of the period of cash setifements with the respective taxing authority. Therefore, $11.4 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been excluded from the contractual obligations table
above. Included above as Long Term Income Taxes Payable is our Habillty for Income taxes resulting from the repeal of the Norway tonnage tax law for the years 1996 — 2006 with nine annual
payments remaintng as of December 31, 2008. which is payable over ten years beginning in 2008, Refer to Note 6 “Income Taxes” in our “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement” included in
Part Il em 8,

Other Commitments

We execute letters of credit, performance bonds and other guarantees in the normal course of business that ensure our performance or payments to third parties. The aggregate notional value of

these instruments was $0.4 million and $1.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, All of these s have an tion date within the next year. In the past, no significant

claims have been made against these financial Instruments. Management believes the likelihood of demand for payment under these instruments is minimal and expects no materlal cash outlays

10 occur from these instruments.
Transactions with Related Parties

For Information regarding transactions with related parties. see Note 12 “Refated Party Transactions” In our “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™ included In Part I, Item 8.
Currency Fluctuations and Inflation

A majority of our operations are international; therefore we are exposed to currency fluctuations and exchange rate risks. Charters for vessels in our North Sea fleet are primarily denominated in
GBP, with a portion denominated in NOK or Euros, In areas where currency risks are potentially high, we normally accept only a small percentage of charter hire in local currency, with the remainder

paid in U.S, Doffars. Operating costs are substantially denominated in the same currency as charter hire in order to reduce the cisk of currency fluctuations. The North Sea fleet generated 55% of

our total consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31. 2008. In 2008, the exchange rates of GBR, NOK and Euros against the USS ranged as follows:

Asof

Hlah Year Average  _February 26, 2009
$1.Us=G8P . 0,692 ' 0.541 0.700
$1 US=NOK 7.287 5.580 6.960
$1 Usature 0:804 o681 0.786
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Our outstanding debt is denominated in U.S, Dollars. A substantial portion of our revenue
is generated in GBP. We have evaluated these conditions and have determined that it is not
in our interest to use any financlal Instruments to hedge this exposure under present congi-

tions. Our strategy is in part based on a number of factors including the following:

the cost of using hedging instruments in relation to the risks of currency

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K, pa y this ftem 71 Discussion and Analysls of Flnancial

Condition and Results of Operations™ and Part I, ltems 1 and 2 “Business and Properties”

contain certain forward-looking statements and other statements that are not historical

the propensity for adjustments in GBP-denominated vessel day rates over time to com-

pensate for changes In the purchasing powes of GBP as measured in U.S. Dollars;

the level of U.S. Dollardenominated borrowings available to us; and

the conditions in our U.S. Dollar-generating regional markets.

©One or more of these factors may change and. in response, we may begin to use financial

to hedge risks of currency . We will from time to time hedge known
frabilities denominated in fareign currencies to reduce the effects of exchange rate fluctua-

tions on our financial results, such as the fair value hedge associated with the

facts among other things, market conditions, the demand for matine support
and transportation services and future capital expenditures. Such statements are subject
to certaln risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including, without limitation, operational
risk, dependence on the oif and natural gas industry, volatility in oil and gas prices. delay
OF COSt overruns on construction projects or insolvency of the shipbuilders, ongoing capi-
tal i and

regulation, risks relating to compliance with the Jones Act. risks relating to leverage, risks
of forelgn operations, risk of war, sabotage or terrorism, assumptions concerning competi-

tion, and risks of currency fluctuations and other matters. These statements are based on

of vessels. See Part 1, ltems 1 and 2 “Business and Properties — New Vessel Construction
and Acquisition Program’, We do not use foreign currency forward contracts for trading or
speculative purposes,

Reflected in the accompanying balance sheet at December 31, 2008, is 2 ($17.2) million
accumulated other comprehensive income primarily relating to the lower exchange rate at
December 31, 2008 in comparlson 1o the exchange rate when we invested capital In these
markets. Accumulated other comprehensive income was $128.3 million at December 31,
2007. Changes in the accumulated other comprehensive income are non-cash items that
are primarily attributable to investments in vessels and U.S. Dolfar-based capitalization
between our parent company and our foreign subsidiaries. The current year change reflects.
the strengthening in the U.S, Dollar compared to the functional currencies of our major
operating subsidiaries. particularly in the UK. and Norway.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 1 "Nature of Operati d Sumemary of Signlficant i N

" in our *Notes to C Financial Statements” included
in Part W, Item 8.
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ert and analyses made by us in light of our experience and perception of
historical trends, current conditlons, expected future developments and other factors we

beli iate under the cis

Such statements are subject to risks and
uncertaintics, including the risk factors discussed above and in Part |, Item 1A "Risk Fac-
tors”, general ecoromic and business conditions. the business opportunities that may be
presented to and pursued by us, changes in faw or regulations and other factors, many of
which are beyond our control, There can be ro assurance that we have accurately Identl-
fied and properly weighed all of the factors which affect market conditions and demand
for our vessels, that the information upon which we have relied is accurate or complete,
that our analysis of the market and demand for our vessels is correct or that the strategy
based on such analysis will be successful. Important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from our expectations are dlsclosed within Part |, Item TA Risk Factors®,
this tem 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”, and Part |, Items 1 and 2 “Business and Properties” and elsewhere in this Form
10K,

ITEM 7A, Q itative and about
Market Risk

Financial Instruments

We are subject to financial market risks, including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates. In order to manage and mitigate our exposure to these fisks,
we may use derlvative financial Instruments in accordance with established pollcles and
procedures, At December 31. 2008. our derivative holdings consisted of foreign currency
forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements. Refer to Note | “Nature of Operations
and Summary of Slgnificant Accounting Policies—Fair Value of Financial Instruments™ In
our “Notes to Cansolidated Financial Statements” included in Part I, Item 8 for additional

information on financlal Instruments.
Foreign Currency Risk

The functional currency for the majority of our international operations Is that operation’s
local currency. Adjustments resulting from the transiation of the local functional currency
financial statements to the U.S. Dollar, which is based on current exchange rates, are in-
cluded in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity as a separate component of
“Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)". Working capital of our international
operations may in part be held or denominated in a currency other than the local currency.
and gains and loses resulting from holding those balances are included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations in “Other income (expense)” in the current period.

We operate in a number of international areas and are involved in transactions denominated

in currencies other than U,S, Dollars. which exposes us to forelgn currency exchange risk.

At various times we may utilize forward exchang  locat and
the payment structure of customer contracts to selectively hedge exposure to exchange rate
fluctuations in connection with monetary assets, liabifities and cash flows denominated in
certain foreign currency. Other information required under this item 7A has been provided
In Part I, Item 7 *Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financlal Condition and Results
of Operations — Currency Fluctuations and Inflation” and Part 1, items 1 and 2 “Business and

Properties — New Vessel Construction and Acquisition Program”. Other than trade accounts

receivable and trade accounts payable, we do not currently have financial instruments that
are sensitive to foreign currency exchange rates.

We transact business in various foreign currencies which subjects our cash flows and
earnings to exposure related 1o changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We attempt to
rmanage this exposure through operational strategies and not through the use of foreign
currency forward exchange contracts. We do not engage in hedging activity for speculative
or trading purposes.

We do hedge firmly committed, anticipated ions in the I of business

and these contracts ase designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. Changes in the fair

value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are deferred in the Consoli

Statements of Equity as a fC i

Comprehensive Income™ until the underlying transactions occur. At such time, the related
deferred hedging gains or losses are recorded on the same line as the hedged item.

Net foreign currency gains (losses), including derivative activity, for the years ended
December 31, 2008. 2007 and 2006 were (52.0) million, (52.03 million, and ($1.7) million,

respectively.

Interest Rates

We are and will be subject to market risk for changes in intecest rates related primarily to
ovr fong-term debt. The following table, which presents principal cash flows by expected
maturity dates and weighted average interest rates, summarizes our fixed and variable rate
debt obligations at December 31, 2008 and 2007 that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates. The Roating portion of our variable debt is based on LIBOR, which is assumed to be

3% for all periods presented.
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2000 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter

(In thousands)
2008 Long-tarm Dabt:
Fixed rate $ = s — s — $ — s — $ 160,000
Average Interest rate - * g 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7% 7.75%
Vaviah’le fate $ 18,969 $ 219,065 $ — $ — $ — s 84,250
Average interest rite e 4,30% a0 3.70% 3.70% 3.70% 3.70%
2009 2010 201 2012 2013 Thereafter
(in thousands)
2008 Notionst Valoer L
Interest Rate Swaps-Variable to Fixed S 98341 $ 85,201 s - 3 - $ - 3 -
Average pay.rate 472% 4.72% - el i -
Average receive rate 4.25% 4.25% -_ -_ -_— -

2008 2009 2010 2 Thereafier

(n thousands)
Fixed rate s —_— s — s - s — s — § 160,000
Riérage interest rate. : 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7:75% 2.75%

Our fixed rate Senior Notes outstanding at December 3, 2008 subject us to risks related to changes in the fair value of the debt and expose us to potential gains or losses if we were to repay
or refinance such debt. A 1% change in market interest rates would increase or decrease the fair value of our fixed rate debt by approximately $5.3 million.

The fair value of our 7,75% Senior Notes as compared to the carrying value at December 31, 2008 and 2007, was as follows:

ember 31

2008

(In mitlions)
7.75% Senior Notes due 2014 ’ $1596 . BEEE 1F X IO $159.6 51612

CuifMtark 2008 Annual Repore /1 44

ITEM 8. C d Fii it and y Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GulfMark Offshore, Inc, and its subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, comprehensive Income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. These consolidated financlal statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements are free of material An audit includes examining, on a test basls, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation, We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and its subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. and the consofidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year pericd ended December 31, 2008, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amerlca.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of GulfMark Offshore. Inc. and its subsidiaries’
internal controt over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008. based on criteria established in internal Cortrol—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 27, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion.

UHY LLP
Houston, Texas

February 27, 2009
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GuiMark Offshore, Inc. and its Subsidiaries:

We have audited GulfMark Offshore. Inc. and Its subsidiarles internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in  fnternal Controi—integrated

Framework issued by the Com

ee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). GulfMark Offshore. Inc, and its : is for
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial ceporting included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtaln reasonable assurance about whether cffective intemat control over financial reporting was maintained in all materlal respects. Our audit of internal control over financlal reporting tncluded
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal controi based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a rea-
sonable basls for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposltions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in with of and directors of the company: and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

1n our opinion, GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and its subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria

In Internal Control—t d issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited. in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the cansolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated state-
ments of income. stockholders’ equity, comprehensive income. and cash flows of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and its subsidiaries. and our report dated February 27. 2009 expressed an unqualified
opinion.

UHY LLP
Houston, Texas
February 27, 2009
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GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Curtint dssetse 0 .
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts feceivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of S408 in 2008 and 5149 142007
Other accounts reccivable
Prejil éxpbses wad other corrent astets
Total current assets
Vessels'and sauipment at eosh, el of accumulated depreciation of $182,283 1n 2008 and $218,342
Construction In progress

Fale value hedges
it of amortization of $1,442 (n'2008; "
Deferred costs and other assets.

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Curtent fiabities: g .
Current portion of fong-term debt

Atcoiints pivable:

Income taxes payable

“Accruvd personnef costs:

Accrued interest expense

Accniied profassional feas

Other acerued fiabilties

Total curren fiabilitias

Long-term debt
‘Long-ternt Income taxes:

Deferred tax llabillties

Income tax Rabifites’~ N 48 .

Other income taxes payable
Fabr valu hedges. "
Cash flow hedges
Other lbilies "L SRR . i T :
Stockholders’ cauity
" Preferéd'stdes, o par Valii 2,000 shares suthortzed; o sharés Issued

Gommon stock, $0.01 par value; 30,000 shares authorized; 25,355 and 22,983 shares Issued
‘Additional pald-n capital” . '\ win
Retained carnings.
Accumiolated 68, comprehénsive incarme Goss)
Treasury stock, at cost
Dafarred eomperisation expeise

Total stockholders’ equity

Toul labikities and stockholdets! equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2008

(In thousands)

336.846

$ 83012
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GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Year Ended D

200

200

(in thousands, except per share amount)
e $ A L § 250921 un thous )
Costs and expenses: ! B . ke

Common Accumulated Troasury Stock
Direct operating expenses 143,925 108,386 91,874 sSl'ot‘k at Addini ' ined OII:‘QI . sh Defen«lh s :;“[l‘
v 0.01 Par ional Retaine Comprehensive are ‘Compensation tockhotders’
Drydock expense 11319 12,606 R 9,043 Value Paid-in Capital  Earnings Income (loss)  Shares Value Expense Equity
Bareboat charter expenses - - - Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 202 $ 125177 $ 53,004 s 41713 16 s @017 s 2,007 S 320,096
‘General and-adminlstrative expanses. : 40244 2 24:504 Nk incdime 4 i : P 58,728 & = R aanciy 89,720
Depreciation 30,623 28,470 Issuance of common stock 21 79,148 - - - - - 79.369
Gain‘on sale‘of assets 12,169 10,237 Exercisa of stock options. . ps €61 o s - ; = 563
Total costs and expenses . 143,660 Deferred compensation plan - - - - [e2) 995) 995 -
Operating Income 107,261  Translation adjustment : = — EeONERERTAEL 1 I/ (I - ~. = s
Other Income fexpense): . Balance at December 31, 2006 s 225 S 204.986 s 242,733 s 93.484 (150} s G012 s 3012 5 541,428
Interekt expense S ’ : 014201 : 023 {5,648 *Netinéomc” . - “ L 98,975 = ) Sl Y ggers
Interest income 1,446 3,147 1,263 \ssuance of common N 4.476 _ — — _ Z 4477
 Forelgn currency gain (oss) and othér. P Cne08 S (298) : 195) Exercise of Stock Sptions i 1542 0 - — - R R L1
Total other expense i 011.236) 5.074) (14.480) Deferred compensation plan - - - - @2 (1.188) 894 294
Tncome from contintsing eperation's I St ' T I 129,195 92,781 NS : = S Waes 9 o L RS ey
Incame tax proviston 11.743) (30,220) 3.052) Transtation adjustment — — _ 34824 — — 34824
Net income $/_183,784 98,97 89,729 Balance st December 31,2007 $227 $.7210,004 . § 336,846 $7128.308 (72) IS 42000 $3906 S 676,097
Earnings per share: . Net income — — 183,784 - - - - 183.784
Basic ;. . : $ 7.74 LA 5L b 440 tssuarice of commion stock. S i Hesy i S - = = 139,779
Oiluted R $ 7.56 s e $ 428 Excecise of stock options 1 2,082 - - - - - 2.083
Welghted avérage shires sutstanding: g Defetred compensation plan . - - S R @9 (2,652 1,223 (1,429)
Basic 23,737 22,435 20,377 .
e , . m—t? Gain (Loss) on cash flow hedge ) - . - - (6,062) - - - (6.062)
Dituted.” s, : 24,319 Translation adjustrent’, - -\ it = P (139,403) — - = (139.403)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 250 § 352,843 § 520,630 s_azisn @i s (685 S 5020 § 854843

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Decemb;

2007
{in thousands)

Gash flows from operating activities:

@n thousands) Netincome ok L f $ 183,784 $. 98,975 s 89,720
Net income s 183784 s 98,975 s 89,729 Adjustments to reconcile net income from
‘operations to net cash provided by operations
Comprefianihve ifcome: Depraciation . Sh : ; . 44,300 30,623 28,470
Gain {Loss) on cash flow hedge - -~ Amartization of deferred financing costs 7 704 903
3 Amortization of stock-based compensation ! . e 5,853 a2 1,969
Foreign cureney gin oss) s LB, Prowision for douutulaccounts ecevibl, o o
“Total comprehensive Income s $ 133,799 H et of write-offs S
Deferved ircéme tax provision (Benefity 5 . 7285 : 454 § @397
Gain on sale of assets G481 (12.169) 0,239
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. Forelgn ctfrency iransaction 1655 : - : : 323 1273 : 1277
Change in operating assets and liabilities —
Accounts receivatile’ : (663 . $30,013) : 11,068
Prepaids and other 1,095 (349) 159
" Aceobnits payable s i L E #8259 36860 Lo ey
Other accrued Habilities and other 9,382 7.863 4,739
Norweglian Incore taxes payables . ‘©007) 23,602 N Snad
Net cash provided by operating activitles 205,201 128,577 104,869
Cash'fiows from investing activities: g : * T ;
Purchases of vessels and equipment (108.626) (191,158} (47.4566)
Proceeds. froin disposition of ediipment ’ 43,432 Toszrs 19,166
Cash received with acquisition of business 31,028 -— m—
. Conslderation paid for.acauired bissiness _as2621) = =
Net cash used in investing activities. | . . (IBG,TBU . (175,383) {28.300)
Cash:Rows from financing'dctivities: : - .
Proceeds from debt, net of direct financing costs 163,399 20,257 80,794
, Répayrnenits of debe g g . : o iier,291) 21,108y (179,265
Proceeds from exerclse of stock options 163 852 663
Procdeds fom issuanceof stock . v, : 483 368 77,120
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 56,754 37 T o679
Effect of echange rate changes on‘cash. " " i a3y 3,793 2,679
Netincrease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 60,642 @2.640) 58,569
Cash'and cash eqiivakents at begiining of year: .~ y : 40,19 : 82,759 24:190
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 100,761 s 40,119 s 82,759
Supplemental cash fiow information: : R
Interest paid, net of interest capltalized s 12,59

Income takes paid, net

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "we'. "us”, “our”
or the "Company”) own and operate offshore support vessels, principally in the North Sea,
offshore Southeast Asia, and offshore the Americas. The vesseis provide transportation of
materials, supplies and personnel to and from offshore platforms and drilling rigs. Some

of these vessels also perform anchor handling and towing services.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consalidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our majority-

owned All significant pany accounts and have been

eliminated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the Unlted States of America requlres us to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and.
fiabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. The accompanying consolidated financial statements.
include significant estimates for allowance for doubtful accounts receivable. depreciable
lives of vessels and equipment, valuation of goodwill, Income taxes and commitments and
contingencies. While we believe current estimates are reasonable and appropriate, actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Our investments, conslsting of .5, Government securities and commercial paper with
original maturities of up to three months. are included in cash and cash equivalents in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of cash flows.

CuifMark 2008 Annual Report 24 S2

Vessels and Equipment

Vessels and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation, which is
provided by the straight-line method over their estimated useful fife of 25 years for all
vessels other then crew boats which are depreciated over 20 years. Interest is capitalized
in connection with the construction of vessels. The capitalized interest is Included as part
of the asset to which it relates and is depreciated over the asset’s estimated useful life. In
2008, 2007, and 2006. interest of $8.5 million, $6.2 million, and $2.4 million respectively,

was capltalized. Offi furnite d fixtures, and vehicl over

two to five years.
Major renovation costs and modifications that extend the life or usefulness of the re-

lated assets are capitalized and depreciated over the assets’ estimated remalning useful

s. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Included in the consolidated
statements of operations for 2608, 2007 and 2006, are $16.7 million, $14.0 million. and

$11.8 million, respectively, of costs for maintenance and repairs.

Coodwill and Intangibles

Goodwill primarily refates to the 2008 Rigdon Acquisition, the 2001 acquisition of Sea
Truck Holding AS, and the 1998 acquisition of Brovig Supply AS. In accordance with State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS") No, 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” goodwill is tested for impairment using a fair value approach, at least annually.
Management performed the required impairment testing and determined that there have
been no Impairments of goodwill during the years presented.

Our identifiable intangible asscts are related to the value assigned to customer relation-
ships as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition and will be amortized over a 12 year period,
They will be reviewed for impairment when circumstances indicate their value may not be
recoverable based on a comparison of fair value to carrying value. See Note 4 for further

discussion related to the company’s identifiable intangible assets.

Fair Value of Financial instruments

As of December 31, 2008, our financlal instruments consist primarily of long-term debt,
faiirvalue hedges assoclated with firm contractual commitments for future vessel payments
denominated in a foreign currency and interest rate swaps for a portion of the Senior

Fac

The forward contracts are designated as fair valite hedges and are highly effective, as the
terms of the forward contracts are the same as the purchase commitments under the new
build contract. Additionally, during August 2007, we entered into a serles of forward currency
contracts relative to future milestone payments for six Keppel vessels under construction
and two Aker Yard vessels in progress. Any gains or losses resulting from changes in fair
value were recognized in income with an offsetting adjustment to income for changes in the
fair value of the hedged item such that there was no net impact on the statement of opera-
tion. As of December 31, 2008, the consolidated bafance sheet has “Fair value hedges™ on
both the assets and fiabilities sections reflecting the change in the fair value of the foretgn
currency contracts and purchase commitments,

The Interest rate swap agreements are for a portion of the Senlor Facility indebtedness
that has fixed the interest rate at 4.725% on approximately $98.3 million of the Senior
Facility. The Interest rate swaps are accounted for as cash flow hedges. We report changes
in the fair value of the cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive income. The
consolidated balance sheet also contains “Cash flow hedges” on the liability section reflect-

ing the falr value of the interest rate swaps.

Deferred Costs and Other Assets

Deferred costs and other assets consist primarily of deferred financing costs and deferred
vessel mobilization costs. Deferred financing costs are amortized over the expected term
of the related debt. Should the debt for which a deferred financing cost has been recorded
terminate by means of payment in full, tender offer or lender termination, the associated
deferred financing costs would bie immediately expensed.

In connection with new long-term contracts, costs incurred that directly relate to mobili-
zation of a vessel from one region to another are deferred and recognized over the primary
contract term, Should elther party terminate the contract prio to the end of the original
contract term, the deferred amount would be immediately expensed. Costs of relocating

wvessels from one region to another without a contract are expensed as incurred.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from charters for offshore marine services Is recognized as performed based on
contractual charter rates and when collectability is reasonably assured, Currently, chaster
terms range from several days to as long as 10 vears in duration. Management services

revenue is recognized In the period In which the services are performed.

income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Ac-
counting for Income Taxes.” We recagnize deferred tax assets and labillties for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or
tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
the difference between the financlal statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets
and liabilities using enacted tax rates and laws in effect in the years in which the differences
are expected 1o reverse, The likelihood and amount of future taxable Income and tax plan-
ning strategies are included in the criteria used to determine the timing and amount of tax
benefits recognized for net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the consolidated
financial statements.

In 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an inter-
pretation of FASE Statement No. 109." FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized under SFAS No. 109, FIN 48 prescribes a more likely than not, o
greater than 50% probability, recognition threshold and criteria for measurement of a tax
posltion taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. On january 1, 2007, we adopted FIN
48. Numerous factors contribute to our evaluation and estimation of our tax positions and
related tax liabllitics and/or benefits, which may be adjusted periodically and may ultimazely

be resotved differently than we anticipate.

Forelgn Currency Transtation

The local currencies of the majority of our foreign operations have been determined to
be their functlonal currencles, excent for certain foreign operations whose functional cur-
tency has been determined 1o be the U.S. Dollar, based on an assessment of the economic

of the foreign i in with SFAS No. 52. “Foreign Cur-

rency Transiation.” Assets and Habilities of our foreign affiliates are translated at year-end
exchange rates, while revenue and expenses are translated at average rates for the period.
We consider most foans to be | L i the related

translation gains and losses are eported as a component of stockholders’ equity. Transaction
gains and losses are reported directly in the consolidated statements of operations. During
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, we reported net foreign currency gains

(losses) in the amount of $(2.0) million. $(2.0} million and $(1.7) million, respectively.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

We extend credit to various companies in the energy industry that may be affected by changes in economic or other external conditions. Our policy is to manage our exposure to credit risk

through credit approvals and limits, Our trade accounts recelvable are aged based on payment terms and an all for doubtful accounts s established in accordance with our writ-
ten corporate policy. The age of the trade accounts recelvable, customer collection history and management's judgment as to the customer's ability to pay are considered in determining whether
an allowance is necessary. Historically, write-offs for doubtful accounts have been insignificant; however, allowances for doubtful accounts and write-offs in 2009 may be larger than they have
been in the past if economic conditions continue to deteriorate,

1 2008 and 2007, no single customer accounted for 10% or more of total consolidated revenue. Under multiple contracts in the ordinary course of business, Royal Dutch Shell accounted for

10.4% of total consolidated revenue in 2006.

Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2006 using the modified lication method where cost will be refated to new awards and to awards modi-

fied, repurchased. or cancelled after the required effective date. Additionally, compensation cost for portions of awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered that are outstanding
at January 1, 2006 shall be recognized as if the requisite service is rendered on or after the required effective date. At January 1, 2006, a of our stock option awards were fully vested. Under the
modified prospective method, vested equity awards outstanding at the effective date create no additional compensation expense. Only new awards granted after January 1, 200G would continue
to be measured and charged to expense over remaining requisite service, Qur employee stock purchase plan would be considered compensatory under SFAS No. 123R whereby it allows alf of
our LS. employees and particlpating subsidiaries to acquire shares of common stock at 85% of the falr market value of the common stock under a qualified plan as defined by Section 423 of the
Internal Revenue Service. The plan has a look-back option that establishes the purchase price as an amount based on the lesser of the stock's market price at the grant date or its market price at
the exercise date. The total value of the look-back option imbedded in the plan is calculated using the component approach where each award is computed as the sum of 15% of a share of non-
vested stock, a call option on 85% of a share of non-vested stock, and a put option on 15% of a share of non-vested stock.

#ro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share. or £PS, is reguired by SFAS No. 123 and has been determined as if we had accounted for our employee stock options under
the fair-value method described above, The Jast granted stock options were In October 2003, The Fair value calculations at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model were

calculated with the following weighted average assumptions:

2003
Risk-free interest rate 2.2%
Volatility factor:of stock price 0.28
Dividends -
Option fife. 4 years
Calculated fair value per share $ 3.58
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Earnings Per Share
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding ducing the year. Diluted EPS is computed using the treasury stock method
for common stock equivalents, The detall of the earnings per share calculations for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 Is as follows fin thousands,

except per share amounts):

Net Intome Per Shace Amount

Income per share, basic 183,784
Difutive effect of common stock options =
Income per share, diluted ] 183,784

Year Fnded December 31, 2007
Weight rage Shares Per Share Amount
Income per share, basic 98,975
Dilutive sffeck of conimon stock options ;
Income per share, diluted 98,975

Year Ended December 31, 2006
Net Income Weighted Average Shares Per Share Amount
Income per share, basic
Dilutive: efféct of ammon stock options
Income per share, diluted 3 89,729 20.875

limpairment of Long-Lived Assets
SFAS No, 144, “Accounting for the impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever there is evidence that the carrying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable. This consists of comparing the carrying amount of the asset with its expected future undiscounted cash flows before tax and interest costs. If the asset's

carrying amount Is less than such cash flow estimate, It §s written down to its fair value on a discounted cash flow basls, Estimates of expected future cash flows represent management’s best es-

timate based on currently available information and reasonable and Any impairment in with SFAS No, 144 is permanent and may not be restored.

We did not record any significant impairment write-downs of our long-lived assets during 2008, 2007 or 2006.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of previously reported information have been made to conform to the current year presentation,
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141
(revised 2007), “Busiiess Combinations " (‘'SFAS No. 141R") which replaces SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations.” SFAS No, 141R applies to all transactions or other events in which
an entity obtains control of one or more businesses. and combinations achieved without
the transfer of SFAS No. 141R blishes principles and for

how the acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets
acquired, the liabifities assumed, any noncontrolling Intecest in the acquiree, and if applicable
the goodwill acquired in the business combination, SFAS No, 141R also determines what
information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature
and financial effects of the business comblnation. This Statement applies prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and an entity may
not apply it before that date.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160,

Interests in Cc Financial —an of ARE
No. 517 (“SFAS No. 160°), SFAS No. 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,
“Consolldated Financial Staterents” 1o establish accounting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of 2 subsidiary. It clarifies
that a noncontrofling interest In a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated
entity that should be reported as equity In the consolidated financial statements. Where

applicable, this statement provides guidance for consi in reporting

periods beginning after November 15, 2008, The new standard will require disclosures only
and will have no impact on our consolidated financial position.

In February 2008, the FASS Issued FASB Staff Position No. (FSP) FAS 157-2 “Effective Date
of FASB Statement No. 157.” which delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements™ for aon financial assets and non financial liabilities, except for items that
are recognized or disciosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis.
FSP FAS 157-2 defers the effective date of SFAS No. 157 to fiscal years beginning after No~
vember 15, 2008 and Interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope
of this FSP. We have evaluated FSP FAS 157-2 and have determined that it will not have an

impact on our results of operations or financial po:

ion,
In April 2008, the FASB Issued FSP FAS 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of intangible
Assets.” FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factor that should be considered in developing renewal

or extension used to determine the useful life of ized Intangible asset

under SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” FSPFAS 142-3 is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and interim
periods within those scal years. We have evaluated FSP FAS 142-3 and have determined
that it will not have an impact on our results of operations or financial position.

in June 2008, the FASB relcased FSP EITF 03-06-1 on Emerging Issues Task Force issue
No.03-5, “Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128

FSP ELTF 03-06-1 staff positi that unvested share-based payment awards that
i dividends or dividend (whether pald or unpaid)
are icipating securities and shall be included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the

interests. SFAS No. 160 is cifective for financial statements issucd for fiscal years beginaing
on or after December 15, 2008, We have evaluated SFAS No. 160 and have determined that
it wilf not have an impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement of FInancial Accounting Standards No. 161
“Disclosures about Derivatives instruments and Hedging Activities.” Over the last several
years the use of derivative instruments and hedging activitics have increased significantly.
There is some concern that the existing disclosure requirements in FASB statement No. 133
“Accounting for Derivatives tnstruments and Hedging Activities™ do not provide adequate
information about how derivative and hedging affect an entity’s financial position, financlal
performance, and cash flow. S¥AS No. 161 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s
derivative and hedging activities, and thereby improves the transparency of financial report-

ing. SFAS No. 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
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two-class method. FSP EITF 03.06-1 is effective for financial statements issucd for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those years. We have
evaluated FSP EITF 03-06-1 and have determined that it will not have an impact on our
results of operations or financial position.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3 *Determining the Fair Value of a Financial
Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active.” FSP FAS 157-3 clarifies the applica-
tion of the SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” in a market that is not active and
illustsates key considerations in determining the fair value of a financial asset when the
market for that financlal asset Is not active. FSP FAS 157-3 s effective upon Issuance. We
have evaluated FSP FAS 157-3 and have determined that it will not have an impact on our
results of operations or financial position.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1.

‘Employers’ Disclosures about

Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits,” to provide guidance on an employer’s disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other postsetirement plan, The objectives of the
disclosures about plan assets in an employer's defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan are to provide users of financial statements with an understanding of how investment alloca-
tion decisions are made, Including the factors that are pertinent to an understanding of investment policies and strategles, the major categories of plan assets, the inputs and valuation techniques

used to measure the fair value of plan assets, the effect of fair value i and significant

of risk within plan assets. The new standarg will require disclosures only and will
have no impact on our consokidated financial position. The disclosures about plan assets required by FSP FAS 132 (R)-1 shall be provided for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. Upon
initial application, the provisions of FSP FAS 132 (R)-} are not required for earlier periods that are presented for comparative purposes.

(2) RIGDON ACQUISITION

On July 1, 2008, under the terms of a Membership Interest and Stock Purchase Agreement, we acquired 100% of the membership interests of Rigdon Marine Holdings, L.L.C. {"Rigdon Holdings™)
and all the shares of common stock of Rigdon Marine Corporation (*Rigdon Marine,” together with Rigdon Holdings, *Rigdon™} not owned by Rigdon Holdings for consideration of $554.7 million,
consisting of $152.6 million in cash and approximately 2.1 million shares of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. common stock valued at $133.2 miliion, plus the assumption of $268.9 miflion in debt (the
“Rigdon Acquisition’). We financed the cash portlon of the consideration with cash on hand and borrowing of $140.9 million under our current $175 million revolver, which borrowing took place
during the second quarter of 2008. In conjunction with the Rigdon Acquisition, we assumed and immediately repaid the outstanding balance of $32.8 million on a construction |oan facifity main-
tained by Rigdon Holdings. At july 1, 2008, Rigdon operated a fleet of 22 technologically advanced offshore supply vessels primarily in the domestic Gulf of Mexico. with six additional vessels
under construction to be defivered by the second quarter of 2009, four of which have been defivered,

As of July 1, 2008, the purchase price was allocated to the acquired campany based on the fair values as follows (in thousands):

Consideration: .
Pl : e . - 2 . Lo ey
Purchase price adjustments
Common'stock - g
Ngt consideration

Debt assumed

Purchase Price s
Net book value of acquisition . . s s7139
Elimifation of minarity interest . [ R v L 7661
Vessels step-up to fair market vatue 172,201
e s e tof i e e e ; s
Intangibles step-up to fair market value 34,598
Deferved Income taxes. - Y - g i S (83,138)
Pre-acquisition goodwill (7.200)
Restructusing Habitivies . . k Vi : X TR M (1,970)
‘GoodwHl 97,202
Adjustment to book valie : : AR : ; (1.221)
s 285.772
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The purchase price allocation of the Rigdon Acquisition has been recorded at fair value at the completion of the acquisition, with the excess of the purchase price over the sum of these fair values

recorded as goodwill, The amounts reflected in the table below are based on estimates of fair market values (in thousands).

Depreciable vessels and equipment H 441,415
Construction in progress 46,982
Customer relationships. 34,598

Customer relationships represent a key intanglble asset that has a separate and distinct value apart from both the purchased tangible assets and goodwill. The customer refatlonships are primarily
with large, stable customers with whom Rigdon has had long-term relationships based on the experience of management in the industry, the nature and size of the customers, and the nature of
the industry. The customer relationships were valued using the excess earning method under the income approach. The method reflects the present value of the operating cash flows generated by
the existing customer relationships after taking Into account the cost to realize the revenue, and an appropriate discount rate to reflect the time value and risk associated with the invested capital,
This balance will be amortized using the straight-fine method over a 12 year period based on the estimated attrition rates and computation of the incremental value derived from the existing
relationships.

10 conjunction with the Rigdon Acquisition we acquired a 24,5% tnterest in a joint venture that provides crew boat services to the 0.5, Gulf of Mexico market. The joint venture is accounted for
under the equity method and the investment amount is included in Deferred costs and other assets on our balance sheet. We have also entered into an arrangement with the joint venture’s lender
that requires us, In the event of a default by the joInt venture on its obligation to a bank, to purchase the joint ventuse's Ind:lm!dn;ss from the bank, The maximum exposure under this potential
obligation is $3.5 milfion.

The pro forma effect of the acquisition and the associated financing on the historical results for the twelve months periods ending December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are presented in the fol-

lowing table {in thousands, except earnings per share):

Revenue $ 466,787 S 377,707 s 308,632
Operating income . ; ] 226,887 154,536 ’ 127,00v
Net in:o‘me 188,939 98,278 90,299

Basic eamings per share- $ 796 s 4.38 § 443

With operations in the U.S. Guif of Mexico, we are subject to the Merchant Marine Act of 1920 (Jones Act), which requires that vessels carrying cargo between U.S. ports, which is known as coast-
wise trade, be documented under the laws of the United States and controlled by U.S. citizens.
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(3) VESSEL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

From our Inception, we have actively expanded our fleet through the purchase of existing vessels as well as through new construction, During 2006, we took delivery of two new construction
vessels, the Sea Cuardian and the Sea Sovereign . in 2007 and 2008, we added another seven new build vessels to our fleet,

1n connection with the Rigdon Acquisition, we acquired construction contracts for six vessels, three which delivered in 2008, one which has been delivered in the first quarter of 2009, and the
remaining two of which are expected to be delivered during the second quarter of 2009, In total, we spent approximately $108.6 million related to new vessels construction in 2008,

The following table illustrates the delivery timeline of the new build vessels:

Vessel structic
Expected Cost
Vessel Region Type Expected Delivery Length (feet) BHP DWT

(mittions)
Akér 7267, N Sea PV Q42008 284 10,600 S agse LisdsA;
Aker 727 N. Sea PV Q2 2010 284 10,600 4,850 5454
S Cherokee SEA i TS i gt 2008 250... 10,700, 0 2700 Dt soes
Sea Comanche SEA AHTS Q2 2009 250 10,700 2,700 $24.4
Blackilp = Amerigas - Fev. T g d00s 181 7.200 Dlsa3 so.2
Tiger Americas esv 3 2009 181 7.200 543 59,20
Bénder J: Amerlcas Pov S.Qr2010 2457 53805 13,0007 - 5255
Bender 2 Americas kPSV Q22010 245 5,380 3,000 5255
Bender 3, " Amricas EERE. w2010 245 53801 3000 ¢ 5255
Remantowa 20 THD AHTS Q2 2010 230 10,000 2,150 5269
Remontowa 31 TRD AHTS - a32010 230 10,000 "% S AL R X

(1) The estimated cost does not represent the actual construction costs, but includes our purchase price allocation plus aif construction costs payable after

the closing of the Rigdon Acquisition.

Our strategy has been to sell older vessels in our fleet when the appropriate opportunity arises, Consistent with this strategy. In September 2006 we completed the sale of one of our older South-
east Asia based PSVs, the Highland Patriot . and In October 2006 we sold the North Sea based Sentinel . During 2007, we sold the North Sea based North Prince and Southeast Asia based Sem
Courageous , Sea Explorer and Sea Endeavor . In the second quarter of 2008, we completed the sale of two pre-198S built AHTS vessels. the Sea Difigent and the North Crusader , for proceeds
of $21.0 million recognizing a gain of $16.4 miltion, Additionally, in the third quarter of 2008, we sold the Sem Valiant and the Sea Eagle, each older Southeast Asia based AHTS, for proceeds of
52.9 million recognizing a gain of $2.3 million. In the fourth quarter of 2008 the North Fortune, a PSV built in 1983, was sold for $19.0 milfion, generating a gain of $16.1 million, We feel the
sale of these older vesses fits our long-term strategy of selfing older vessels when attractive opportunities arise.
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(4) GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES
Changes 1o goodwill are as follows:
Balance, January 1,

t related to it

Impact on foreign currency transkation and adjustment

Balance, December 31,

S 34,264
97,202
(7,485)

$ 123,981

2006

(tn thousands)

S

29,883 3 27628

4,381 2,255

64 s 29,883

Intangible assets of $33.2 million, including accumulated amortlzation of $1.4 milllon, as of December 31, 2008 are recorded at cost and are amortized on a stralght-line basis over the years

expected 10 be benefited, currently estimated to be 12 years. Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2008. was $1.4 million. Annual amortization

expense refated to existing Intangible assets for vears 2009 through 2013 is expected to be $2.9 million per vear.

(5) LONG-TERM DERT

Our long-term debt at December 31. 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facllity
Sentor Facfity

Subordinated Facility

7.75% Senior Notes due 2014

Less: Current maturites of longeterm debt

Debt discount, net
Total : 5
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2008 2007

(n thousands)
s 84,250 s -
S153,035 -
160,000
s 482,285 $ 160,000
8970y =
374) (442)
$. 462541 $ 159,558

The following is a summary of scheduled debt maturities by year:

(In thousands)

2009 s 18,970
2010° - : ORI 219,085
201 -
012 ; -
2013 s 84,250
Théreafter 160,000
Total

Senior Notes

Onjuly 21, 2004, we issued $160 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75% senior notes
due 2014, The 7.75% senior notes pay interest semi-annually on Janwary 15 and July 15,

commencing January 15. 2005 and contain the following redemption provisions:

Prior o July 1S, 2009, we may redeem all or part of the 7.75% senior notes by paying
amake-whoe premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and, if any, liquidated dam-

ages.

“The 7.75% senior notes may be callable beginning on July 15 of 2009. 2010, 2011, and
2012 and thercafter at redemption prices of 103.875%, 102.583%, 101.292%, and 100%

of the principal amount, respectively, phus accrued interest,

At December 31, 2008, we had financial Instruments that are potentially sensitive to
changes in interest rates including the 7.75% senior riotes, which are due July 15, 2014. They
have a stated interest rate of 7.75% and an effective interest rate of 7.77%. At December 31,
2008, the fair value of these notes, based on quoted market prices, was approximately

$120.8 million, as compared to a carrying amount of $159.6 million.

Bank Credit Facilities

We currently have a $175 million Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facility with a syndi-

cate of financial institutions led by Den Norske Bank, as agent. The multi-currency fa

is structured as follows: $25 million allocated to GulfMark Offshore, Inc.; $60 miflion allo-
cated to Gulf Offshore N.S, Limited, a U, wholly owned subsidiary; $30 million allocated
to GulfMark Rederi AS, a Norwegian wholly owned subsidiary: and $60 million allocated
to Gulf Marine Far East Pte Ltd,, a wholly owned Singapore subsidiary. The faclllty matures
in 2013 and the maximum availability begins to reduce in increments of 5152 million
every six months beginning in December 2011, with a final reduction of §129.5 million in
June 2013, Security for the facllity s provided by Arst priority morigages on certaln ves-
sels. The interest rate ranges from LIBOR plus a margin of 0.7% to 0.9% depending on our
EBITDA coverage ratlo. The Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facility Is subject to financat

covenants, At December 31, 2008, we were in compliance with all covenants.

$224 Million Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement (“Senior
Facifity™ and $85 Million Subordinated Secured Credit Facility
Agreentent (“Subordinated Facility”)

The Senior Facility bears interest at the rate of LIOR plus 125 basis points and principal
Is due at the rate of 0,833% per month of the outstanding principal on each vessel begin-
ning one month after defivery of the vessel with a final payment due on maturity (currently
$19 million per year). The Senior Facility is subject to financial covenants consistent with
those of our Secured Reducing Revolving Credit Loan Facility, contains customary other
covenants and events of default, and is secured by a Preferred Fleet Mortgage on the 23
vessels financed under the Senlor Facllity. At December 31, 2008, we were in compliance
with all covenants.

The Subordinated Facility bears interest at the rate of LIBOR plus 200 basis points. There are

no scheduled principal before th dateand may

be made until the Senior Facility is repaid in full. The Subordinated Facility is afso subject to

&1 7/ GuifMark 2008 Annuai Report



the same financial nants as the Senior Facility and other customary covenants
and events of default. The facility is secured by a Subordinated Second Fleet Mortgage on
20 vessels and a subordination agreement which grants the Sentor Facility lenders certaln
preferences over the Subordinated Facility lenders for payments of principal and interest
and in exercising remedies over the security interests held by them. At December 31, 2008
we were in compliance with all covenants.

There are two interest rate swap agreements for a portion of both the Senior Facility
and the Subordinated Facility that have the effect of fixing the Interest rate at 4.725% on
approximately $98.3 million of the outstanding indebtedness. The intevest rate swaps are
accounted for as cash flow hedges.

Both facilities mature on June 30, 2010 and an additional fee of 0,15% of the facility amount
is due to the lenders if either facility is not refinanced prior to December 31, 2009, In ad-
dition, we have agreed to financtal covenants that are consistent with those In our exlsting

Secured Reducing Revolving Credit Loan Facility.

Other Debt

in 2006 we had debt related to a joint venture interest we entered Into in corjunction with
our new build vessel program. The joint venture was created for the construction of two
North Sea vessels, We purchased 100% of the vessels out of the joint venture in 2007.

As part of the Rigdon Acquisition, we acquired an obligation to assume from a bank the
debt of an equity method joint venture partner in the event of a default by the joint venture.

The maximum potential obligation is $3.5 million.

{6) INCOME TAXES

The majority of aur non-US based operations are subject to foreign tax systems that
provide significant incentives to qualified shipping activities. Our UK and Norway based
Vessels are taxed under “tonnage tax” regimes while our qualified Singapore based vessels
are exempt from Singapare taxation through December 2017 with extensions available in
certain circumstances beyond 2017, The tonhage tax regimes provide for a tax based on the
net tannage weight of a qualified vessel. Even with our mid-2008 entry into the US offshore
supply vessel market as a result of the Rigdon Acquisition, these foreign tax beneficial

structures continued to result in a large portion of our earnings incurring significantly lower
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taxes than those that would apply if we were ot a qualified shipping company in those
jurisdictions.

In late 2007, Norway enacted tonnage tax legiskation that repealed the previous tonnage tax
System which had been in effect from 996 1o 2006, and created a new tonnage tax system
from January 2007 forward. Excluding the ten year pay-out described helow of Norwegian
taxes resulting from the repeal of the pre-2007 tonnage tax law, the tonnage tax regimes
in the North Sea significantly reduce the cash required for taxes in that region. As a result
of this tegislation, we are now required to pay the tax on the accumulated untaxed ship-
ping profits as of December 31, 2006 with two-thirds of the liability being payable in equal

installments over ten years, while the remaining one-third of the tax liability can be met over

fifteen ¢ h qualified on vessels owned by any of our
90% or greater owned subsidiaries. Any remaining portion of the environmental part of the
{lability at the end of fifteen years would be payable at that time. However, in January 2009,

the Norwegian tax authority d a change to the fund

under which the fifteen year payment period has been abolished with no mandatory time
limit on repayment of the environmental portion of the liability. As of December 31. 2008,
our total USS equivalent of the NOK liability for the repealed Norwegian tannage tax was
$17.8 million. The first annual cash payment of $2.0 million was paid in 2008, the second
instaflment due in 2008 is classified on our batance sheet as current income taxes payable
and the $16.5 miltion remainder is classified on our balance sheet as Other income taxes
payable. Of this amount, $10.2 million is payable over eight years and $6.3 million is the
one-third environmental portion of the total iability, which we expect will be fully expended
in accordance with the regulation, and refated rules and guidelines. The abolishment of the
payment period time limit eliminates the $6.3 million ta liability, which will be recorded
as a credit to our tax provision in 2009.

Substantlally all of our tax provision ls for taxes unrelated to our exempt Singapore
based and UK and Norway tonnage tax qualified shipping activities. Should our operational
structuse change or should the laws that created these shipping tax regimes change, we
could be required to provide for taxes at rates much higher than those currently reflected
in our financial statements, Additionally, if our pre-tax earnings in higher tax jurisdictions

increase, there could be a significant Increase In our annual effective 1ax rate. Any such

increase could cause volati

y in the comparisons of our effective tax rate from period to

period.

Effective January 1, 2008, Mexico legislated a new revenue based tax, which in effect creates an alternative minimum tax payable to the extent that the new revenue based tax exceeds the current
income tax liability. The enacted tax rates are as follows: 16.5% for 2008, 17% for 2009 and 17.5% for 2010 and beyond. Additionally, in light of this legislation we determined that it is more likely
than not we will not realize any economic benefit from the future utilization of our Mexican tax loss carryforwards, and as such we established a net valuation allowance as described below.

tncome before income taxes attributable to domestic and foreign operations was (in thousands):

Year Lnded December 3t

2007

(In thousands)

us. s 7,109 3 (9,748 $ 410,583
Forelgn v 188418 138,943 : 103,364
$ 195527 $ 129,195 5 92,781

The components of our tax provision (benefit) attributable to income before income taxes are as follows for the year ended December 31, (in thousands):

7008 2007 2006

Deferred & Current ferred FIN 48 Total Current Deferred

$ 2,869 s 53 s (3,955) {3.302) $ (6309 S (6.309)
s874 7 20814 3365 743 381207 e3e1

43 § 29.867 s {390) $ 743 3 @397 S 3.052

us.
Forelgn

The mix of our aperations within various taxing jurisdictions affects our overall tax provision. As a result of the Rigdon Acquisition, in 2008 our U.S. federal statutory income tax rate increased
from 34% to 35%. The differcnce between the provisian at the statutory U.S, federal tax rate and the tax provision attributable to income before income taxes in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations is as follows:

U.5. federal statutory Income tax rate
Effect of forelgh operations -
Valuation allowance
Other

Total
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Deferred income taxes seflect the impact of temporary differences between the amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such amounts as measured by tax laws and

regulations. The components of the net deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

2008
(In thousands)
Deferred tax assets.

Accruals currently not deductible for rax purposes ; s $.73782
Net operating loss carryforwards 18,727
Forelgh and other tax credit canyforwards 4,364
26,853
Less valuation allowance ; N . 9.092}
Net deferred tax assets s s 17.761
Deferred tax kabilities
Dépraciation : . - g s e $ 6718y
Foreign income not currently recognizable 1,586) (2,655}
Other: , i SO T P . Qo389 g (11241
Total deferred tax liabilities s (150,176) s (20.493)
Net defeired tax lability : . - $ 016,172 $ @7y
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the total net deferred tax liability of $116.2 million and $2.7 million, included in liabilities in the i balance sheet. The

net change in the total valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was an increase of $0,7 million and $4.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, we had
net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, for income tax purposes totaling $67.8 miflion in the U.S., $7.6 million in Brazil, $6.3 million in Norway, and $9.1 million in Mexico that are, subject to
certain limitations, avallable to offset future taxable income. The US NOLs, which we expect to fully utiize, will begin to expire beginning in 2019 through 2027. The NOLs in Mexico will begin
to expire in 2016, however as a result of the Mexico legislation described above. it is more likely than not that the Mexican NOLs will not be utifized and a $1.7 million valuation altowance has
been established for these NOLs. In addition, it is morc likely than not that the Norway NOLs will not be utilized and a full valuation allowance has been established for such NOLs. Except for the
amounts related to Brazilian temporary differences, it is also more likely than not that the Braziltan NOLs will not be utilized and a $1.8 million valuation allowance has been established for such
NOLs. We also have foreign tax credit carryforwards of $3.0 million that will begin to expire in 2009. A valuation allowance has been established against the full amount of these credits less the
tax benefit of the deduction,
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We intend to permanently reinvest a portion of the unremitted earnings of our non-U.S, subsidiaries in their businesses. As a result, we have not provided for U.S. deferred taxes on the cumula-
tive unremitted earnings of $661.1 million at December 31, 2008,

In 2006, the FASB Issued FIN 48, *Accounting for Uncertalnty In Income Taxes—an tterpretation of FASS Statement No, 109, FI 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes rec-
ognized under SFAS No, 109, FIN 48 prescribes a more likely than not, or likelihood greater than S0%. recognition threshold and criteria for measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. On January |, 2007, we adopted FIN 48. Numerous factors contribute to our evaluation and estimation of our tax positions and related tax liabilities and/or benefits, which
may be adjusted perlodically and may ultimately be resolved differently than we anticipate. FIN 48 also provides guldance on derecognition, measurement, classification, Interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. Accordingly, we continue to recognize income tax retated penalties and interest in our provision for income taxes and. to the extent ap-
plicable, in the corresponding balance shect presentations for accrued income tax assets and llabilities, Including any amounts for uncertaln tax positions.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

{In thousands)

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at Januasy 1, $ 6803 $ 8383
Gross incréases foF tax poshions taken-in prior years 3.007 173
Gross decreases for tax positions taken i prior years -_ {2.706}
Dedroases for setdlements i 1.087)
Lapse of statute of limications Sz —
Unrecognized tax beriefits. bdan;e at December 31,.2008 . s m $ W

As of January 1, 2007, we had unrecognized net tax benefits of 8.9 million, including 54.9 million that was recorded as a reduction to retained earnings in connection with the adoption of FIN
48. We expect $1.3 mlllion of our unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2008 will be settled within twelve months, As of December 31, 2008, we are under tax examination, or may be
subject to examination in the U. . for years after 1998 and in seven major foreign tax jurisdictions with open years for one after 1995, one after 1998, one after 2000. one after 2003, two after
2004 and one after the year 2006.

We accrue interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in our provision for income taxes, At December 31, 2008, we had accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized

tax benefits of $8.6 million. The amount of interest and penalties recognized in our tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $2.8 million.
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{7) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

At December 31, 2008, we had lang-term operating leases for office space. automobiles, temporary residences, and office equipment. Aggregate operating lease expense for the years ended

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1.8 million, $0.9 million, and $0.7 million, respectively. future minimum rental commitments under these leases are as follows (in thousands):

2009 s 1.684
2010 3 1454
2011 1244
2012 - . 1,136
2013 ) 982
Thereafter e T T e

Total s 8,788

The Austrai Abrolhos is subject to an annual right of its charterer to purchase the vessel during the term of the chaster, which commenced May 2, 2003 and, subject to the charterer’s right to
extend. terminates May 2, 2016, at a purchase price in the first year of $26.8 million declining to an adjusted purchase price of $12.9 million in the thirteenth year.

The Hightand Rover is subject to a purchase option o the part of the charterer, pursuant to terms of an amendment to the original charter which was executed in late 2007 and amended In 2008,
The charterer may purchase the vessel based an a stipulated formula on each of April 1, 2010; Cctober 1, 2012; Aprif 1, 2015; and October 1, 2016, provided 120 days notice has been given by
the charterer.

We execute letters of credit, performance bonds and other guarantees in the normal course of business that ensure our performance or payments to third parties. The aggregate national value of

these instruments was $0.4 miftion and $1.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, ively. All of these i have piration date within the next year. In the past, no significant
claims have been made against these financial instruments. Management believes the likelihood of demand for payment under these instruments is remote and expects no material cash outlays
0 occur from these instruments.

We have contingent Kabilities and future claims for which we have made estimates of the amount of ! J

or claims. These liabilities and claims may involve
threatened or actual litigation where damages have not been specifically quantified but we have made an assessment of our exposure and recorded a provision In our accounts for the expected
toss. Other claims or Nabllities, including those refated to taxes in foreign jurisdictions, may be estimated based on our experience in these matters and, where appropriate, the advice of outside
counsel o other outside experts. Upon the wltimate resolution of the uncertainties surrounding our estimates of contingent liabilities and future claims, our future reported financial results wilt

be impacted by the difference, if any, between our estimates and the actual amounts paid to settle the liabilities, In addition to estimates related to litigation and tax liabilities, other examples of

liabilities requiring estimates of future exposure include contingencies arising out of acquisitions and divestitures, Our contingent fiabiities are based on the most recent information available to
us regarding the nature of the exposure. Such exposures change from period to period based upon updated relevant facts and circumstances, which can cause the estimate to change. In the recent
past, our estimates for contingent liabilities have been sufficient to cover the actual amount of our exposure. Management does not believe that the outcome of these matters will have a material

adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operation.
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(8) EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

Stack Options and Stack Option Plans

In May 2005, the stockholders approved the GulfMark Offshore, nc. 2005 Non-Employee Director Plan, or Director Plan, The terms of our Director Plan provide that each non-employee director
will receive an annual grant of stock awards. The non-employee director may also be granted an annual stock option to purchase up to 6.000 shares of common stock. The exercise price of op-
tions granted undes the Oirector Plan is fixed at the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The maximum number of shares authorized under the Director Plan is 150,000.

Under the terms of our Amended and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, or 1993 Director Plan, options to purchase 20,000 shares of our common stock wese granted to
each of our five non-employee directors in 1993, 1996, 1999 and 2002, and to a newly appointed director in 2001 and 2003, The exercise price of options granted under the 1993 Director Plan
is fixed at the market price at the date of grant. A total of 800,000 shares were reserved for issuance under the 1993 Director Plan, The options have a term of ten years, On Apeil 21. 2006, the
1993 Director Plan was teeminated and, therefore, no additional shares were reserved for granting of options under this plan, though options remain outstanding under this plan.

Under the terms of our 1987 Emplovee Stock Option Plan, or 1987 Employee Plan, options were granted to employees to purchase our common stock at specified prices, On May 20, 1997, the
1987 Employee Plan expired and, therefore, no additional shares were reserved for granting of options under this plan, and at December 31, 2008, no options remained outstanding under this
plan.

In May 1998, the stackholders approved the CulfMark Offshore, Inc. 1997 lncentive Equity Plan that replaced the 1987 Employee Plan. A total of 814,000 shares were reserved for issuance of
options or awards of restricted stock under this plan. Stock options generally become exercisable in 1/3 increments over a three-year period and to the extent not exercised, expire on the tenth

anniversary of the date of grant, The foffowing table summarizes the activity of our stock option incentive plans during the Indicated periods.

iWeighted

Shares 3 Shares
789,650 904.150 s 1363 1,083.470 s 198
Granted, - : 4 i i - T PR
Forfeitures ‘ ‘ ’ - ‘ - ‘ - - - -
Exercised’ & : - ) 116,000 ;16,56 (114,500) 8.78 (179:320) 3.70
Outstanding at end of year 673650 §  13.94 789.650 s 1433 904,150 5 1363
xercisable. Shares and welghtéd dverage exercise price. *" 7l TTaaTeRe g 1384 789,650 $7.1433 904,150 $ 1363
Shares available for future grants at December 31, 2008:
1993 NomsEmblovee irector Stéek Gntion Plan.. : . 360,000° "1 360,000 - 360,000
1997 Incentive Equity Plan 1,084,795 1,218,914 190,100
2005 Non-Emiployee Director Share Tieentive Plan 77,900 99,000, i 120,100
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The following table izes i ion about stock options ing at December 31, 2008:

Outstanding Lxercisable

ghited Weighted

Avera

Average

e Remaiming Frercise
Range of Exercise Shares e Life Shares, Price
$6.58 to $10.06 244,000 0.56 years 244,000 s
$13.10t0817.44 * 327650 . 2.78 vears 327,650 s
519,37 10 §21,25 102,000 3,37 years 102,000 s 21.21
' : 673,650 o - T 673650 s 1394

Historically, we have used stock options as a long-term incentive for our employees, officers and directors under the above-mentioned stock option plans, The exercise price of opticns granted
Is equal to or greater than the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant. Accordingly, consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, no compensation expense has been

recognized in the accompanying financtal statements fer these options. See Note | “Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant il lici -k d C " of the “Notes

to the Consolidated Financial Statements”,

Espp

In May 2002, the shareholders approved our employee stock purchase plan, or ESPR The ESPP is available to all our ¥.5. employees and our participating subsidiaries and is a qualified plan as
defined by Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. At the end of each fiscal quarter, or Option Period. during the tesm of the ESPP, the employee contributions are used to acquire shares of com-
mon stock at 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the first or the last day of the Option Pericd. whichever is lower, Our U.K. employees are eligible to purchase our stock through a
separate plan modified to meet the requirements of the U.K, tax authorities, The benefits avallable to those employees are substantially similar to those in the U.S. Prior to 2006, these plans were
considered non-compensatory and as such, our financial statements did not reflect any related expense through December 31, 2005. However, effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.

123R, Share-Based Payment, and expense these costs as compensation. We have authorized the issuance of up to 400,000 shares of common stock through these plans. At December 31, 2008,

there were 294,379 shares remaining In reserve for future issuance. See Note 1 "Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant g Policies — k- d C " of the “Notes

1o the Consolidated Financial Statements™.

Executive Deferred Compensation Plan

We maintain an executive deferred compensation plan, or EDC Plan. Under the EDC Plan, a portion of the compensation for certain of our key employees, including officers and directors, can be
deferred for payment after retirement or termination of empfoyment. Under the EDC Plan, deferred compensation can be used to purchase our common stock or may be retained by us and eam
interest at Prime plus 2%. The first 7.5% of compensation deferred must be used to purchase common stock and may be matched by us. At December 31, 2008, a total of $2.3 million had been
defersed Into the Prime plus 2% portion of the plan.

We have established a “Rabbi” trust to hold the stock portion of benefits under the EDC Plan. The funds provided to the trust are invested by a trustee independent of us in our common stock,
which is purchased by the trustee on the open market. The assets of the trust are available to satisfy the claims of all general creditors in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency. Accordingly, the

common stock held by the trust and our fiabilitles under the EDC Plan are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as treasury stock and deferred compensation expense.
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(9) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

4010k

We offer a 401(k) plan to alt of our U.5. employees and provide matching contribution to
those employees that participate. The matching contributions paid by us totaled $839,655,
$90,000 and $24,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec:
tively,

Muiti-employer Pension Obligation

Certain of our subsidiaries participate in an industry-wide, mufti-employer, defined benefit
pension fund based in the UK., known as the Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund, or
MNOPF. with a requirement to perform an actuarial study every three years. In 2005, we were.
Informed of an estimated £234.0 million, the equivalent of $459.2 million, total fund deficit
calculated by the fund’s actuary based on the actuary study of 2003, Under the direction of
a court order, the deficit was to be remedied through future funding contributions from all
participating employers. The results of the 2006 actuarlal study were communicated in the
third quarter 2007 indicating a further £151.0 million. or equivalent of $305.9 million. total
deficit, which will also be required to be funded by the participating employers.

In 2005, we received invoices from the MNOPF for $1,8 million, which represents the amount
calulated by the fund as our current share of the deficit. Under the terms of the invoice, we
paid $0.3 million during 2005 with the remalning due in annual instaliments over nine years,
Accordingly. we recorded the full amount of $1.8 million as a direct operating expense in 2005
and the $1.5 million remaining obligation is recorded as a lability, During 2006 and the first
half of 2007, we paid $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively, against this liability with the
understanding that the amount of our ultimate share of the deficit could change depending on
future actuarial valuations and fund calculations, which are due to occur every three years,

At the beginning of 2007, we were advised that there was £25 million unpaid on this bal-
ance, and our share of the contribution was approximately $0.3 million to be paid over the
next nine years. This amount was booked as a direct operating expense and a liability in the
first quarter of 2007. In the third quarter 2007, we received invoices from the MNOPF for
£0,9 milllon, or the equivalent of approximately $1.7 million, for our share of the calculated
deficit based on the 2006 valuation, which we have recorded as a direct operating expense
and corresponding liability in the third quarter of 2007,

[n 2008, we paid $0.3 million against the liability. We have not adjusted our liability to

reflect future contributions that might be needed as a result of the fund calculations that will
be completed in the first quarter of 2009, Afthough it is anticipated that an increase may be
necessary based on an anticipated reduction in the return on the fund's assets caused by the
world economic downturn, currently a reasonable amount cannot be estimated, therefore,
no adjustment has been made.

There curreatly is ro provision within the plan to refund excess contsibutions, which,
if it were 1o occur in future evaluations. would be anticipated to be adjusted against the
remaining liability. Therefore, as allowed under the terms of the assessment, we plan to pay
the liability over eight annual instaliments, with applicable interest charges. Our share of
the fundss deficit is dependeat on a number of factors including future actuarial valuations,
the number of participating employers, and the final method used in allocating the required

among partici mpl

Norwegian Pension Plans

The Norwegian benefit pension plans include approximately seven of our office employees
and 248 seamen and are defined benefit, multiple-employer plans. insured with Nordea Liv.
We aiso have instituted a defined contribution plan in 2008 for share based personnet that

existing personnct could clect to participate in while discontis

ing any further obligations
in the defined benefit plan. Al newly hired shore based personnel are required to join the
defined contribution plan. Benefits under the defined bemefit plans are based primarily on
partlcipants’ years of credited service. wage level at age of retirement and the contribution
from the Norwegian National insurance. A December 31, 2008 measurement date is used
for the actuarial computation of the defined henefit pension plans. The following tables
provide information about changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets and the funded

status of the Norwegian defined benefit pension plans (in thousands):

2007
Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefitobligation at beginiing of the period 'S 305,545
Benefit periodic cost 683
#nterest'cost 284
Benefits paid 298
Actuarial gain/loss @27y
Translation adjustment ) 820

Senefit oHl'-tlen atyear end $.6,707
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2008 2007

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the period 8 $ 4,103 s
Actual return on plan assets i85
Contributions: . 703
Benefits paid ©9)
Administrative fee 32)
Actuarial gain/loss (216)
“Translation adjustment (903}
Fair value of plan assets at end of year s 3.741 s
7008 2007
Funded status s 1,874 s 2,603
Soclal securty. SESROCE 286 00

Unrecognized net actuarial gain and other prepaid benefit cost —_ —
Net obfigation incliiding soclal security: ; ERREEY S

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of (in thousands):

2008 2007
Deferred costs and other assets s 152 $ 233
Ohier fiabiltles i ; : 5 - RE% P 3,237
2008 2007
Components of Net Perlod Benefit Cost
Service cost . i . . 3 517 S, 684
Interest cost 229 284
Return on plan assets’ (185)
Administrative fee ) 32
National Insurance (socld) security) contribution . v L
Recognized net actuarial foss 145
Net patiodic bevefit cost ) 768
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The vested benefit obligation is calculated as the actuarial present value of the vested benefits to which employees are currently entitled based on the employees’ expected date of separation or

retirement,

rage assumptions

Discount rate 4.3% 4.7%

Raturn.on plan assets : . 6.3% 5.8%

Rate of compensation increase 4.5% 4.5%

The weighted average assumptions shown above were used for both the determination of net periodic benefit cost, and the of benefit obligations as of the date, In
determining the weighted average ions, the overafl market and specific historical performance of the investments of the Norwegian pension plan was reviewed. The asset

allocations at the measurement date were as follows:

2008 2007

Equlty securitles 9% 21%
Debt secinities : : ‘ L 65% T sek
Property 23% 18%
Cther : . kSR 6%
AN asset :alégnries ‘ 100% 100%

The investment strategy focuses on providing a stable retutn on plan assets using a diversified portfolio of investments.

The projected benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for the Norwegian pension plan were approximately $5.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively for December 31. 2008, and
$6.7 million and $4.1 million, respectively for December 31, 2007, We expect to contribute approximately $0.7 miilion to the Norwegian pension plan i 2009. No plan assets are expected to be
returned to us in 2009

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future setvice, as appropriate, are expected 1o be paid (In thousands):

Year ended December 31, Benefit Payments

2012 288
2013 299
Total $ 1388
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(10) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Issuances

We have established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPR, which provides employees
with a means of purchasing our common stock. During 2008, 14,973 shares were issued
through the ESPR, generating approximately $0.5 million in proceeds. The provisions of the
ESPP are described above in Note 8 in more detail.

As a result of the Rigdon Acquisition on July 1, 2008, we Issued approximately 2.1 miflion
shares of our common stock valued at $133.2 million,

A total of 159,256 and 158,102 restricted shares of our stock were granted to certain
officers and key employees in 2008 and 2007, respectively, pursuant fo our 1997 Incen-
tive Equity Plan described above in Note 8, with an aggregate market value of $7.4 million
and $6.2 million, respectively, on the grant dates. The restrictions terminate at the end of
three years and the value of the restricted shares is being amortized to expense over that
period,

On December 4, 2006, we raised approximately $76.8 million, net of offering costs of
$0.2 million, through the sale of 2,000,000 shares of common stock pursuant to our reg-
istration statement on Form $-3, Reg. No. 333-133563, and prospectus supplement. The
sale was underwritten by Jeferies & Company, Inc, The proceeds were used to repay the
outstanding portion of the credit facility, corporate working capital peeds, and to partly fund
future progress payments for the delivery of new build vessels fncluded in our construction

program.

Preferred Stock
We are authorized by our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to issue up 10 2,000,000

shares of no par value prefersed stock. No shares have been issued.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid cash dividends during the past five years. Pursuant 1o the
terms of the indenture under which the senior notes ase issued, we may be restricted from
declaring or paying cash dividends: however, we currently anticipate that, for the foreseeable
future, any earnings will be retained for the growth and development of our business. The
declaration of dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Directors. Our dividend policy

will be reviewed by the Board of Directors at such time as may be appropriate in light of

CuifMark 2008 Asnual Report 7/ 72

future operating conditions, dividend restrictions of subsidiaries and investors, financial

requirements, general business conditions and other factors.

(11) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In the first quarter of 2008, we adopted SFAS State 1t No. 157 Fair Value

It established a framework for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair
value measurements. The adoption of SFAS 157 had no impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

SFAS 157 applies to all assets and fiabilities that are measured and reported on a fair value
basis. This enables the reader to assess the Inputs used to develop those measurements
by establishing a hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the information used
to determine far values. The statement requires that each asset and liability carried at fair
value be classified into one of the following categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identicat assets or liabilities
Level 2: Observable market based Inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated
by market data

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data

Financial Instruments

Strategy and Risk — When applicable we may use derivative financial instruments in lim-
ited instances for other than trading purposes to assist in managing our averall exposure
t0 fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency. By policy we do not use desivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes. Derivative financial instruments qualifying
for hedge accounting must maintain a specified level of effectiveness between the hedging
Instrument and the Item being hedged, both at inception and through out the edged pe-
riod. We formally document the nature and relationships between the hedging instruments
and hedged items at inception, as welt as our risk-management objectives, strategies for
undertaking the various hedge transactions and method of assessing hedge effectiveness.
Changes in the fair market value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for

‘hedge accounting are charged to earnings.

Market and Credit Risk —We address market risk related to derivative financial instruments

by selecting instruments with value fluctuations that correlate with the underlying hedged

item, We manage credit risk related to derivative financial instruments, which is minimal, by requiring high credit standards for counterparties and periodic settlements. At December 31, 2008

and 2007, we were not required to provide collateral, nor had we received collateral, related to our hedging activities.

Fair Value Hedges for Purchase Commitment — We maintain fair value hedges associated with firm contractual commitments for future vessel payments denominated in a foreign cuirency. These
forward contracts are designated as fair value hedges and are highly effective, as the terms of the forward contracts are the same as the purchase commitment under the new build contract. As
prescribed by FAS 157, we recognize the fair value of our derivative assets as a Level 2 valuation, We determined the fair value of our financial instrument position based upan the forward contract

price and the foreign currency exchange rate as of December 31, 2008. At December 31, 2008, the fair value of our derivatives was approximately $7.8 miflion.

Interest Rate Cash Flow Hedges —We have interest rate swap agreements for a portion of the Senior Facility indebtedness that has the effect of fixing interest rate at 4.725% on approximately $98.3
million of the Senior Facility. The interest rate swaps are accounted for as cash flow hedges. As prescribed by SFAS 157, we recognize the fair value of our derivative assets as a Level 2 valuation.

‘We determined the fair value of our derivative financlat Instrument position based upon a sevies of calculations that include present value l incipal unt

future LIBOR rates. We report changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive income and as of December 31. 2008, $6.1 million has been recorded.

{32) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We entered into a purchase and sale agreement with one of our officers to purchase his former residence in connection with his relocation to our corporate office in Houston, Texas. We entered

inta a sale contract for the residence and clased the transaction during 2006.

(13) OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Business Segments

We operate our business based on geographical locations and maintain the following operating segments: the North Sea, Southeast Asia and the Americas. Qur chief operating decision-maker
regularly reviews financial information about cach of these operating segments in deciding how to allocate resources and evaluate pecformance. The business within each of these geographic
regions has similar econamic characteristics, services, distribution methods and regulatory concerns. All of the operating segments are considered reportable segments under SFAS No, 131, "Dis-
closures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”

Management evaluates segment performance primarily based on operating income. Cash and debt are managed centrally. Because the regions do not manage those Items, the gains and losses
on foreign currency remeasurements associated with these items are excluded from operating income. Management considers segment operating income to be a good indicator of each segment's
operating performance from its continuing operations, as it represents the results of the ownership interest in operations without regard to financing methods or capital structures. All significant
transactions between segments are conducted on an arms-length basis based on prevailing market prices and are accounted for as such, Operating income and other information regularly provided

to our chief operating decision-maker is summarized in the following table {all amounts in thousands).
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@b Goodwill is included in the North Sca and Americas segment,

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Revenue $ 226,124 5. 77,85 $:107,765 s = $0 411,740 (b Most vessels under construction are included in Other until delivered. Revenue, long-ived assets and capital expenditures presented in the table above
Oirect aperating expenscs 85,445 Aa072 - . 143026 are allocated to segments based on the location the vessel is employed, which in some instances differs from the segment that legally owns the vessel.
Drydock expense 8,237 2,832 - 11319
General and administrative expense - 6769 19,867 40,243 In 2008, we had $72.5 million in revenue and $593.0 million in fong-fived assets attributed to the United States. our country of domicile.
Depreciation and amortization . . 22,623 14,860 647 44,300
Gain on sale of assets (29,081) a2) - (34.811) (14) UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
Operating income {loss) § 126,486 $ $ 38,344 $_20,514) .
Summarized quarterly financial data for the two years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 ace as follows:
Total assets S 390,678 s 189472 $ 730,458 3 246,360 $°1,556,967
Long-lived assets(@)b) $ 341,553 $ 159.288 S 851,445 $ 141,208 $ 1.293.494 Quarter
Caphal expenditires . s 23,805 S. 45089 $. 39733 $ 1072 $° 108,626 cecond T
Véar Endid Dacorsbar 31,2067, : . (In thousands. except per share amounts:
Revenue s 241,664 s 41257 s 23108 s - $ 306,026 2008 R i . .
Diréct operating expenses 88,277 6,946 . 13083 - 108:386 Revenue S ‘83348 s .81.393 $:°124.616 $1121.883
Orydock expense 10,369 1832 w05 - 12,606 Operating income 34436 46.822 52,391 73,014
General and administrative expense 12,439 [RIES 1,488 12,266 32,311 et income 32264 : 16781 5419 ‘59,320
Depreciation and amortization 24914 2857 293 30,623 Ver share (basich 143 206 183 230
Gai on sale‘of assets 5.014) [ ALLS L= (12.169) g : P ' fa : e
Operating income (loss) $ 110679 s _35858 s_ 5136 s 134,269 Per share (dlured) 140 200 L 235
. = ‘
Total assets s 594,779 s 117.819 s 79510 5 14),904 s 934012 2007 SRS
Long-lived assets(aib) S, 512,230 $ 1046137 L0008 76,085 $ 795,338 $. 788,264 Revenues $ 65513 § 74341 s 74717 $ 91,455
Capital expenditures s 85,78t S 50.688 s 123 S 54,566 $ 191,158 Operating Income. B XV E) : 33881 33,807 39,168
‘ Net income 24,353 30.721 31,232 12,669

Year Ended December 31, 2006 L

g Per. shate (basic} 1,69 137 139 0.56
Revenue " 8 g $. 199,368 $ 27,385 s 24068 s - -3 250921 a .
Direct operating expenses 71,245 6,445 14,185 - 91,875 Per share (diluted) 1.06 132 135 055
Drydock expenise : : 61406 1775 828 - . 9,049
General and administrative expense 9,274 1613 1,176 12,440 24,503
Depreciation and amostization 21,7 2554 3879 306 28,470 ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagr with A on and ]
Gain on sale of assets 10.237) - — - 10,237) NONE
Operating Incorme (oss). ; ; $_100.909 $ 1499 $ 4,100 $.7(12,746) 107,261
Total assets +H $.. 476342 s 59,163 $ 84877 $ 130,447 $ 7750829
Long-lived assets(a)b) s a677 s 51,246 s 81851 s 41,008 s 601,872
Capital expenditires. s 4484 $: 22,008 k3 148 $..20636° $ 047,466
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ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures, We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that Information required to be disclosed in our reports under the

Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such i is and to

management. including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the participation of
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and pracedures as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective.

(b Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial ing. Our is for and adequate internal control over financial

reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15().

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our Internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2008, and in making this assessment, used the criteria set forth by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Controt-integrated Framework . Based on this assessment, management determined that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008. UHY LLP has issued an attestation report on management's assessment of internal control over financial reporting. a copy of which is
included in Part fl, item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

(¢) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2008, that materially

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controt over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B, Other Information
NONE
PART I

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance(l)
ITEM 11, Executive Compensation(1)

ITEM 12, y fp of Certain

ITEM 13. Certain and Related Tr
ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services(1)

Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters(1)
and Director independence(T)

(1) The information required by ITEMS 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Sccurities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the

close of our fiscal year and Is hereby incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV
ITEM 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(@) Exhibits. Financtal Statements and Financial Statement Schedules.
(1and {2) Financial Staternents and Financial Statement Schedules.
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are included in Part II, Item 8 “C Financial Stat ts and Data”, All schedules have been omitted because the

required information is not present or not present in an amount sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information requiired is included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or the notes thercto,

3} Exhibits.

Fxhibits

13

escription

ith or Incor cuments

3. Certificate of Incorporation, dated December 4, 1896 Filed herewith
s Certificite of o ¢ 0 dated Exhibit 42,50 o cement on Form $3, No.
March 6, 1967 fled on September, 12,2008 E
33 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, dated Exhibit 4.3 to our Registration Statemeat on Form S-3, Registration No. 333-153459
May 24, 2002 fled on September 12, 2008
1 s, it Decembie , 1955 Exhiblt 3.3 to;our Registration Statement on Form $-4, Registeation No, 333-24141 :
fled on March 28,1997 : T
3.5 Amendment No. 1 1o Bylaws Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K/A filed on September 17, 2007
¥ Sea Exbibr NG “ Srdid 3;3 fm_ phestsions of e Cerdbcaie Exhibit 3.1 iled: herewith, Extilbits 4,2 and 4.3 t0 our'lewls\i?twq Statement onForm s'-;, Regis-
4 of corporation and Exhibiss 3.4 and 3.5 for provislons of the By o ion No- 33 fled on 12;:2008, Exhibit 3.3 I our Regisiration Statamisnt on
: ; ; P € Form 4, Reglstiation No. 333:24 141 fled.on March 28;, 1997, and Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K/A
 tawis defining the rights of the folders of Common Stock : s T
; filed.on'September 17, 2007. e : £
42 Specimen Certificate for GulfMark Offshore, Iac. Common Stock, Exhibit 4.2 to our Registration Statement on Form $-1, Registration No, 333-31139 filed on July 11,
$0.01 par value 1997
tndenture, dated as of July 21, 2004, aimong GulfMark Offshore.:. .
e, a8 fssuer, and U'S, Bank National Association, as Trastee, in- Exhbit 4.4 10, our quarterly report:on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 39, 2004

\‘cluding & forf of the CompanyX 7.75% Senlor Notes due 2014

Reglstration Rights Agreement, dated July 2}, 2004, among Gulf-

a4 it 4. - 3
Mark Ofshore, Inc, and the intial purchasers Exhibit 4.5 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004
Reglsttion Rights Agreerent datéd fuly-1; 2008, among Gulf: A L T
45 2 : Exhibit 4,510 olir current on Form g
. Mark Offshiore, tie. and cartaln of the Rigdon Sharénolders Ahiblk 45 to,dbr cument céport of Form X Mled oa by 7: 2008
o GulfMark International, Inc. Amended and Restated 1993 Non- Exhibit 10.7 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-31139 filed on July
. Employee Director Stock Option Plan* 11,1997
10 No. 1 to the Inc, Amended Exhibit 10,8 16 our Registration Statement on Forin §1, Registration No. 333-31139 filed on july

‘and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan’

11,1997 L
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Exhibits

104 :

10.5

10.6

10.10
0.1
1012
1083 7
1014
10,15
10.16:
10.17
10,18

1049

10,20

Description
GulfMark Offshore, Inc. Instrument of Assumption and Adjust-
ment (Amended and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock
Option Plan)*

Foren of Stock Option Agreément (Amended and Restated 1993

*Not-Employee Director-Stack Option Plan*.

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Stock Option Agreement (Amended
and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan)*
GitfMark Offshore, Inc. 1997 Incentive Equity Plan*

Amendment No. 1 to the GulfMark Offshore, Inc, 1997 Incentive
Equity Plan®

Améndment.NG, 2 o the GulfMark Offshore; Inc.

1997 Incenthve Equity Plan*.

Amendment No. 3 to the GulfMark Offshore, Inc,

1997 Incentive Equity Plan*

Form of Incentive Stack Option Agreamant

{1997 Incentive Equity Plan)*

GulfMark Offshore, Inc. 2005 Non-Employee Director

Share Incentive Plan*

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreemem {2005 Non-Employee
Director Share ncenttve Plan)*.

Amendment No. 1 to the GulfMark Offshore, Inc. 2005 Non-Em-
plovee Director Share Incentive Plan*

GuifMark Offshore, inc. Employee Stock Purchase Man*

Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan GM Offshore, Inc,
Plan Document*

Form.of the Execitive Nonqualified Excess Plan GM Offshore, . -

Initiaf Salary: Defetred Agreement®

Employment Agreement effective December 31, 2006, made by
and between GM Offshore, Inc. and Bruce A, Streeter*
!malwmm Agmmm ‘effective December 31, 2006, made by.
and betwien GM Offshors, Inc. #nd Ectward A Guttire, Jr.»
Employment Agreement effective December 31, 2006, made by
and between GM Offshore, Inc. and John E. Leech*

$85 Million Sectired Réducing Reévolving Loan and Letter of Credit

Facifity, Agreement between GilfMark Offshore, inc. and DB NOR
Bank ASA and others dated June 1, 2006
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fled on March 11

filed Herewnth or in rated by Reference from the Fullowing Documents

Exhibit 10.9 to our Registration Statement on Form $-1. Registration No. 333-31139 filed on July
t1, 1997

Exhibit 10,12 to our st Form's-1,
11,1997

Exhibit 10,11 (0 our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registeation No. 333-31139 filed on July
11,1997

Exhibit 10,1610 our.anhiral report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998

Exhibit 4.4.2 to our Reglstration Statement on Form $-8, Registration No, 333-57294 filed on
March 20, 2001

No. 333:31139 fited on July

Exhibit 4.8.3 1o our No. 1'to Staternent on Form 58,
Reglstraition No, 333-57294 filed oh May 25, 2007.
Exhibit 4.8.4 to our ffe No. ¥ to our Statement on Form $-8,

Registration No. 333-57294 filed on May 25, 2007

Exhibit-10:17 to our annual report ot Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,1998
Exhibit A to our Proxy Statement on Form DEF 144, filed on April 11, 2005

Exhibit 10,1 to our currént feportoh Form 8K fled on May 18,2006

Exhibit 4.8.2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration No. 333-143258 filed on May
25,2007

on Form 5-8; No:333:84110

2002

Exhibit 10,23 to our annual report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2001

“Exhibit 10.24 10 bur annual report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31,2000

Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed on January 30, 2007
Exhibit 10.2 to our current repoit on Form 8-K filed on Janusary 30, 2007

Exhibit 10.3 to our current report on Form 8-K filed on fanuary 30, 2007

“Exhibit 10.28 to ovr curvent teport on Form 8K filed on Junié 9, 2006

Exhibits

10,21

1022

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.2%

:10.30

1031

1032

Description

$50 Million Secured Reducing Revelving Loan Facility Agreement
between Guif Offshore N.S. Limited and Dn8 NOR Bank ASA and
others dated June 1, 2006
$30 Million Secured Réducing Revalving Loan Facility Agréément.
ibetween GutMark l:deﬂ As .und Dn! NOR IunKASA and others.
dated Juhe 1, 200€
Charter Party dated Julv 31. 2002 between Enterprise Ol do Brasil
Limitada and Gulf Marine [Scrvicos Maritimos} do Brasil Limitada
General Form Contract between Keppel Sirigmarine Pte; Uid: and
GultMark Offshore, Inc.
Membership Interest and Stock Purchase Agreement among Gulf-
Mark Offshore, Inc,, Rigdon Marine Corporation, Rigdon Marine
Holdings, L.L.C., all the members of Rigdon Marine Holdings,
L.L.C., Sherwood Investment, L.L.C., John J. Tennant W Irrevocable
Trusy, Brian M, Bowman Irrevocable Trust, and 8ourbon Offshore,
dated May 28, 2008

" botwee CuliMaik OfF:
“shore, inc, and GulMark Managemehi, Inc, dated Jine’30; 2008
Non-Competition and Non-Solicltation Agreement batween Gulf-
Mark Offshore, tc. and Larry T. Rigdon, dated July ¢. 2008
Oberating Agraement and:By-taws of Jackson Offshore; LLC, by

and betwaen Rigdon Matine Corporation; Lee fackson, and Bour

bain Offshore Holdings SAS, dated Algust 16,2006

Delphin Marine Logistics Limited Joint Venture Agreement, by and
between Rigdon Marine Corporation, Mariners Haven Limited and
Delphin Marine Logistics Limited, dated February 29, 2008
Strlor Secured Credk Facllity Agreerhent among Rigdon Marine:.,
corpornkm and DVB Bank NV, as’ Underwriter, Arrander, Agent;
Securly Tristde, Sivap Bank anid Book Mariager. and the lendars

| that are pmles v.hemd,,dated December 28,2005, <

Amendment No. 1 1o Senior Secured Crecit Facility Agreement
among Rigdon Marine Corporation, DVB Bank NV, as Underwriter,
Asranger, Agent, Security Trustee, Swap Bank and Book Manager,
and the lenders that are parties thereto, dated February 28. 2006
Amendment No, 216 Serlor Securbd Credit Faciity Agreetment

DVBBank NV, a8’
Arranger, Agent. Security Trustes; Swap Bank and Book Manager,”

- DVB Bank AG; as Swap Bank, and the lend:rs that are parties

thereto, dated Wiy 9, 2007

Filed Herewith or Incorporated by Reference from the Tollowing Documents

Exhiblt 10.29 to our current report on Form 8K filed on June 9, 2006

Exhiblt 10.30 to'our. curtent report on Form 8-K filed on june 9, 2006

Exbibit 10.30 to our annual report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2004

Exhibit 10.27 to our annual report on Form 10K for the yearended December 31,2005

Exhibit 10,6 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008
Exhibit 10,7 fo'our quamriv réport on Form:10-Q for the quarter amlad]uu 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.8 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

EXNIBIE 10,9 to biir quaiterdy report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endéd June 30, 2008 *

Exhibit 10,10 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

“EXhIbIE 10:11 0 ouir quarterly réport o Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jurie 30, 2008

£xhiblt 10,12 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended june 30, 2008

Exhibit 16,13 t6 our quarterty.repért on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008
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Exhibits Description
Amendment No, 3 to Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement
among Rigdon Marlne Corporation, DV8 Bank NV, as Underwriter,

1033 Arranger, Book Manager, Facility Agent and Security Trustee, DVB
Bank AG, as Swap Bank. and the fenders that are parties thereto,
dated July 1, 2008

ST Guaranty given by CulfMark Offshore; Inc: i favor of DVE Bank

1034 "NV plirsuant to Sentor Secured Credit Facility Agreement, dated

y July.1,.2008. -

First Preferred Fleet Mortgage by Rigdon Marine Corporation in

favor of DVB Bank NV dated as of December 28, 2005

Amendment No. 1 to Ficst Preferred Fleet Mortgage dated July. 1,

2008 L

Subordination Agreement between DVB Bank NV, as Agent for Se-
10.37 nior Lenders, DVB Bank NV, as Agent for the junior Lenders, and
Rigdon Marine Corporation, as Borrower, dated fuly 1, 2008

ent and of Loan

Agreement Providing for a US $85,000,000 Subordinated Secured

Credit Facility between Botirbor Capital US.A:, Inc.. as Assigror,

Rigdon Marine Corporation, as Borrower, DV Bank NV, as Facik:

Iy ‘Ageint and Secuirity Truitee, and the lénders that are paities

thereto: dated July 1, 2008 .

Guaranty given by GulfMark Offshore, Inc. in favor of DVB Bank

1039 NV, pursuant to Assignment, Assumption, Amendment and Re-

statement of Loan Agreement, dated july 1, 2008
Second Preferred Fleet Morigage by Rigdon Mari in
" favor of Bourbon Capital USAL, Iic, daved December 28, 2005,
as supplemented by Supplément Nos. 1, 2, 3:4, 5,6 and 7, dated
Augiist 20, 2007, October 22; 2007, Novembar. 30, 2007, Decem:
. baf 18,2007, February 26, 2008, Febniary.29, 2008 and June 27,

PRy . 2008; respectively .

Asslgnment of Second Preferred Fleet Mortgage between Bourbon
10.41 Capital US.A., Inc., as Assignor, and DVB Bank NV, as Assignee,

dated July 1, 2008

Amendment to Second Preferred Fieet Mortgage by Rigdon Mariné
10:42 Corporation In favor'of DVB Bank NV, as Security Trustee, dated
July 1, 2008 o
Us $25,000,000 Secured Reducing Revolving Loan and Letter of
Credit Facility Agreement between GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and
DnB NOR Bank ASA, dated June 1, 2006, as Amended and Restat-
ed by a First Supplemental Agreement dated June S, 2008

1035

10.36

10,38

10,43
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filed Herewith or Incorporated by Reference from the Following Documents

Exhibit 10.14 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30. 2008

ExRibl 10.15 to olir quarterly report on form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10,16 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhiblt 10.17 10 our quartedy report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June:30,:2008

Exhibit 10.18 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhlbit 10,19 o Gur quartérly, ieport on Form 10-Q for thie garter ended Jure 30, 2008

Exhibit 10,20 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008
Exiglbn 10.21 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter.ended June 30,:2008,

Exhibit 10.22 to our quarterly repost on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended june 30, 2008

Exhibit-10.23 to our quarterly report on Form; 10-Q for thi ‘q’nmel ended june 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.24 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibits

10,44

10.45

121
210
231
310
12
321
322

Dest ription

st ‘Agreemient toLoan Agi ted Jiine T,

2006 between GuitMark Offshore, tnc. and DB NOR Bank ASA,
datéd jurie §, 2008 i

US $60,000,000 Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facility Agree-
ment between GulfMark Far East PTE, 7D, and Dné NOR Bank
ASA, dated June 5. 2008

" Computation of Ratio of. Earnings to Fixed Chaiges

Subsidiaries of GuliMark Offshore, Inc.

Consent of UHY LLP

Section 302 Certification for B.A. Streetes

Section 302 Certification for E.A. Guithrie

Section 906 Certification furnished for B.A. Streeter
séction 906 Certification furnished for Eia. Guthrie

Filed Herewth or Incorporated by Reference from the Folls

Exhibit 10.sz to our quarterly report'on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

£xhibit 10.26 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended june 30, 2008

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Flled herewith’
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filéd herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regtstrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, hereunto

duly authorized.

Date: February 27, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report had been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the

dates indicated:

/s/ Bruce A, Streeter

Bruce A, Streeter

/5/ Edward A, Guthrie
Edward A, Guthrie

/5¢ Samuel R, Rubio
Samuel R. Rubio

/s/ David ), Butters

David J, Butters

/5/ Peter ). Bijur
Peter . Bijur

/s/ Marshall A, Crowe
Marshall A, Crowe
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GulfMark Offshore, Inc.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Bruce A, Streeter

Bruce A. Streeter
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
{Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Executive Officer. President and Director (Principal Executive Officer) February 27, 2009

Executive Vice President, Finance (Principal Financial Officer) February 27, 2009

Vice President, Controller and Chief

Director

Director

Director

Officer (Pri

d February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

/s/ Louis S. Gimbel, 3rd
Louis S, Gimbel, 3rd

/s/ Sheldon S. Gordon
Sheldon . Gordon

/s/ Robert B, Miflard
Robert B. Millard

/s/ Robert T, O'Cannell
Robert T. O'Connelt

/¢/ Larry T. Rigdon
iarry T. Rigdon

/s/ Rex C. Ross
Rex C. Ross

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009

February 27, 2009
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£ xhibits

43

4.4

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Certificate of Incorporation, dated December 4, 1996

Certificate of. of Certtficate dated
March 6, 1997 %

Centificate of Amendmen! of c:mn:m of Incorporation, dated May
24, 2002

Bylaws, dated December 5. 1996
Amendment No. 1 to Bylaws

See Exhibit Nos. 3.7,3.2 and 3:3 for provislons of the Certificate of
Incorporation and Exhiblts 3.4 and 3:5 fof provisions of the Bylaws:
defining the rights of the holders of Comimon Stock

Specimen Certificate for GulfMark Offshore, Inc. Common Stock,
$0.01 par value

Indenture, dated as of july 21, 2004, among GulMark Cffshore,
Inc;, s Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Assochation, as Trustee, in- -
cluding aTori of the Companys 7.75% Senlor Notes duie 2014 .
Registration Rights Agreement, dated july 21, 2004, among Gulf-
Mark Offshore, inc. and the initial purchasers

“Registratlon Rights Agreament, dated July: 1, 2008, among GulfMark
" Offshore, Inc. and certain of the Rigdon Shareholders

CulfMark International, inc, Amended and Restated 1993 Non-
Employee Director Stock Option Plan*

Amendment No. 1 to the GultMark International, lnc. Amenided and
' Restated 1993 Non-Employee Ditector Stock Option Plan*:.

" GulfMark Offshore, fnc. Instrument of Assumption and Adjustment
(Amanded and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option
Plan)*

 Farm of $tock Option Agreement (Amended and Restated 1993

Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan)*

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Stock Option Agreement {Amended
and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan)*
GulfMark Offshore, Inc: 1997 Incentive Equity Plan*

Amendment No. 1 1o the GulfMark Offshore, Inc. 1997 Incentive
Equity Plan*
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Filed herewith

Exhibit 4.2 10 out Registration Statement on Form -3, Registration No. 333+153459 filed on Sep-
tember 12, 2008

Exhibit 4.3 to our Registration Statement on Form $-3, Registration No. 333+1 53459 filed on Sep-
tember 12, 2008

Extilbit 3.3 to our Reglitration Statement on Form S-4; Registration N6, 333:24141 fled on March
28,1997

Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K/A filed on September 17, 2007

Exhiblt 3.1 fled Mttwhﬁ Exhiblts 4.2 and 4.3't0 our Registration Statement on Form $-3. Regls-
tration No. 333153459 filed on September 12; 2008, Exhilbit 3.3 16 our Reglitration Statément
on Form S-4, Reglstvation No.. 333»14l4l filed on Mi'th 28,1997, and-Exhibit 3.1 to our Form
8-K/A filed ©oh September: 17, 2007 - -

Exhibit 4.2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1. Registration No. 333-31139 filed on July
11,1997

Exibit 4.4 to our quarterty report on Form 10-Q for the uarter ended September 30,2004

Exhibit 4.5 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004

- -Exhlbn 4.5 to our cwmn um on Form 8K ﬂled on July 7,2008

Exhibit 10.7 to our Registration Statement on Fovm S-1, Registration No. 333-31139 filed on July
11,1997
Exhiblt 10,8 to our ¢ Form $:1; No. 33331139 fled on July
11,1997

Exhibit 10.9 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-31139 filed on July
11, 1997

. Exhibit 10,12 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reglstration No, 333:31139 ﬂhd onjuly

11,1997

Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 333-31139 filed on july
11,1997

Exhibi 10,16 t6.ousr annual report on Form: | 0:K-for the ear efided December 31, 1998

Exhibit 4.4.2 1o our Registration Statement on Form $-8, Reglstration No, 333-57294 fifed on
March 20, 2001

10,10

101

10:12

10.43 7

10,14

10.15

10.16

107

10,18

.19

10.20

10.21

1022

10.23

10.24

No: 2 1o the GutM:

Inci 1997 Incentive
Equity Plan® o
Amendment No. 3 to the GultMark Offshore. Inc, 1997 Incentlve
Equity Plan'

Form. of Innnlm St ke Owén

mmnm (1997 'n<ént|v: Equity.

; Plan)t 17 i .

GulMark Offshore, nc. 2005 Non Emaloyee Director Shar ncen-
tive Plan*

Forin of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (2005 Nor-Employee .
Diractor, Share Incentive Pany*.

Amendment No. 1 to the GulfMark Offshore, Inc, 2005 Non-Employ-
ee Director Share Incentive Plan“

GulfMiirk Offshore; Iic. Employes Stock Purchase Phn'

Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan GM Offshare, Inc, Plan Docu-
ment*

*I Form of the Exectitive Nonqualified Excess Plait. GM Offshore, Inc.

Initial Satary Deferrad Agreement®..
Employment Agreement effective December 31, 2006, made by and
between GM Offshore, Inc. and Bruce A. Streeter*

 Agresinent effe bér 31 2006, made by and

 $30 Ml n..u.m.. ol
" between: GulMark\Meﬂ AS IM Dng “OR llnk ASA :m! others .

bétweén GM Offshore; Tnc..and Edward A, Cithirie, J6* -
Employment Agreement effective December 37, 2006, made by and
between GM Offshore, Inc. and John E. Leech*

$85,Million Secured Rediicing Revolving Losn and Letter of Credit
Facility Agreement between GulfMark Offshore, tnc. and Dn NOR.
Bank ASA arid others dated Jube 1, 2008

$60 Million Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facility Agreement
between Gulf Offshore N.S. Limited and Dn8 NOR Bank ASA and
others dated June 1, 2006

dated June 1, 2006 ;

Charter Party dated July 31, 2002 between En(erprlse Oll do Brasit
Limitada and Guif Marine [Servicos Maritimos] do Brasil Limitada
Gerigral Forr:Contract between, Keppnl Singmiarine Pre. . Lt and
GulfMark Offshore, tic.

or Incorpora Reference from

£xhibit:4.6,3 to.our et N
Reglstration:No. 333-57294 filed on May 25, 2007
Exhibit 4.8.4 10 our Post-Effective Amendment No. T to our Registration Statement on Form $-8,

Registration No. 333-57294 filed on May 25, 2007

%0 our Statement on Form -8,

Exhibi 1017 vo our anmuial report on Form 10K for the yéar ended December 31,1998
Exhibit A to our Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A, filed on Aprit 11, 2005

Exhibit:10.1 to out current report on Form 8-X filed on May 18, 2006

Exhibit 4.8.2 10 our Registration Statement on Form $-8, Registration No. 333-143258 filed on
May 25, 2007

Exhiblt 4:4.3 t0 our Reglstration Statement on Form 5-8, Registration No. 333-84110 filed on
March 11,2002

Exhibit 10.23 1o our annual report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2007
Exhibit 10.24 o our anidl feportonForm ToKiorthe vear anided December 31,2001
Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filed on January 30, 2007

Exhibli 10,2 16 our current repart onFor 8K fled on January. 30,-2;)01_

Exhibit 10.3 to our cureent report on Form 8K filed on January 30, 2007

Exhibit 10,28 1o our current report.on Form 8K filed onJune 9,'2006

Exhibit 10.29 to our current report on Form 8-K filed on June 9, 2006

. Exhibit:10.30 16, aur eurrent repb’n,ov\ Form 8- filed on June 9,.2006

Exhibit 10.30 to our annual report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2004

ExhibIC 10,27.10 our anmual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005
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Exhidins

10.25

10.26
10,27

10.28

10.29

10,30

1034

10,32

10.23

1034

10.35

Descripuon

Membership Interest and Stock Purchase Agreement among Gulf-
Mark Offshore, Inc., Rigdon Marine Corporation, Rigdon Marine
Holdings, LL.C., alf the members of Rigdon Marine Holdings, L.L.C.,
Sherwood Investment, L.L.C.. John J. Tennant I lrrevocable Trust,
Brian M. Bowman Irrevocable Trust, and Bourbon Offshore, dated
May 28, 2008
As;lqnment ‘and Assumption Agreement between GulfMark Off-
shors; Iric, and GulfMark Management, inc.; dated June 30, 2008
Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement between Gulf-
Mark Offshore, Inc. and Larry T. Rigdon, dated July 1, 2008
Operating Agréement and ByJlaws of Jackson Offshore, LLC, by and
betweén Rigdon Marine Corporation; Lee Jackson, and Bolirbon Off:
shoré Holdings SAS; dated August'16,2006
Delphin Marine Logistics Limited Joint Venture Agreement, by and
berween Rigdon Marine Corporation, Mariners Haven Limited and
Oefphin Marine Logistics Limited, dated February 29, 2008
Senlor Secured Credit Facility’ Agreement among Rigdon Mann-
Corporation and DVE Bank NV. as Uriderwriter, Atranger; Agent; Se-

urity S k ok Managier, and the lénders that
are parties thereto; ﬂned Decamber 28, 2005:
Amendment No. 1 to Senior Secured Credit Facliity Agreement
among Rigdon Matine Corporation, DVE Bank NV, as Underwriter,
Arranger, Agent, Security Trustee, Swap Bank and Book Manager,
and the lenders that are parties thereto, dated February 28, 2006
Mwndmem No..2 to:Senlor Secured Credit Facility Agreement.
among Rigdon Marine Corporation, DVE Bank NV, as Underwrter,
Arraiiger, Agent, Seturhy Trustee, Swap Bank and Book Manager,
DV Bank AG, a5 Swap Bank, and the lenders that are parties there-
to, datéd May 9, 2007
Amendment No. 3 to Senior Secured Credit Facility Agmmzm
among Rigdon Marlne Corporation, DVB Bank NV, as Underwriter,
Arranger, Book Manager, Facility Agent and Security Trustee, DVB
Bank AG, as Swap Bank, and the lenders that are parties thereto,
dated July 1, 2008
Cuaranty.glven by GutfMark Offshore; Inc. in favor of DVB Bank NV
pirsuant 16 Sentor Secured Credit Facility Agreement, dated July.1,
2008, L . !
First Preferred Fleet Mortgage by Rigdon Marine Corporation in fa-
vor of DVB 8ank NV dated as of December 28, 2005
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Filed Herewtth or lacorporated by Reference from the Following Documents

Exhibit 10.6 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.7 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter énded June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.8 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended june 30, 2008

Exhibit-10.9.to.our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended Jure 30, 2008

Exhibit 10,10 to our quarterly teport on Form 10-Q fo the quarter ended June 30, 2008

EXhiBIt 10,11t our quarterty réort o Form 10-Q for the quarter snded June 30; 2008

Exhibit 10.12 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.13 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008:

Exhibit 10.14 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended june 30, 2008

" Exhibit 10.15 to our quarterty repott on Form 10 for the quarter ended June 30;:2008

Exhibit 10.16 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibits

10,36

1037

1038

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

1044

10,45

121
21
23,1
31
312
321
32.2

Description
‘Amiéndment No. )16 First Préferred Fleet Mortgage dated july. I

Subordination Agreement between DVB Bank NV, as Agent for Se-
nior Lenders, DVB Bank NV, as Agent for the Junior Lenders, and
Figdon Warine Corporation, 3 Boreowes, dated july 1, 2008

of Loan

A vt ProV ;or.usuunn o' Subordii

‘Credit! Fac«lllv buwun Bouirbor Capital U.S. A, Inc., a5 Assighor,
Rigdon Marine Corporation, as Barrower, DV Bank RV, as Facility
‘Agent;and Security Trustee, and the lenders that are parties, xhema
‘dated July1; 2008,

Guaranty given by GulfMark Offshore, Inc. in favor of DVE Bank NV,
pursuant to Assi and

of Loan Agreement, dated July 1, 2008

Secorid:Preferred Fieet Mortgage by Rigdon Marine Corporation in:
tavor of Bourbon Capital US.A., Inc: dated December 28,2005, "
as supplemented by Supplement Nos.'),°2, 3, 4; 5.6 and 7, dated
AUGUst 20, 2007, October 22, 2007, Novémber 30, 2007, Deceit:
ber 18,2007, February. 26, 2008, Februarv 29,2008 and June 27,
2008, respectively

Assignment of Second Preferred Fleet Mortgage between Bourbon
Capital US.A.. Inc., a5 Asslignor, and DVB Bank NV, as Assignee.
dated July 1. 2008

‘Amendinent to Second Preferréd Fleet Mortgage by Rigdon Marine
Corporation in favor of DVE Bank NV, as’ s«umv msm, datéd July:
1,:2008

US $25,000.000 Secured Reduting Revolving Loan and Letter of
Credit Facility Agreement between GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and Dng
NOR Bank ASA, dated June 1, 2006, as Amended and Restated by a
First Supplemental Agreement dated Juna 5. 2008

Agreemerit to|
2006 Between GulfMatk Ofshore, fc. anub b NOR Bk AsA
ed June:§,2008 0
US $60,000,000 Secured Reducing Rcvolvmg Loan Faciity Agree-
ment between GulfMark Far East PTE. LTO. and DnB NOR 8ank ASA.
dated june 5, 2008
Compitation.of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
Subsidiarics of GulfMark Offshore, In:
“Consent of UHY (0P
Section 302 Cemﬁcallan for B.A. Streeter
Section 302 Certification for EA. Guthrie.
Section 906 Certification furnished for B.A. Streeter
Section 906 Cenification furnlshed for EA. Guthrie

Mied Herewith or Incorporated by Reference frum the Following Documents

EXhibIL- 1017 0 diir quarterly.report on Form 10-Q for the quiarter ended jiine 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.18 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008
ExhbIE'10.19 to ot quartetly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended june 30; 2008

Exhibit 10.20 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.21 to our quarterly epart on Form 10-Q for the auarter ended fune 30, 2008

Exhibit 10,22 to our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.23 16 otir quarterly repoit on Form 10: for the auarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.24 to our quarterly report on Form 10.Q for the quarter ended june 30, 2008

“Exhibit10,25, to our quaiterly réport on Form 10:Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Exhibit 10.26 1o our quarterly report on Form 10.Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith o i Tl i -
Filed herewith

Fited herewich:

Filed herewith

Fited hérewith
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CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION Exhibit 3.1
OF
NEW GULFMARK INTERNATIONAL, INC.

1, the undersigned, for the purpose of incorporating and organizing a corporation under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, do hereby certify as follows:

FIRST, The name of the Corporation (the “Corporation’) is New GulfMark International, Inc.

SECOND. The registered office of the Corporation i the State of Delaware s located at 1209 Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19801. The narme of the
Corporation's registered agent at such addtess is The Corporation Trust Company.

THIRD. The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

FOURTH. The total number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 17,000,000, consisting of 2,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, without par value (hereinafter

called “Preferred Stock), and 15,000,000 shares of Common Stock, of the par value of $0.01 per share thereinafter called "Common Stock™),
The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors is hereby authorized to provide for the issuance of shares of Preferred Stock in series. and by
filing a certificate pursuant to the applicable law of the State of Defaware (hereinafter called a “Preferred Stock Designation”), to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in

«ach such series, and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series and th lificati limitations and thereof. The authority of the Board

of Directors with respect to each series shall include, but not be limited to, determination of the following:

{a) The designation of the serles, which may be by distinguishing number, letter and title.

{b) The number of shares of the series, which number the Board of Directors may thereafter {except where otherwise provided in the creation of the series) increase or decrease (but not befow
the aumber of shares thercof then outstanding).

i<} Whethey dividends, if any, shall be cumulative or noncumutative and the dividend rate of the series.

(@) The dates at which dividends, if any, shall be payable,

(e} The redemption rights and price or prices, if any, for shares of the series,

() The terms and amount of any sinking fund provided for the purchase or redemption of shares of the series.

(9) The amounts payable on shares of the series in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation.

{h) Whether the shares of the series shall be convertible into shares of any other class or series of shares, or any other security, of the Corporation or any other corporation, and, if so, the speci-
fication of such other class or series or such other security. the conversion price or prices o rate of rates, any adjustments thereof, the date or dates as of which such shares shall be convertible
and all other terms and conditions upon which such conversion may be made.

(1) Restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or of any other class or series.

) The voting rights, if any, of the holders of such series,

The Common Stock shalk be subject to the express terms of the Prefersed Stock and any series thereof. Each share of Common Stock shall be equal to each other share of Common Stock. The
holders of Common Stack shall be entitled to one vote for each such share upon all questions presented to the stockholders.

No holder of any shares of any class shall as such holder have any preemptive or preferential right to subscribe for or purchase any other shares or securlties of any class, whether now or here-
after authorized, which at any time may be offered for sale or sold by the Corporation.

Except as may be provided in this Certificate of incorporation or by the Board of Directors in a Preferred Stock Designation, the Common Stock shall have the exclusive right to vote for the elec-

tion of Directors and for all other purposes, and holders of Prefersed Stock shall not be entitled to receive notice of any meeting of stockholders at which they are not entitled to vote.
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The Corporation shall be entitled to treat the person in whose name any share of Its stock is registered as the owner thereof for all purposes and shail not be bound to recognize any equitable
or other claim to, or interest in, such share on the part of any other person, whether or not the Corporation shall have notice thereof, except as expressly provided by applicable faws.

FIFTH. In furtherance of, and not in limitation of, the powers confersed by statute, the Soard of Directors is expressly authorized and empowered:

(2) to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation: and

(b) from time to time to determine whether and to what extent, and at what times and places. and under what conditions and regulations. the accounts and books of the Corporation, or any of
them, shafl be open to Inspection of stockholders; and no stockholder shall have any right to inspect any account, book or document of the Corporation except as conferred by applicable law and
subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock.

The Corporation may in its Bylaws canfer powers upon the Board of Directors in addition to the foregoing and in addition to the powers and authorities expressly conferred upon the 8oard of
Directors by applicable taw.

SIXTH. Subject to the rights of the holders of any class or series of stock having a preferance over the Common Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation to efect additional Directors under speci-
fied circumstances, the number of Directors of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Bylaws of the Corporatlon and may be increased or decreased from time to time in such a manner as may be
prescribed by the Bylaws, but in no case shall the number be less than 3 nor more than 15,

SEVENTH. The names and mailing addresses of the persons who are to serve as Directors of the Corporation until the first annual meeting of stockholders or untit their successors are elected

and quallified are as follows:

Nar

David ). Butters § Post Oak Park, Suite 1170 Houston, Texas 77027
Norman G. Cohen § PostOak Park, Suite 1170 Hotston, Texas 77027
Marshall A, Crowe 5 Post Oak Park, Suite 1170 Houslon,'Texas 77027
Louis 5. Gimbel, 3¢, " siposy Oak Park, Suite 1170 Houston, Texas 77027
Robert 8, Millard S Post Oak Park, Suite 1170 Houston, Texas 77027

EIGHTH. Each person who is or was o5 had agreed to become a Director or officer of the Corporation, or each such person who is or was serving or who had agreed to serve at the request of the
Board of Directors or an officer of the Corporation as an employee or agent of the Corporation o as a Director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership. joint venture, trust
or other enterprise (including the heirs, executors, administrators or estate of such person), shall be indemaified by the Corporation to the full extent permitted from time to time by the Ceneral
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or any other applicable laws as presently or hereafter in effect. Without Nmiting the generality or the effect of the foregoing, the Corporation may enter
into one or more agreements with any person which provide for indemnification greater or different than that provided in this Article EIGHTH. Any amendment or repeal of this Article EIGHTH shalt

not adversely affect any right or protection existing herounder immediataly prior to such amendrment of repeal.
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NINTH, Yo the full extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or any other applicable laws presently or hereafter in effect, nio Director of the Corporation shall be Exhibit 12,1
aersonally flable to the Corporation or its stockholders for or with respect to any acts or omissions in the performance of his or her duties as a Director of the Corporation. Any amendment or Ratio of Earnings in Fixed Charges
repeal of this Article NINTH shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a Director of the Corporation existing immediately prior to such amendment or repeal. (Dollars in thousands)

TENTH. The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, including a Preferred Stock Designation, in the manner now or herea-

ter prescribed by statute, and this Certificate of Incorporation, including any applicable Preferred Stock Designation, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are created subject to this Year fnded Decemnber 31

reservation, 2005 2006
ELEVENTH. The name and malling address of the incorporator is W. Garney Griggs, 1301 McKinney, Suite 3200, Houston, Texas 77010-3033. Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations . ) s 2678 89,729 $ 98975 195,527
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, |, the belng the named, do hereby execute this Certificate of Incorporation this 4th day of December, 1996, Pluss ngame Twias ; (6476 sa. L3R 30,220 11,743
Minority Interest - - - - -
/5/ W, Garney Griggs Fixed Charges : ; 19532 21022 18,002 - - 14124 24123
W Less: Capital Interest (1,628) (829 {2,400} . (6.200) ®.516)
Earnings Avaitable for Fixed Charges 14,106 62.065 “108.383 137,419 222,877
Fixed Charges: g : g .. : )
Interest Expense s 17.243 s 19,017 s 14475 s 721 s 1429
Capitalized interest ) 1628 823 2400 7 6200 £516
Amortization of Debt Discount and Issuance Cost an 1,083 203 708 m
Estimated Portion of Rertal Expense Equivalent to Interest 190 193, 224 300 - eos
Total Fixed Charges 19,532 20422 18,002 14.424 24123
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 0.720) 204 5.0 253 924
Deficiericy : s 5426 s - ] - s s -

(1) Earnings were insusffictent to cover fixed charges by $5,426,000 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.
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ubsidiary ot

Culf Offshore N.S, Limited

GulfMark North SexLimited ;.

S.E.A. Personnel Services Limited

Sea Trick (UK) Lt

Gulf Offshore Guernsey, Ltd,

Culf Marine Far East PTE, Ltd.

Gulf Offshore Marine laternational, $. de R.L.
Gult Marine (Servicos Maritimos) do 8rasil Umitada
Semaring Logistics (M) Sdn. Bhd.

CGiilf Marine Malaysiainc.

Chalvoyage (M) Sdn. Bhd.

GuilfMark Sarvicios de Mexico, S de RiL.de C.V.
GulfMark de Mexico, S, de R.L. de C.V,

Gulf Chatinel Offshare Servicos LDA-

ECONOR Shipping AS

ECONOR Shipping Ks

GulfMark Norge AS

Culf Offshore Norge AS

GulfMark Rederi AS

Gulf Offshare Marine international B.V,
GulfMark Oceans, LR,

GM Offshore, inc;

GulfMark Capital, LLC

GulfMark Managemerit inc, £ .
GulfMark Operating, Inc.

GulfMark Resourcds, LIC

GulfMark Shipping, LLC

GulfMark Americas; fac,
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
SUBSIDIARIES OF GULFMARK OFFSHORE, INC.

State or

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kirigdom
United Kingdom
* “Singapore
Panama
grazit
Malaysia
Malaysia
Malaysia
Mexico
Mexico
Angola
Norway
Norway.
Norway
Norway
Norway
Nethierlands
Cayman Islands
" Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Detaware
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 21.1

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form $+3 Nos, 333-153459, 333-133563, 333-101893 and 333-44696) of GulfMark Offshore, tnc. and in the
related Prospectus of our report dated February 27, 2009, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form
10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2008,

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Fosm S+8) pertaining to the Amended and Restated 1993 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, and Non-
Employee Director Stock Option Plan (No, 333-33719), the GulfMark Offshore, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (No. 333-84110), the GulfMark Offshore, Inc. 1997 lncentive Equity Plan {Nos.
333-57294 and 333-144183), and the GulfMark Offshore, Inc, 2005 Non-Employee Director Share Incentive Plan (No, 333-143258) of our report dated February 27, 2008, with respect to the

consolidated financial statements of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2008.

UHY LLP

/S/ UHY LLP
Houston, Texas
February 27, 2009
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302,
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Bruce A, Streeter, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2008 of GulfMark Offshore, Inc.:
2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3, Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial Information included In this report, fairly present in all material respects the financlal condition, cesults of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for. the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are ible for i and ining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and

internal control over financial reporting {as defined In Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating

10 the registrant, incliding Its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared:

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generafly accepted accounting principles;

< Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures. as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation: and
@) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscat

quarter in the case of an annwal report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal controf over financial reporting: and
5, The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evauation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

) All significant deficiencies and materlal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably fikely

1o adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, suramarize and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: February 27, 2009
By: /s/ Bruce A. Streeter
Bruce A. Streeter

President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302,
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

|, Edward A. Guthrie, certify that;

t. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 of GuifMark Offshore, Inc.;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the stataments made. in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3, Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repor, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant s of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other centifying officer and | are for and ing disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15{e}) and

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15() and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) Oesigned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information refating
to the registrant. including its consolidated substdiaties, is made known to us by others within those entities. particularly during the period ir which this report is being prepared;

b} Designed such internat control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

<} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the perlod covered by this repore based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ intemal cantro! over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registeant’s fourth fiscat

quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting: and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial regorting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee

of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
by Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: February 27, 2009
By: /s/ Edward A. Guthrie
€dward A. Guthrie

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

95 // GuifMark 2008 Annuai Report



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U,5.C, SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GulfMark Offshore. Inc. (the “Company™) on form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
the date hereof (the "Report”), 1, Bruce A, Streeter, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contalned in the Report falrly presents. In ali material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: february 27, 2009

By: /s/ Bruce A. Streeter

Bruce A, Streeter
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 W.S.C, SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GulfMark Offshore, Inc. (the “Company’) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
the date hereof (the ‘Report”), |, Edward A. Guthrle, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

{2) The information contained in the Repost fairly presents, in all matertal respects. the financial condition and results of operations of the Company,

Date: February 27, 2009

By: /s/ Edward A, Guthrie
Edward A. Guthrie
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OFficer
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